

Durham E-Theses

Determining modes and nodes of the rotating Navier-Stokes equations

MIYAJIMA, NAOKO

How to cite:

MIYAJIMA, NAOKO (2019) Determining modes and nodes of the rotating Navier-Stokes equations, Durham theses, Durham University. Available at Durham E-Theses Online: http://etheses.dur.ac.uk/12947/

Use policy

The full-text may be used and/or reproduced, and given to third parties in any format or medium, without prior permission or charge, for personal research or study, educational, or not-for-profit purposes provided that:

- a full bibliographic reference is made to the original source
- a link is made to the metadata record in Durham E-Theses
- the full-text is not changed in any way

The full-text must not be sold in any format or medium without the formal permission of the copyright holders.

Please consult the full Durham E-Theses policy for further details.

Academic Support Office, Durham University, University Office, Old Elvet, Durham DH1 3HP e-mail: e-theses.admin@dur.ac.uk Tel: +44 0191 334 6107 http://etheses.dur.ac.uk

Determining modes and nodes of the rotating Navier–Stokes equations

Naoko Miyajima

A Thesis presented for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy



Applied & Computational Mathematics: Analysis & Partial Differential Equations Group Department of Mathematical Sciences Durham University United Kingdom

January 2019

Determining modes and nodes of the rotating Navier–Stokes equations

Naoko Miyajima

Submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy January 2019

Abstract: We analyse the long-term dynamics of the two-dimensional Navier– Stokes equations on a rotating sphere and the periodic β -plane, which can be considered as a planar approximation to the former. It was shown over fifty years ago that the Navier–Stokes equations can be described by a finite number of degrees of freedom, which can be quantified by, for example, the so-called determining modes and determining nodes. After considerable effort, it was shown that, independently of rotation, the number of determining modes and nodes both scale as the Grashof number \mathcal{G} , a non-dimensional parameter proportional to the forcing.

Using and extending recent results on the behaviour of the rotating Navier–Stokes equations, we prove under reasonable hypotheses that the number of determining modes is bounded by $c \mathcal{G}^{1/2} + \varepsilon^{1/2} M$, where $1/\varepsilon$ is the rotation rate and M depends on up to third derivatives of the forcing. Our bound on the number of determining nodes is slightly weaker, at $c \mathcal{G}^{2/3} + \varepsilon^{1/2} M$.

Declaration

The work in this thesis is based on research carried out in the Department of Mathematical Sciences at Durham University. No part of this thesis has been submitted elsewhere for any degree or qualification. Chapters 3 and 5 are based on joint research with Dr. Djoko Wirosoetisno [1]. All other work is mine, unless explicitly stated otherwise within the text.

Copyright © 2019 Naoko Miyajima.

"The copyright of this thesis rests with the author. No quotation from it should be published without the author's prior written consent and information derived from it should be acknowledged."

Acknowledgements

I would firstly like to thank my supervisor Dr. Djoko Wirosoetisno for his endless and virtually unlimited guidance, support, patience and words of wisdom.

My thanks also go to my parents and grandmothers, for their firm and unrelenting belief and support that I would be able to accomplish this.

I cannot thank my partner Nimo enough, for his constant words of support and encouragement and making me pick up better exercise habits (literal weights).

My gratitude also goes to Minako and Steve Cumming, for always being there to make me laugh, feed me lovely meals and sending adorable pictures of baby Sakura.

Being able to talk to my friends and office mates Helena and Iman about everything *except* mathematics has been an absolutely necessary and welcome change to my PhD life over the last few months. I will miss you both tremendously.

Unbeknownst to her, my late Netherland Dwarf Sherry held a great part in motivating me to work harder. I would like to thank her for her 10.5 years of unintentional support and encouragement she had provided me with since my childhood.

Finally I would like to thank the Durham University Department of Mathematics for all forms of support, including but not limited to travel funding and training needs.

How can we go from finity to infinity? Unless finity can become infinity we can never understand either. An individual never understands anyone else.

— from *The field of Zen* by D. T. Suzuki

Contents

Ti	Title page				
Abstract					
1	Intr	oduction	1		
2	Bac	kground	7		
	2.1	Notation	7		
	2.2	Preliminary inequalities	10		
3	Det	ermining modes on the periodic β -plane	15		
	3.1	Statement of the problem	15		
		3.1.1 Vorticity form	16		
		3.1.2 Theory of determining modes	19		
	3.2	Zonal and non-zonal components of the vorticity $\ldots \ldots \ldots$	21		
	3.3	Consequences of different forms of forcing	23		
	3.4	Bounds on the number of determining modes	29		
4	Determining modes on the sphere				
	4.1	Definitions and inequalities on the sphere \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	37		
	4.2	Statement of the problem	41		

	4.3	Consequences of different forms of forcing	44		
	4.4	Bounds on the number of determining modes	50		
5	Det	ermining nodes on the periodic β -plane	57		
	5.1	Theory of determining nodes \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	58		
	5.2	Bounds on the number of determining nodes	65		
6	Det	ermining nodes on the sphere	73		
	6.1	Triangulation of the sphere \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	74		
	6.2	Collocation lemma	75		
		6.2.1 Bounds with one variable fixed \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	76		
		6.2.2 Bounds over a triangle	80		
		6.2.3 Bounds over S^2	83		
	6.3	Bounds on the number of determining nodes \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots	85		
	6.4	Proof of Lemma 21	91		
Bi	Bibliography				

Chapter 1

Introduction

The incompressible Navier–Stokes equations describe the flow of a fluid and are used in applications such as weather prediction, modelling air flow around aircrafts and studying ocean currents. The equations are given by

$$\partial_t \boldsymbol{v} + \boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{v} + \nabla p = \mu \Delta \boldsymbol{v} + f_{\boldsymbol{v}},$$

$$(1.0.1)$$
 $\nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{v} = 0,$

where $\boldsymbol{v} = \boldsymbol{v}(\boldsymbol{x}, t)$ is the fluid velocity at a point $\boldsymbol{x} = (x_1, \ldots, x_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n$, n = 2 or 3 and time $t \in \mathbb{R}$, p is the pressure, μ is the kinematic viscosity and $f_{\boldsymbol{v}}$ is the forcing. The existence and uniqueness of solutions to the three-dimensional case in general are still unknown; in contrast, these are well-known for the two-dimensional case ([2]–[4]). In this thesis we consider the case of n = 2 on a doubly periodic plane and the unit sphere.

It is often useful to consider (1.0.1) on a rotating frame, as this is a naturally arising situation in which we consider a fluid, for example with the effect of the earth's rotation on ocean currents and the atmosphere. By describing the earth's rotation by a constant vector Ω , the Coriolis parameter is given by $f = 2\Omega \sin \theta$, where θ is the latitude (defined to be 0 at the north pole). We frequently model a fluid flow on the surface of the earth by using a unit rotating sphere, on which the Rossby parameter becomes $\beta := \partial_y f = 2\Omega \cos \theta$. The rotating Navier–Stokes equations on the unit sphere thus read as

$$\partial_t \boldsymbol{v} + \boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{v} + \frac{2}{\varepsilon} \cos \theta \, \boldsymbol{v}^{\perp} + \nabla p = \mu \Delta \boldsymbol{v} + f_{\boldsymbol{v}},$$
$$\nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{v} = 0. \tag{1.0.2}$$

A simpler method of modelling a fluid on the earth's surface is the β -plane approximation, which is useful for phenomena that occur on a scale much smaller than the domain itself [5]. On such scales, one can reasonably approximate the behaviour of the fluid by instead considering it as being on a tangent plane, so that it becomes convenient to use a Cartesian coordinate system $(x_1, x_2) = (x, y)$ instead. Using the β -plane approximation involves allowing the Coriolis parameter to vary linearly, so that we describe it near latitude θ_0 as

$$f = f_0 + \beta y_s$$

where f_0 is the Coriolis parameter at θ_0 , $\beta = \partial_y f$ is the gradient of f in latitude and y is the meridional distance from θ_0 . Due to incompressibility, a constant rate of rotation does not affect the dynamics, i.e. without loss of generality we can consider the fluid at the equator. This gives $f_0 = 0$, with which we obtain the β -plane approximation of (1.0.1):

$$\partial_t \boldsymbol{v} + \boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{v} + \beta y \boldsymbol{v}^{\perp} + \nabla p = \mu \Delta \boldsymbol{v} + f_{\boldsymbol{v}}, \qquad (1.0.3)$$

where $\boldsymbol{v}^{\perp} = (-v_2, v_1)$, with v_1 and v_2 denoting the x and y components of \boldsymbol{v} respectively.

Physical intuition suggests that the flow of a fluid on a rotating plane or sphere would become more zonal with increasing rotation rate; there are numerical works [6] and analytical proofs that agree with this ([7], [8]). Notably, both on the β -plane and the sphere, a rotation rate scaling as βy will eventually make the non-zonal part $\tilde{\boldsymbol{v}}$ of the flow bounded by

$$|\nabla \times \tilde{\boldsymbol{v}}|_{L^2}^2 \quad \lesssim \quad O(\varepsilon). \tag{1.0.4}$$

In this thesis, we combine this result regarding the smallness of the non-zonal flow undergoing fast rotation, with determining modes and nodes.

It has been known for over half a century [9] that the two-dimensional Navier–Stokes equations can be described by a finite number of degrees of freedom. For periodic boundary conditions, an upper estimate on the Hausdorff dimension of the global attractor \mathcal{A} was made by Constantin et al [10], giving

$$\dim_{H}(\mathcal{A}) \le c \, \mathcal{G}^{2/3} \, (1 + \log \mathcal{G})^{1/3}, \tag{1.0.5}$$

where $\mathcal{G} := |f_v|_{L^2}/(\mu^2 \kappa_0^2)$ is the Grashof number, a parameter used to describe how turbulent a flow is. A lower bound on the attractor dimension was given by Liu [11]:

$$c \mathcal{G}^{2/3} \le \dim_H(\mathcal{A}),$$
 (1.0.6)

thereby proving that the aforementioned upper estimate is in fact sharp, up to a logarithm. For the rotational case with periodic boundary conditions, Al-Jaboori and Wirosoetisno [7] showed that with sufficiently large β , $dim_H(\mathcal{A}) = 0$.

The theory of determining modes was introduced by Foias and Prodi [9], to describe the number of degrees of freedom of the two-dimensional Navier–Stokes equations. One considers two solutions of (1.0.1), with the same viscosity μ :

$$\partial_t \boldsymbol{v} + \boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{v} + \nabla p = \mu \Delta \boldsymbol{v} + f_{\boldsymbol{v}}, \qquad (1.0.7)$$
$$\partial_t \boldsymbol{v}^\# + \boldsymbol{v}^\# \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{v}^\# + \nabla p^\# = \mu \Delta \boldsymbol{v}^\# + f_{\boldsymbol{v}^\#},$$

where $|(f_{\boldsymbol{v}} - f_{\boldsymbol{v}^{\#}})(t)|_{L^2} \to 0$ as $t \to \infty$. The rough idea is that when we consider the projection of the difference $\delta \boldsymbol{v} := \boldsymbol{v} - \boldsymbol{v}^{\#}$ to lower and higher wavenumbers (modes), if the difference in the lower modes converges to 0 after time, then the whole of $\delta \boldsymbol{v}$ will also eventually converge to 0. This will be made rigorous in the relevant chapters. Over the years, progress has been made in bounding the number of determining modes, or the minimal threshold wavenumber required to guarantee this convergence. Jones and Titi [12] proved that on the periodic plane, the number of determining modes scales as $\kappa \sim c \mathcal{G}^{1/2}$, which agrees with what is expected based on physical arguments ([13], [14]).

The idea of determining nodes was first introduced by Foias and Temam [15]. Similarly to determining modes, one considers the difference between two solutions of the Navier–Stokes equations (1.0.7). The approach here is that with the solutions being identical at a large enough (but finite) number of points, the difference in the solutions will again converge to 0 after sufficient time. Foias and Temam gave bounds on the maximal distance between these nodal points, depending only on μ , the domain and the forcing; others such as Jones and Titi [12] instead proved bounds on the total number of nodes required, which scales as $N \sim c \mathcal{G}$. Robinson and Friz [16] showed that the number of nodes is bounded from below by the fractal dimension of the global attractor:

$$\dim_f(\mathcal{A}) < c N. \tag{1.0.8}$$

We are unaware of results in the opposite direction, i.e. lower bounds on the attractor dimension in terms of the number of nodes, which would be useful in practice when combined with our results, as listed below.

In this thesis, we prove that under a sufficiently fast differential rotation, the number of determining modes and nodes are reduced for both the torus and unit sphere, when compared with the general non-rotating case. The structure of the thesis is as follows. After listing a collection of definitions and general inequalities in Chapter 2, the main content starts in Chapter 3, where we derive bounds on the number of modes over the torus. We then prove similar bounds on the number of modes over the sphere in Chapter 4, after stating and/or showing the necessary spherical equivalents of results from the previous chapter.

We formally introduce the concept of determining nodes in Chapter 5, followed by an auxiliary lemma from Jones and Titi [12], recast in a more suitable form for generalisation to S^2 later in Chapter 6. Using these, we prove our improved bounds on the nodes. Finally, in Chapter 6, we derive our bounds on the nodes over the sphere. For this we require a spherical analogue of the aforementioned auxiliary lemma, which we obtain via an icosahedral triangulation of the sphere.

We note that even though we require different tools and auxiliary results to prove our theorems over the torus and the sphere, the results themselves are of the same order over each domain. This suggests that even though there are technical differences between the domains, the rotating 2D Navier–Stokes equations behave in a fundamentally similar way over them.

Chapter 2

Background

The purpose of this chapter is to collect definitions and well-known inequalities used throughout the thesis for reference. The majority of the results hold over both the torus and the sphere; some definitions and results on the sphere have been deferred to Chapter 4.

2.1 Notation

For this thesis, we work with either a torus $\mathbb{T}^2 := [0, L] \times [-L/2, L/2]$ or the unit sphere $S^2 := \{(\theta, \phi) : \theta \in [0, \pi], \phi \in [0, 2\pi)\}.$

Let Ω be either \mathbb{T}^2 or S^2 . For $1 \leq p \leq \infty$, we denote by $L^p(\Omega)$ the Lebesgue space, consisting of the space of Lebesgue measurable functions $u: \Omega \to \mathbb{R}^n$ such that

$$\int_{\Omega} |u(\boldsymbol{x})|^p \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} < \infty,$$

with respect to the corresponding metric. When $1 \leq p < \infty$, $L^p(\Omega)$ is also a Banach space when equipped with the norm

$$|u|_{L^p(\Omega)} := \left(\int_{\Omega} |u(\boldsymbol{x})|^p \,\mathrm{d} \boldsymbol{x}
ight)^{1/p}$$

For $p = \infty$, $L^{\infty}(\Omega)$ consists of functions on Ω that are measurable and essentially

bounded. It is also a Banach space, when equipped with the norm

$$\begin{split} |u|_{L^{\infty}(\Omega)} &:= \mathop{\mathrm{ess\,sup}}_{\boldsymbol{x}\in\Omega} |u(\boldsymbol{x})| \\ &= \inf \left\{ \mathop{\mathrm{sup}}_{\boldsymbol{x}\in\Lambda} |u(\boldsymbol{x})| : \Lambda \subset \overline{\Omega}, \ \Omega \backslash \Lambda \text{ has zero measure} \right\} \end{split}$$

In the special case of p = 2, $L^2(\Omega)$ is also a Hilbert space, with inner product and norm defined by

$$(u, v)_{L^2(\Omega)} := \int_{\Omega} u(\boldsymbol{x}) \overline{v(\boldsymbol{x})} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x},$$
$$|u|_{L^2(\Omega)} := (u, u)_{L^2(\Omega)}^{1/2},$$

where \overline{v} denotes the complex conjugate of v. When the domain of integration is clear and no confusion would arise, we may write $|\cdot|_p := |\cdot|_{L^p}$, $|\cdot| := |\cdot|_{L^2}$ and $(\cdot, \cdot) := (\cdot, \cdot)_{L^2}$ for conciseness.

The Sobolev space $H^s(\Omega)$ consists of functions with derivatives up to order s lying in $L^2(\Omega)$:

$$H^{s}(\Omega) := \{ u : D^{m}u \in L^{2}(\Omega), \quad \forall |m| \leq s \},\$$

where

$$D^{m}u := \partial_{x_{1}}^{m_{1}} \partial_{x_{2}}^{m_{2}} u,$$

$$|m| := m_{1} + m_{2}, \qquad m_{1}, m_{2} \ge 0.$$

The inner product and norms are defined by

$$(u,v)_{H^s(\Omega)} = \sum_{|m| \le s} (D^m u, \overline{D^m v})_{L^2(\Omega)},$$
$$|u|_{H^s(\Omega)} := (u,u)_{H^s(\Omega)}^{1/2},$$

which is equivalent to the norm defined by

$$|u|_{H^s_*(\Omega)}^2 := |u|_{L^2(\Omega)}^2 + \sum_{|m|=s} (D^m u, \overline{D^m u})_{L^2(\Omega)}.$$
(2.1.1)

Furthermore, for u satisfying

$$\int_{\Omega} u \,\mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} = 0, \qquad (2.1.2)$$

(2.1.1) is also equivalent to

$$|u|_{H^s_*(\Omega)}^2 \sim \sum_{|m|=s} (D^m u, \overline{D^m u})_{L^2(\Omega)},$$
 (2.1.3)

due to the Fourier coefficient $u_{\mathbf{k}} = u_{(0,0)}$ (for $\Omega = \mathbb{T}^2$) or spherical harmonic coefficient $u_{lm} = u_{00}$ (introduced in Chapter 4, when $\Omega = S^2$) being zero by definition. Functions we consider in this thesis all satisfy (2.1.2) over the respective domain and hence (2.1.3) is equivalent to the H^s norm; we thus abuse notation slightly and denote instead by $H^s(\Omega)$,

$$H^{s}(\Omega) = \{ u : D^{m}u \in L^{2}(\Omega), \quad \forall |m| = s \}.$$
(2.1.4)

As a useful (dimensionless) parameter to describe how turbulent a flow is, we define the generalised Grashof number \mathcal{G} by

$$\mathcal{G} := \frac{|f_{v}|_{L^{2}(\Omega)}}{\mu^{2}\kappa_{0}^{2}}, \qquad (2.1.5)$$

where μ is the kinematic viscosity, $\kappa_0 = \kappa_0(\Omega)$ is the Poincaré constant (see Lemma 4). Using higher derivatives of f_v , we define "higher Grashof numbers" by

$$\mathcal{G}_m := \frac{|\nabla^m f_v|_{L^2(\Omega)}}{(\mu\kappa_0)^{2-m}},\tag{2.1.6}$$

where the denominator ensures that \mathcal{G}_m is dimensionless for all m. We note that $\mathcal{G}_0 = \mathcal{G}$ exactly, with this definition.

Throughout the thesis, unnumbered constants c denote dimensionless constants that may change value from one use to the next. We will also drop all dimensional quantities except length; it will thus become convenient to define the dimensionless parameter $\nu_0 := \mu \kappa_0^2$.

2.2 Preliminary inequalities

We make extensive use of several well-known inequalities, which we collectively state here for convenience.

Lemma 1 (Young's inequality). Suppose $a, b \ge 0$ and $1 \le p, q \le \infty$ are such that 1/p + 1/q = 1. Then

$$ab \le \frac{a^p}{p} + \frac{b^q}{q}.\tag{2.2.1}$$

Lemma 2 (Hölder's inequality). Suppose $f \in L^p(\mathbb{T}^2)$ and $g \in L^q(\mathbb{T}^2)$, where $1 \leq p, q \leq \infty$ and 1/p + 1/q = 1. Then $fg \in L^1(\mathbb{T}^2)$, and

$$|fg|_{L^1(\mathbb{T}^2)} \le |f|_{L^p(\mathbb{T}^2)} |g|_{L^q(\mathbb{T}^2)}.$$
(2.2.2)

Lemma 3 (Hölder's inequality on the sphere). Suppose $f \in L^p(S^2)$ and $g \in L^q(S^2)$, where $1 \le p, q \le \infty$ and 1/p + 1/q = 1. Then $fg \in L^1(S^2)$, and

$$|fg|_{L^1(S^2)} \le |f|_{L^p(S^2)} |g|_{L^q(S^2)}.$$
(2.2.3)

Lemma 4 (Poincaré's inequality). Suppose $u \in H^1(X)$ for bounded X. Then there exists $\kappa_0 > 0$, depending only on X, such that

$$\kappa_0 |u|_{L^2(X)} \le |\nabla u|_{L^2(X)}. \tag{2.2.4}$$

For $X = \mathbb{T}^2$ and u such that $\int_{\mathbb{T}^2} u = 0$, the Poincaré constant κ_0 is given by

$$\kappa_0 := \inf_u \frac{|\nabla u|_{L^2}}{|u|_{L^2}} \\= \inf_u \left(\left(\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_L} |k|^2 |u_k|^2 \right) / \left(\sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}_L} |u_k|^2 \right) \right)^{1/2} = 2\pi/L,$$

where $\mathbb{Z}_L := \{(2\pi l_1/L, 2\pi l_2/L) : (l_1, l_2) \in \mathbb{Z}^2\}$ and u_k are the Fourier coefficients of u. The corresponding Poincaré constant for $X = S^2$ will be computed in Chapter 4, after a suitable expansion of $v \in L^2(S^2)$ into its harmonics is introduced.

Lemma 5 (Agmon's inequality in 1D). Suppose $u \in L^{\infty}([0,1]) \cap H^1([0,1])$. Then

$$|u|_{L^{\infty}([0,1])} \le c_1 |u|_{L^2([0,1])}^{1/2} |\nabla u|_{L^2([0,1])}^{1/2}, \qquad (2.2.5)$$

where $c_1 = 1/\pi + 2$.

Proof. Let $\gamma, x \in [0, 1]$. By the fundamental theorem of calculus,

$$u^{2}(x) = u^{2}(\gamma) + \int_{\gamma}^{x} (u^{2}(y))' \, \mathrm{d}y = u^{2}(\gamma) + 2 \int_{\gamma}^{x} u(y)u'(y) \, \mathrm{d}y.$$

We bound this from above as

$$\begin{split} u^{2}(x) &= u^{2}(\gamma) + 2 \int_{\gamma}^{x} u(y)u'(y) \, \mathrm{d}y \\ &\leq u^{2}(\gamma) + 2 \int_{\gamma}^{x} |u(y)u'(y)| \, \mathrm{d}y \\ &\leq u^{2}(\gamma) + 2|uu'|_{L^{1}([0,1])} \\ &\leq u^{2}(\gamma) + 2|u|_{L^{2}([0,1])}|u'|_{L^{2}([0,1])} \end{split}$$
 by Hölder.

Integrating both sides from $\gamma = 0$ to 1 gives

$$\begin{aligned} u^{2}(x) &\leq \int_{0}^{1} u^{2}(\gamma) \, \mathrm{d}\gamma + 2|u|_{2}|u'|_{2} \\ &= |u|_{2}^{2} + 2|u|_{2}|u'|_{2} \\ &\leq \kappa_{0}^{-1}|u|_{2}|u'|_{2} + 2|u|_{2}|u'|_{2} \\ &= \left(\kappa_{0}^{-1} + 2\right)|u|_{2}|u'|_{2}. \end{aligned}$$
 by Poincaré

The Poincaré constant for [0,1] is bounded by $1/\pi$ [17], so taking the maximum value of the left side gives

$$|u|_{\infty}^{2} \leq \left(\kappa_{0}^{-1} + 2\right)|u|_{2}|u'|_{2}$$
$$\leq (\pi^{-1} + 2)|u|_{2}|u'|_{2}.$$

We note that this one-dimensional version of the more well-known Agmon's inequalities in \mathbb{R}^2 or \mathbb{R}^3 is particularly useful when we consider zonal (i.e. independent of x) functions. This will be made clear in the relevant chapters.

Lemma 6 (Agmon's inequality in 2D). Suppose $u \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^2) \cap H^1(\mathbb{T}^2)$. Then there

exists a constant $c_2(\mathbb{T}^2)$ such that

$$|u|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^2)} \le c_2 |u|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)}^{1/2} |\Delta u|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)}^{1/2}.$$
(2.2.6)

There are many different interpolation inequalities that are useful for bounding functions in Sobolev spaces. We will only be requiring the following for the purposes of this thesis:

Lemma 7 (Ladyzhenskaya's inequality). Suppose $u \in H^1(\Omega)$, where $\Omega = \mathbb{T}^2$ or S^2 . Then there exists a constant $c_3(\Omega)$ such that

$$|u|_{L^4(\Omega)} \le c_3 |u|_{L^2(\Omega)}^{1/2} |\nabla u|_{L^2(\Omega)}^{1/2}.$$
(2.2.7)

We will make extensive use of the following Gronwall-type inequality ([13], [18]):

Lemma 8. Let ρ be a locally integrable real function on $(0, \infty)$ such that

$$\liminf_{t \to \infty} \int_t^{t+1} \rho(\tau) \,\mathrm{d}\tau > 0, \qquad (2.2.8)$$

$$\limsup_{t \to \infty} \int_t^{t+1} \rho^-(\tau) \,\mathrm{d}\tau < \infty, \tag{2.2.9}$$

where $\rho^- := \max\{-\rho, 0\}$. Also, let σ be a real locally integrable function on $(0, \infty)$ such that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \int_{t}^{t+1} \sigma^{+}(\tau) \, \mathrm{d}\tau = 0, \qquad (2.2.10)$$

where $\sigma^+ := \max\{\sigma, 0\}$. Suppose ξ is an absolutely continuous non-negative function on $(0, \infty)$ such that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\xi + \rho\xi \leq \sigma \qquad almost \ everywhere \ on \ (0,\infty).$$

Then $\xi(t) \to 0$ as $t \to \infty$.

We also often use the following integral inequality.

Lemma 9. Let $\nu > 0$ be fixed and $u(t) \ge 0$. Suppose that for any $t \ge 1$, we have

$$\int_0^t u(\tau) \mathrm{e}^{\nu(\tau-t)} \,\mathrm{d}\tau \le M.$$

Then for any t > 0,

$$\int_{t}^{t+1} u(\tau) \, \mathrm{d}\tau \le \int_{t}^{t+1} \mathrm{e}^{\nu(\tau-t)} u(\tau) \, \mathrm{d}\tau \le \int_{0}^{t+1} \mathrm{e}^{\nu(\tau-t)} u(\tau) \, \mathrm{d}\tau \le \mathrm{e}^{\nu} M. \tag{2.2.11}$$

Chapter 3

Determining modes on the periodic β -plane

In this chapter we prove our main result concerning the number of determining modes on the rotating torus $\mathbb{T}^2 = [0, L] \times [-L/2, L/2]$. We outline the existing theory on the modes for the Navier–Stokes equations in Section 3.1.2, which will become the basis for Chapter 4 also. We then introduce the zonal and non-zonal components of the vorticity in Section 3.2, as well as citing a useful control on the non-zonal vorticity from [7]. Combining these two elements together, we state and prove our result on the number of determining modes in Section 3.4.

Whilst the β -plane is an approximation of the sphere, we will see later in Chapter 4 that our results on the periodic plane and the sphere are of the same order.

3.1 Statement of the problem

We derive the vorticity form of the Navier–Stokes equations below, which is both more convenient for our purposes and more useful for numerical simulations. We recall that when there is no ambiguity, we may write $|\cdot|_p = |\cdot|_{L^p}$, $|\cdot| = |\cdot|_{L^2}$ and $(\cdot, \cdot) = (\cdot, \cdot)_{L^2}$.

3.1.1 Vorticity form

We recall the β -plane approximation of the Navier–Stokes equations:

$$\partial_t \boldsymbol{v} + \boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{v} + \beta y \boldsymbol{v}^{\perp} + \nabla p = \mu \Delta \boldsymbol{v} + f_{\boldsymbol{v}}, \qquad (3.1.1)$$
$$\nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{v} = 0.$$

By Hodge's decomposition theorem (see [19]), \boldsymbol{v} can be written as

$$\boldsymbol{v} = \nabla \varphi + \nabla^{\perp} \psi + \boldsymbol{H}, \qquad (3.1.2)$$

where φ , ψ are scalars and \boldsymbol{H} is a (curl-free and divergence-free) harmonic vector field. Since $\nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{v} = 0$, taking the divergence of (3.1.2) gives

$$0 = \nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{v} = \nabla \cdot \nabla \varphi + \nabla \cdot \nabla^{\perp} \psi + \nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{H}$$
$$= \Delta \varphi.$$
(3.1.3)

Expanding $\Delta \varphi$ in Fourier series leads to

$$\Delta \varphi(\boldsymbol{x}, t) = -\sum_{\boldsymbol{k} \in \mathbb{Z}_L} |\boldsymbol{k}|^2 \varphi_{\boldsymbol{k}} \mathrm{e}^{i \boldsymbol{k} \cdot \boldsymbol{x}} = 0, \qquad (3.1.4)$$

where we recall $\mathbb{Z}_L := \{(2\pi l_1/L, 2\pi l_2/L) : (l_1, l_2) \in \mathbb{Z}^2\}$. This implies that $\varphi_k = 0$ for $k \neq 0$, thus

$$\varphi(\boldsymbol{x},t) = \sum_{\boldsymbol{k} \in \mathbb{Z}_L} \varphi_{\boldsymbol{k}} \mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}\boldsymbol{k}\cdot\boldsymbol{x}} = \varphi_{(0,0)}(t), \qquad (3.1.5)$$

implying that φ is constant in \boldsymbol{x} , i.e. $\nabla \varphi = 0$. Hence (3.1.2) becomes

$$\boldsymbol{v} = \nabla^{\perp} \boldsymbol{\psi} + \boldsymbol{H}. \tag{3.1.6}$$

There are exactly two independent harmonic vector fields in \mathbb{T}^2 , which we can take to be the constant vector fields \boldsymbol{e}_x and \boldsymbol{e}_y ([19]). Without loss of generality (see [20]), we can take $\boldsymbol{H} = 0$, which is equivalent to

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^2} \boldsymbol{v}(\boldsymbol{x}, t) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} = 0 \qquad \forall t \ge 0, \qquad (3.1.7)$$

which we assume. Consequently, we also require

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^2} f_{\boldsymbol{v}}(\boldsymbol{x}, t) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} = 0 \qquad \forall t \ge 0.$$
(3.1.8)

With these assumptions, \boldsymbol{v} is determined uniquely from ω .

Requiring compatibility of the $\beta y v^{\perp}$ term over the periodic domain implies the following natural symmetries, which we also assume:

$$v_1(x, -y, t) = v_1(x, y, t),$$
 (3.1.9)

$$v_2(x, -y, t) = -v_2(x, y, t), \qquad (3.1.10)$$

where we recall that v_1 denotes the *x* component of *v* and similarly for v_2 . Together with periodicity, (3.1.10) implies that

$$v_2(x, -L/2, t) = -v_2(x, L/2, t) = 0.$$
 (3.1.11)

We impose analogous symmetries on f_v , which we assume to be time-independent:

$$f_{v_1}(x, -y) = f_{v_1}(x, y), \qquad (3.1.12)$$

$$f_{v_2}(x, -y) = -f_{v_2}(x, y).$$
(3.1.13)

With these assumptions, we take the curl $\nabla^{\perp} \cdot$ of (3.1.1), where $\nabla^{\perp} \cdot \boldsymbol{v} = \partial_x v_2 - \partial_y v_1 =:$ ω is the scalar vorticity:

$$\nabla^{\perp} \cdot \partial_t \boldsymbol{v} + \nabla^{\perp} \cdot (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{v}) + \beta \nabla^{\perp} \cdot (\boldsymbol{y} \boldsymbol{v}^{\perp}) + \nabla^{\perp} \cdot \nabla p = \mu \nabla^{\perp} \cdot (\Delta \boldsymbol{v}) + \nabla^{\perp} \cdot f_{\boldsymbol{v}}. \quad (3.1.14)$$

The first term becomes

$$\nabla^{\perp} \cdot \partial_t \boldsymbol{v} = \partial_x (\partial_t \boldsymbol{v})_2 - \partial_y (\partial_t \boldsymbol{v})_1 = \partial_t (\partial_x v_2 - \partial_y v_1) = \partial_t \omega.$$
(3.1.15)

The second term of (3.1.14) is given by

$$\nabla^{\perp} \cdot (\boldsymbol{v} \cdot \nabla \boldsymbol{v}) = \nabla^{\perp} \cdot (v_1 \partial_x + v_2 \partial_y, (v_1, v_2))$$
$$= \partial_x (v_1 \partial_x v_2 + v_2 \partial_y v_2) - \partial_y (v_1 \partial_x v_1 + v_2 \partial_y v_1)$$
$$= -\partial_y v_1 (\partial_x v_1 + \partial_y v_2) + \partial_x v_2 (\partial_x v_1 + \partial_y v_2)$$

$$+ v_1 \partial_x (\partial_x v_2 - \partial_y v_1) + v_2 \partial_y (\partial_x v_2 - \partial_y v_1)$$

= $v_1 \partial_x (\partial_x v_2 - \partial_y v_1) + v_2 \partial_y (\partial_x v_2 - \partial_y v_1)$
(since $\partial_x v_1 + \partial_y v_2 = 0$ by (3.1.1))
= $\partial_x \psi \, \partial_y \omega - \partial_y \psi \, \partial_x \omega =: \partial(\psi, \omega),$ (3.1.16)

where $\psi := \Delta^{-1} \omega$ is the streamfunction defined uniquely by $\int_{\mathbb{T}^2} \psi = 0$. The Jacobian $\partial(\cdot, \cdot)$ has the properties that

$$(\partial(a,b),b) = \int_{\mathbb{T}^2} (\partial_x a \, \partial_y b - \partial_y a \, \partial_x b) \, b \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{T}^2} (-\partial_y (a \, \partial_x b) + a \, \partial_{xy}^2 b + \partial_x (a \, \partial_y b) - a \, \partial_{xy}^2 b) \, b \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{T}^2} \left(-\partial_y (a \, \partial_x b) - \partial_x (a \, \partial_y b) \right) b \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{T}^2} (-a \, \partial_x b \, \partial_y b + a \, \partial_y b \, \partial_x b) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \qquad \text{by integration by parts}$$

$$= 0, \qquad (3.1.17)$$

and

$$(\partial(a,b),c) = \int_{\mathbb{T}^2} (\partial_x a \,\partial_y b - \partial_y a \,\partial_x b) \, c \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{T}^2} \left(-\partial_y (a \,\partial_x b) + \partial_x (a \,\partial_y b) \right) c \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{T}^2} (a \,\partial_x b \,\partial_y c - a \,\partial_y b \,\partial_x c) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} = (\partial(b,c),a)$$

$$= (\partial(c,a),b) \qquad \text{by symmetry} \qquad (3.1.18)$$

for all real a, b and c such that their integrals over \mathbb{T}^2 vanish and the expressions above are defined. To compute the third term of (3.1.14), we first replace y by the periodic extension of

$$Y(y) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{if } y = -L/2 \\ y & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

Taking the (distributional) curl of $Y \pmb{v}^\perp$ gives

$$\nabla^{\perp} \cdot (Y \boldsymbol{v}^{\perp}) = Y \nabla^{\perp} \cdot \boldsymbol{v}^{\perp} + \boldsymbol{v}^{\perp} \cdot \nabla^{\perp} Y = Y \nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{v} + \boldsymbol{v}^{\perp} \cdot \nabla^{\perp} Y = v_2 Y', \quad (3.1.19)$$

where $Y'(y) = 1 - L\delta(y - L/2)$ is the distributional derivative, with δ being the Dirac distribution, and the third equality follows from (3.1.1b). We note that (3.1.11) implies that $Y'(L/2) v_2(x, L/2, t) = 0$, so we can replace v_2Y' in (3.1.19) by v_2 . Thus, the third term of (3.1.14) becomes

$$\frac{\kappa_0}{\varepsilon} v_2 = \frac{\kappa_0}{\varepsilon} \partial_x \psi, \qquad (3.1.20)$$

where $\kappa_0/\varepsilon := \beta$. The pressure term of (3.1.14) becomes, by the properties of the curl and gradient,

$$\nabla^{\perp} \cdot \nabla p = 0. \tag{3.1.21}$$

The first term on the right hand side of (3.1.14) becomes

$$\mu \nabla^{\perp} \cdot (\Delta \boldsymbol{v}) = \mu \Delta \nabla^{\perp} \cdot \boldsymbol{v} = \mu \Delta \omega, \qquad (3.1.22)$$

due to the commutativity of the Laplacian and the curl. Finally, we define the forcing on vorticity by

$$f := \nabla^{\perp} \cdot f_{\boldsymbol{v}} = \partial_x f_{v_2} - \partial_y f_{v_1}, \qquad (3.1.23)$$

which inherits the time-independence of f_v . Putting all these terms together, we obtain the vorticity form of the two-dimensional β -plane approximation of the Navier–Stokes equations:

$$\partial_t \omega + \partial(\psi, \omega) + \frac{\kappa_0}{\varepsilon} \partial_x \psi = \mu \Delta \omega + f.$$
 (3.1.24)

We also note that due to the property of the curl, (3.1.7) implies

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^2} \omega(\boldsymbol{x}, t) \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} = 0 \qquad \forall t \ge 0.$$
(3.1.25)

3.1.2 Theory of determining modes

In this section, we formally introduce and define the determining modes of the Navier–Stokes equations. Having derived the vorticity form, we now consider two solutions ω , ω^{\sharp} (with corresponding streamfunctions ψ , ψ^{\sharp}) of (3.1.24) with the same

forcing and possibly different initial conditions:

$$\partial_t \omega + \partial(\psi, \omega) + \frac{\kappa_0}{\varepsilon} \partial_x \psi = \mu \Delta \omega + f,$$
 (3.1.26)

$$\partial_t \omega^{\sharp} + \partial(\psi^{\sharp}, \omega^{\sharp}) + \frac{\kappa_0}{\varepsilon} \partial_x \psi^{\sharp} = \mu \Delta \omega^{\sharp} + f.$$
(3.1.27)

We note that our assumption on the forcing is slightly stronger than that made by Foias and Temam, in that we assume the forcings are equal (i.e. $f_v = f_{v^{\sharp}}$) rather than $\lim_{t\to\infty} |(f_v - f_{v^{\sharp}})(t)| = 0$. Qualitatively this does not make a difference, the general case being a straight forward extension; we have made the assumption purely for simplicity. By defining $\delta \omega := \omega - \omega^{\sharp}$ and $\delta \psi := \psi - \psi^{\sharp}$, we note that

$$\begin{split} \partial(\psi,\omega) &- \partial(\psi^{\sharp},\omega^{\sharp}) = \partial_x \psi \, \partial_y \omega - \partial_y \psi \, \partial_x \omega - \partial_x \psi^{\sharp} \partial_y \omega^{\sharp} + \partial_y \psi^{\sharp} \partial_x \omega^{\sharp} \\ &= \partial_x \psi^{\sharp} \partial_y \omega - \partial_x \psi^{\sharp} \partial_y \omega^{\sharp} - \partial_y \psi^{\sharp} \partial_x \omega + \partial_y \psi^{\sharp} \partial_x \omega^{\sharp} + \partial_x \psi \, \partial_y \omega \\ &- \partial_x \psi^{\sharp} \partial_y \omega - \partial_y \psi \, \partial_x \omega + \partial_y \psi^{\sharp} \partial_x \omega \\ &= \partial_x \psi^{\sharp} \partial_y \delta \omega - \partial_y \psi^{\sharp} \partial_x \delta \omega + \partial_x \delta \psi \, \partial_y \omega - \partial_y \delta \psi \, \partial_x w \\ &= \partial(\psi^{\sharp}, \delta \omega) + \partial(\delta \psi, \omega). \end{split}$$

Hence subtracting (3.1.27) from (3.1.26) gives

$$\partial_t \delta \omega + \partial(\psi^{\sharp}, \delta \omega) + \partial(\delta \psi, \omega) + \frac{\kappa_0}{\varepsilon} \partial_x \delta \psi = \mu \Delta \delta \omega.$$
 (3.1.28)

We expand $\delta \omega$ in terms of its Fourier coefficients $\delta \omega_k$:

$$\delta\omega(\boldsymbol{x},t) = \sum_{\boldsymbol{k}\in\mathbb{Z}_L} \delta\omega_{\boldsymbol{k}}(t) \mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}\boldsymbol{k}\cdot\boldsymbol{x}},\tag{3.1.29}$$

where we recall $\mathbb{Z}_L := \{(2\pi l_1/L, 2\pi l_2/L) : (l_1, l_2) \in \mathbb{Z}^2\}$. By fixing a threshold wavenumber $\kappa \geq \kappa_0$, we define P_{κ} as the L^2 projection to lower wavenumbers:

$$\delta\omega^{<}(\boldsymbol{x},t) := \mathsf{P}_{\kappa}\delta\omega(\boldsymbol{x},t) := \sum_{|\boldsymbol{k}| \leq \kappa} \delta\omega_{\boldsymbol{k}}(t) \mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}\boldsymbol{k}\cdot\boldsymbol{x}}, \qquad (3.1.30)$$

and the projection to higher modes by

$$\delta\omega^{>}(\boldsymbol{x},t) := \delta\omega(\boldsymbol{x},t) - \delta\omega^{<}(\boldsymbol{x},t) = \sum_{|\boldsymbol{k}| > \kappa} \delta\omega_{\boldsymbol{k}}(t) e^{i\boldsymbol{k}\cdot\boldsymbol{x}}.$$
 (3.1.31)

Using these definitions, we obtain the following Poincaré-type inequalities:

$$|\delta\omega^{>}|_{L^{2}}^{2} = \sum_{|\boldsymbol{k}|>\kappa} |\delta\omega_{\boldsymbol{k}}|^{2} \leq \sum_{|\boldsymbol{k}|>\kappa} (|\boldsymbol{k}|/\kappa)^{2} |\delta\omega_{\boldsymbol{k}}|^{2} = \frac{1}{\kappa^{2}} |\nabla\delta\omega^{>}|_{L^{2}}^{2}, \qquad (3.1.32)$$

and an inequality in the opposite direction,

$$|\nabla\delta\omega^{<}|_{L^{2}}^{2} = \sum_{|\boldsymbol{k}|\leq\kappa} |\boldsymbol{k}|^{2} |\delta\omega_{\boldsymbol{k}}|^{2} \leq \sum_{|\boldsymbol{k}|\leq\kappa} \kappa^{2} |\delta\omega_{\boldsymbol{k}}|^{2} = \kappa^{2} |\delta\omega^{<}|_{L^{2}}^{2}.$$
(3.1.33)

It was shown by Foias and Prodi [9] that if one takes large enough κ , the behaviour of the (non-rotational) two-dimensional Navier–Stokes equations (1.0.1) can essentially be *determined* by the behaviour of the lower "modes", in the sense that if $|\mathsf{P}_{\kappa}\delta\omega(t)|_{L^2} \to 0$ as $t \to \infty$, then $|\delta\omega(t)|_{L^2} \to 0$ also. Manley and Trève ([13] [14]) conjectured that, based on physical arguments, the minimum number of determining modes in the general case scales as $\kappa/\kappa_0 \sim \mathcal{G}_0^{1/2}$. Jones and Titi's later result [12] agrees with this:

Theorem 10 (Jones and Titi '93). Suppose $\delta \omega$ satisfies (3.1.28). There exists an absolute constant c_4 such that if

$$\kappa/\kappa_0 \ge c_4 \,\mathcal{G}_0^{1/2},\tag{3.1.34}$$

then

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} |\mathsf{P}_{\kappa} \delta \omega(t)|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)} = 0 \qquad implies \qquad \lim_{t \to \infty} |\delta \omega(t)|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)} = 0. \tag{3.1.35}$$

Our aim for this chapter is to obtain an improved bound on this existing result, making use of the regularising effect of rotation on the dynamics.

3.2 Zonal and non-zonal components of the vorticity

In order to improve bounds on the number of determining modes, it can be helpful to separate the vorticity into its zonal and non-zonal components, which we define by

$$\bar{\omega}(y,t) := \frac{1}{L} \int_0^L \omega(x,y,t) \,\mathrm{d}x, \qquad (3.2.1)$$

$$\tilde{\omega}(x, y, t) := \omega(x, y, t) - \bar{\omega}(y, t).$$
(3.2.2)

We also express these in Fourier space as

$$\bar{\omega}(y,t) = \sum_{k_1=0} \omega_k(t) \mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}\boldsymbol{k}\cdot\boldsymbol{x}},\tag{3.2.3}$$

$$\tilde{\omega}(\boldsymbol{x},t) = \sum_{k_1 \neq 0} \omega_{\boldsymbol{k}}(t) \mathrm{e}^{\mathrm{i}\boldsymbol{k}\cdot\boldsymbol{x}}.$$
(3.2.4)

For convenience and consistency, we write

$$\bar{\omega}_{k} = \begin{cases} \omega_{k} & k_{1} = 0\\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(3.2.5)

and

$$\tilde{\omega}_{k} = \begin{cases} 0 & k_{1} = 0 \\ \omega_{k} & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(3.2.6)

Thus $\bar{\omega}$ and $\tilde{\omega}$ are orthogonal in H^m for $m = 1, 2, \cdots$:

$$(\bar{\omega}, \tilde{\omega})_{H^m} = \sum_{\boldsymbol{k}} |\boldsymbol{k}|^m \, \bar{\omega}_{\boldsymbol{k}} \, |\boldsymbol{k}|^m \overline{\tilde{\omega}_{\boldsymbol{k}}} = \sum_{k_1=0} |\boldsymbol{k}|^m \, \bar{\omega}_{\boldsymbol{k}} \, |\boldsymbol{k}|^m \overline{\tilde{\omega}_{\boldsymbol{k}}} + \sum_{k_1 \neq 0} |\boldsymbol{k}|^m \, \bar{\omega}_{\boldsymbol{k}} \, |\boldsymbol{k}|^m \overline{\tilde{\omega}_{\boldsymbol{k}}}$$
$$= 0.$$
(3.2.7)

We note that by definition, $\partial_x \bar{\omega} = 0$, which is particularly useful when we consider that

$$\partial_x U = \partial_x V = 0$$
 implies $\partial(U, V) = \partial_x U \,\partial_y V - \partial_y U \,\partial_x V = 0$ (3.2.8)

for any U, V such that the expression is defined. We also note that $\bar{\omega}$ being spatially one-dimensional allows the use of Agmon's inequality (2.2.5).

With $\bar{\omega}$ and $\tilde{\omega}$ thus defined, we state the following result by Al-Jaboori and Wirosoetisno [7] (using our definition of \mathcal{G}_m), which we will use frequently. Recall that
$\nu_0 = \mu \kappa_0^2.$

Theorem 11. Assume that the initial data $\mathbf{v}(0) \in L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)$ and that $|\Delta f|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)} < \infty$. Then there exists a time $\mathcal{T}_0(|\mathbf{v}(0)|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)})$ and a constant $c_5(\nu_0)$ such that

$$|\tilde{\omega}(t)|^2_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)} + \mu \int_t^{t+1} |\nabla \tilde{\omega}(\tau)|^2_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)} \,\mathrm{d}\tau \qquad \leq \varepsilon M_0/\kappa_0^2, \qquad (3.2.9)$$

$$|\tilde{\omega}(t)|^2_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)} + \mu \int_0^t |\nabla \tilde{\omega}(\tau)|^2_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)} \mathrm{e}^{\nu_0(\tau-t)} \,\mathrm{d}\tau \qquad \leq \varepsilon M_0/\kappa_0^2 \qquad (3.2.10)$$

for all $t \geq \mathcal{T}_0$, where

$$M_0 = c_5 \,\mathcal{G}_2 \mathcal{G}_3 (1 + \mathcal{G}_0^2). \tag{3.2.11}$$

We note that the constants in [7] may include lengths, while ours do not, which accounts for the extra factor of κ_0^{-2} . We also note that our M_0 is a slight improvement on that given in [7], with a $\mathcal{G}_2 \mathcal{G}_3$ dependence instead of \mathcal{G}_3^2 . This is because the "worst" term in the original result (in the sense of requiring the highest order Grashof number to bound it) was $|\Delta f|_{L^2} |\Delta \omega|_{L^2}$, which was further bounded as $|\Delta f|_{L^2} |\Delta \omega|_{L^2} \leq$ $c (|\Delta f|_{L^2}^2 + |\Delta \omega|_{L^2}^2)$ (by Young) in order to simplify a long sum. Thus the $|\Delta f|_{L^2}^2$ term could only be bounded by \mathcal{G}_3^2 , but leaving it simply as $|\Delta f|_{L^2} |\Delta \omega|_{L^2}$ automatically gives us a $\mathcal{G}_2 \mathcal{G}_3$ bound instead.

3.3 Consequences of different forms of forcing

Finally, before stating our main result, we consider different types of zonal forcing \bar{f} and their effects on the flow. We give three different examples below, which are used often in numerical simulations.

Bandwidth-limited:
$$\bar{f} = \mathsf{P}_{\kappa_f} \bar{f}$$
 $(\kappa_f \ge \kappa_0), \quad (3.3.1)$

Algebraic decay:
$$|\bar{f}_{(0,k)}| \le \frac{\nu_0^2 \kappa_0^{s-1} |k|^{-s}}{\sqrt{2} \zeta (2+2s)^{1/2}} \mathcal{G}_0$$
 $(s > 5/2), \quad (3.3.2)$

Exponential decay:
$$|\bar{f}_{(0,k)}| \le \frac{\nu_0^2}{2\kappa_0} \left(\frac{2\gamma}{1+2\gamma}\right)^{1/2} e^{\gamma(1-|k|/\kappa_0)} \mathcal{G}_0 \quad (\gamma > 0), \quad (3.3.3)$$

where $\zeta(s) := \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n^{-s}$ is the Riemann zeta function. We note that the bandwidthlimited \bar{f} is the conceptually important case to us; the algebraically and exponentially decaying cases can be considered as smoother and more "realistic".

The requirement for (3.3.2) that s > 5/2 is purely to ensure $f \in H^2(\mathbb{T}^2)$, so that we can apply Theorem 11. The precise expressions for (3.3.2) and (3.3.3) have been chosen to guarantee that $|\nabla^{-1}\bar{f}|/(\mu\kappa_0)^2 \leq \mathcal{G}_0$, in order to be consistent with the definition of the Grashof number given in (2.1.5):

$$|\bar{f}_{(0,k)}| \le \frac{\nu_0^2 \kappa_0^{s-1} |k|^{-s}}{\sqrt{2}\zeta(2+2s)^{1/2}} \mathcal{G}_0$$
 implies that

$$\begin{split} |\nabla^{-1}\bar{f}|^2 &= \sum_{k_1=0} |f_k|^2 / |\mathbf{k}|^2 \le \sum_{k \in \langle 2\pi/L \rangle} \frac{\nu_0^4 \,\kappa_0^{2s-2} \,\mathcal{G}_0^2}{2\zeta(2+2s)|k|^{2s+2}} = \frac{\nu_0^4 \,\kappa_0^{2s-2} \,\mathcal{G}_0^2}{2\zeta(2+2s)} \sum_{k \in \langle 2\pi/L \rangle} |k|^{-2s-2} \\ &= \frac{\nu_0^4 \,\kappa_0^{2s-2} \,\mathcal{G}_0^2}{\zeta(2+2s)} \sum_{k \ge \kappa_0} k^{-2s-2} \qquad \text{by symmetry} \\ &\le \frac{\nu_0^4 \,\kappa_0^{2s-3} \,\mathcal{G}_0^2}{\zeta(2+2s)} \int_{\kappa_0}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}k}{k^{2s+2}} = \frac{\mu^4 \,\kappa_0^4}{(2s+1)\zeta(2+2s)} \,\mathcal{G}_0^2, \end{split}$$

which leads to the bound

$$|\nabla^{-1}\bar{f}|/(\mu\kappa_0)^2 \le \left((2s+1)\zeta(2+2s)\right)^{-1/2} \mathcal{G}_0 \le (6\,\zeta(2+2s))^{-1/2} \,\mathcal{G}_0 \le \mathcal{G}_0,$$

since ζ is decreasing in s and $\lim_{s\to\infty} \zeta(s) = 1$.

Considering \bar{f} satisfying (3.3.3) instead,

$$|\bar{f}_{(0,k)}| \le \frac{\nu_0^2}{2\kappa_0} \left(\frac{2\gamma}{1+2\gamma}\right)^{1/2} \mathrm{e}^{\gamma(1-|k|/\kappa_0)} \mathcal{G}_0 \qquad \text{implies that}$$

$$\begin{split} |\nabla^{-1}\bar{f}|^2 &\leq \sum_{k_1=0} |f_k|^2 / |k|^2 \leq \frac{\nu_0^4 \mathcal{G}_0^2}{4 \kappa_0^2} \left(\frac{2\gamma}{1+2\gamma}\right) \sum_{k \in \langle 2\pi/L \rangle} \frac{\mathrm{e}^{2\gamma(1-|k|/\kappa_0)}}{k^2} \\ &= \frac{\nu_0^4 \mathcal{G}_0^2}{\kappa_0^2} \left(\frac{\gamma}{1+2\gamma}\right) \sum_{k \geq \kappa_0} \frac{\mathrm{e}^{2\gamma(1-|k|/\kappa_0)}}{k^2} \qquad \text{by symmetry} \\ &\leq \mu^4 \kappa_0^4 \mathcal{G}_0^2 \left(\frac{\gamma}{1+2\gamma}\right) \mathrm{e}^{2\gamma} \sum_{k \geq \kappa_0} \mathrm{e}^{-2\gamma k/\kappa_0} \qquad \text{since } k \geq \kappa_0 \\ &= \mu^4 \kappa_0^4 \mathcal{G}_0^2 \left(\frac{\gamma}{1+2\gamma}\right) (1+\mathrm{e}^{-2\gamma}+\mathrm{e}^{-4\gamma}+\cdots) \\ &= \mu^4 \kappa_0^4 \mathcal{G}_0^2 \left(\frac{\gamma}{1+2\gamma}\right) / (1-\mathrm{e}^{-2\gamma}) \leq \mu^4 \kappa_0^4 \mathcal{G}_0^2 \qquad \text{for all } \gamma > 0, \end{split}$$

leading to

$$|\nabla^{-1}\bar{f}|/(\mu\kappa_0)^2 \leq \mathcal{G}_0.$$

With these forms of \overline{f} in mind, we state and prove the following intermediate results.

Lemma 12. Suppose ω satisfies (3.1.24) and define $\bar{\omega}^{< f} := \mathsf{P}_{\kappa_f} \bar{\omega}, \ \bar{\omega}^{> f} := \bar{\omega} - \bar{\omega}^{< f}$ for some $\kappa_f \geq \kappa_0$. Assume $\nu_0 = \mu \kappa_0^2 < 1$. Then there exists an absolute constant c_* such that:

(a) if \overline{f} satisfies (3.3.1), then

$$\int_0^t |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)} \mathrm{e}^{\nu_0(\tau-t)} \,\mathrm{d}\tau \le 3 \, c_*(\varepsilon M_0)^2 / \nu_0^3 \,; \tag{3.3.4}$$

(b) if \overline{f} satisfies (3.3.2), then

$$\int_{0}^{t} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^{2}_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})} \mathrm{e}^{\nu_{0}(\tau-t)} \,\mathrm{d}\tau \leq c_{*}(\varepsilon M_{0})^{2} / \nu_{0}^{3} + \frac{8\nu_{0}}{(2s+1)\zeta(2s+2)} \left(\frac{\kappa_{0}}{\kappa_{f}}\right)^{2s+1} \mathcal{G}_{0}^{2}, \text{ and}$$

$$(3.3.5)$$

(c) if \overline{f} satisfies (3.3.3),

$$\int_{0}^{t} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^{2}_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})} \mathrm{e}^{\nu_{0}(\tau-t)} \,\mathrm{d}\tau \leq c_{*}(\varepsilon M_{0})^{2} / \nu_{0}^{3} + 8 \,\nu_{0} \,\mathrm{e}^{2\gamma(1-\kappa_{f}/\kappa_{0})} \,\mathcal{G}_{0}^{2}.$$
(3.3.6)

Proof. We begin by multiplying (3.1.26) by $\bar{\omega}^{>f}$ in L^2 :

$$(\partial_t \omega, \bar{\omega}^{>f}) + (\partial(\psi, \omega), \bar{\omega}^{>f}) + \frac{\kappa_0}{\varepsilon} (\partial_x \psi, \bar{\omega}^{>f}) = \mu(\Delta \omega, \bar{\omega}^{>f}) + (f, \bar{\omega}^{>f}).$$
(3.3.7)

The first term becomes

$$(\partial_t \omega, \bar{\omega}^{>f}) = (\partial_t \tilde{\omega}, \bar{\omega}^{>f}) + (\partial_t \bar{\omega}^{f}) + (\partial_t \bar{\omega}^{>f}, \bar{\omega}^{>f})$$
$$= (\partial_t \bar{\omega}^{>f}, \bar{\omega}^{>f}) = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} |\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2, \qquad (3.3.8)$$

by the orthogonality of $\bar{\omega}$ and $\tilde{\omega}$ (3.2.7). By splitting $\omega = \bar{\omega} + \tilde{\omega}$ and $\psi = \bar{\psi} + \tilde{\psi}$, the second term of (3.3.7) becomes

$$(\partial(\psi,\omega),\bar{\omega}^{>f}) = (\partial(\psi,\bar{\omega}),\bar{\omega}^{>f}) + (\partial(\psi,\tilde{\omega}),\bar{\omega}^{>f})$$
$$= (\partial(\bar{\omega},\bar{\omega}^{>f}),\psi) + (\partial(\psi,\tilde{\omega}),\bar{\omega}^{>f}) \qquad \text{by (3.1.18)}$$
$$= (\partial(\psi,\tilde{\omega}),\bar{\omega}^{>f}) \qquad \text{by (3.2.8)}$$

$$= (\partial(\bar{\psi}, \tilde{\omega}), \bar{\omega}^{>f}) + (\partial(\tilde{\psi}, \tilde{\omega}), \bar{\omega}^{>f})$$

$$= (\partial(\bar{\omega}^{>f}, \bar{\psi}), \tilde{\omega}) + (\partial(\tilde{\psi}, \tilde{\omega}), \bar{\omega}^{>f}) \qquad \text{by (3.1.18)}$$

$$= (\partial(\tilde{\psi}, \tilde{\omega}), \bar{\omega}^{>f}) \qquad \text{by (3.2.8).} \qquad (3.3.9)$$

Integration by parts shows that the third term of (3.3.7) is 0:

$$\frac{\kappa_{0}}{\varepsilon} (\partial_{x} \psi, \bar{\omega}^{>f}) = \frac{\kappa_{0}}{\varepsilon} (\partial_{x} \tilde{\psi}, \bar{\omega}^{>f}) + \frac{\kappa_{0}}{\varepsilon} (\partial_{x} \bar{\psi}, \bar{\omega}^{>f})
= \frac{\kappa_{0}}{\varepsilon} (\partial_{x} \tilde{\psi}, \bar{\omega}^{>f}) \quad \text{since } \partial_{x} \bar{\psi} = 0
= \frac{\kappa_{0}}{\varepsilon} \sum_{|\mathbf{k}| > \kappa_{f}} k_{1} \tilde{\psi}_{\mathbf{k}} \overline{\bar{\omega}_{\mathbf{k}}} = \frac{\kappa_{0}}{\varepsilon} \left(\sum_{\substack{|\mathbf{k}| > \kappa_{f} \\ k_{1} = 0}} k_{1} \tilde{\psi}_{\mathbf{k}} \overline{\bar{\omega}_{\mathbf{k}}} + \sum_{\substack{|\mathbf{k}| > \kappa_{f} \\ k_{1} \neq 0}} k_{1} \tilde{\psi}_{\mathbf{k}} \overline{\bar{\omega}_{\mathbf{k}}} \right)
= 0.$$
(3.3.10)

We note the following property of the Laplacian:

$$(-\Delta u, u) = -\int_{\mathbb{T}^2} u \left(\partial_{xx}^2 u + \partial_{yy}^2 u\right) d\mathbf{x}$$

$$= -\int_{\mathbb{T}^2} u \,\partial_{xx}^2 u \,d\mathbf{x} - \int_{\mathbb{T}^2} u \,\partial_{yy}^2 u \,d\mathbf{x}$$

$$= \int_{\mathbb{T}^2} \left((\partial_x u)^2 + (\partial_y u)^2 \right) d\mathbf{x} \qquad \text{by integration by parts}$$

$$= |\nabla u|^2 \qquad (3.3.11)$$

for $u \in H^2(\mathbb{T}^2)$, by which the first term on the right hand side of (3.3.7) becomes

$$\mu(\Delta\omega, \bar{\omega}^{>f}) = \mu(\Delta\bar{\omega}, \bar{\omega}^{>f}) + \mu(\Delta\tilde{\omega}, \bar{\omega}^{>f})$$

$$= \mu(\Delta\bar{\omega}, \bar{\omega}^{>f}) \qquad \text{by (3.2.7)}$$

$$= \mu(\Delta\bar{\omega}^{f}) + \mu(\Delta\bar{\omega}^{>f}, \bar{\omega}^{>f})$$

$$= \mu(\Delta\bar{\omega}^{>f}, \bar{\omega}^{>f}) = -\mu|\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^{2}. \qquad (3.3.12)$$

Collecting (3.3.8) to (3.3.12) gives

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}|\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^{2} + \mu|\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^{2} = -(\partial(\tilde{\psi},\tilde{\omega}),\bar{\omega}^{>f}) + (f,\bar{\omega}^{>f}).$$
(3.3.13)

The first term on the right hand side of this can be bounded by

$$\begin{aligned} |(\partial(\tilde{\psi}, \tilde{\omega}), \bar{\omega}^{>f})| &= |(\partial(\bar{\omega}^{>f}, \tilde{\psi}), \tilde{\omega})| & \text{by } (3.1.18) \\ &\leq |\nabla \tilde{\psi}|_{\infty} |\tilde{\omega}|_{2} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|_{2} & \text{by Hölder} \\ &\leq \frac{2}{\mu} |\nabla \tilde{\psi}|_{\infty}^{2} |\tilde{\omega}|^{2} + \frac{\mu}{8} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^{2} & \text{by Young.} \end{aligned}$$
(3.3.14)

Similarly, we bound the forcing term by

$$(f,\bar{\omega}^{>f}) = (\bar{f}^{>f},\bar{\omega}^{>f}) \le |\nabla^{-1}\bar{f}^{>f}|_2 |\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}|_2$$
$$\le \frac{2}{\mu} |\nabla^{-1}\bar{f}^{>f}|^2 + \frac{\mu}{8} |\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2.$$
(3.3.15)

•

Thus (3.3.13) becomes

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} |\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 + \frac{3}{2}\mu |\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \le \frac{4}{\mu} |\nabla\tilde{\psi}|_{\infty}^2 |\tilde{\omega}|^2 + \frac{4}{\mu} |\nabla^{-1}\bar{f}^{>f}|^2$$

Assuming large enough t, we can use the bound on $|\tilde{\omega}|$ from Theorem 11 to give

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}|\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 + \frac{3}{2}\,\mu|\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \le c\,\frac{\varepsilon M_0}{\nu_0}|\nabla\tilde{\psi}|_{\infty}^2 + \frac{4}{\mu}|\nabla^{-1}\bar{f}^{>f}|^2.$$

Using Agmon's inequality (2.2.6) on the right hand side leads to

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}|\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 + \frac{3}{2}\mu|\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \leq \frac{c\,\varepsilon M_0}{\nu_0\kappa_0^2}|\nabla\tilde{\omega}|^2 + \frac{4}{\mu}|\nabla^{-1}\bar{f}^{>f}|^2$$

We then apply Poincaré's inequality (3.1.32) on the $|\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|$ term on the left hand side:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}|\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^{2} + \mu \,|\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^{2} + \frac{\mu}{2}|\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^{2} \le \frac{c\,\varepsilon M_{0}}{\nu_{0}\kappa_{0}^{2}}|\nabla\bar{\omega}|^{2} + \frac{4}{\mu}|\nabla^{-1}\bar{f}^{>f}|^{2}$$

and multiply by $e^{\nu_0 t}$,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}(\mathrm{e}^{\nu_0 t}|\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2) + \frac{\mu}{2}\,\mathrm{e}^{\nu_0 t}|\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \le \frac{c\,\varepsilon M_0}{\nu_0\kappa_0^2}|\nabla\tilde{\omega}|^2\mathrm{e}^{\nu_0 t} + \frac{4}{\mu}\,\mathrm{e}^{\nu_0 t}|\nabla^{-1}\bar{f}^{>f}|^2,$$

then integrate in time and multiply by $e^{-\nu_0 t}$ to obtain

$$\begin{split} |\bar{\omega}^{>f}(t)|^2 &+ \frac{\mu}{2} \int_0^t \mathrm{e}^{\nu_0(\tau-t)} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\tau \\ &\leq \mathrm{e}^{-\nu_0 t} |\bar{\omega}^{>f}(0)|^2 + \frac{c \,\varepsilon M_0}{\nu_0 \kappa_0^2} \int_0^t |\nabla \tilde{\omega}|^2 \mathrm{e}^{\nu_0(\tau-t)} \,\mathrm{d}\tau + \frac{4}{\mu \nu_0} |\nabla^{-1} \bar{f}^{>f}|^2 \end{split}$$

$$\leq \frac{c_*(\varepsilon M_0)^2}{2\nu_0^2\kappa_0^2} + \frac{4}{\mu\nu_0} |\nabla^{-1}\bar{f}^{>f}|^2, \qquad (3.3.16)$$

where we have used (3.2.10) and assumed t is large enough to absorb the $|\bar{\omega}^{>f}(0)|^2$ term into the $(\varepsilon M_0)^2$ term, in combination with the adjusted constant c_* .

We now consider the consequences of the hypotheses (3.3.1) to (3.3.3). When \bar{f} satisfies (3.3.1), we have $\bar{f}^{>f} = 0$ by definition, so that (3.3.16) becomes

$$\frac{\mu}{2} \int_0^t e^{\nu_0(\tau-t)} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \, d\tau \le \frac{c_*(\varepsilon M_0)^2}{2\,\nu_0^2 \kappa_0^2},\tag{3.3.17}$$

where we have used Lemma 9 and dropped the first term on the left hand side. With our assumption that $\nu_0 < 1$ and hence $e^{\nu_0} < 3$, we arrive at

$$\int_0^t e^{\nu_0(\tau-t)} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\tau \le 3 \, c_* (\varepsilon M_0)^2 / \nu_0^3,$$

which is (3.3.4).

When \bar{f} satisfies (3.3.2), we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\nabla^{-1}\bar{f}^{>f}|^{2} &= \sum_{\substack{|\mathbf{k}|>\kappa_{f}\\k_{1}=0}} |f_{\mathbf{k}}|^{2}/|\mathbf{k}|^{2} \leq \sum_{\substack{|\mathbf{k}|>\kappa_{f}\\k_{1}=0}} \frac{\nu_{0}^{4} \kappa_{0}^{2s-2} \mathcal{G}_{0}^{2}}{2\zeta(2+2s)} |\mathbf{k}|^{-2s-2} \\ &= \frac{\nu_{0}^{4} \kappa_{0}^{2s-2} \mathcal{G}_{0}^{2}}{2\zeta(2+2s)} \sum_{\substack{|\mathbf{k}|>\kappa_{f}\\k_{1}=0}} |\mathbf{k}|^{-2s-2} \\ &= \frac{\nu_{0}^{4} \kappa_{0}^{2s-2} \mathcal{G}_{0}^{2}}{\zeta(2+2s)} \sum_{\substack{k>\kappa_{f}\\k_{2}=0}} k^{-2s-2} \qquad \text{by symmetry} \\ &\leq \frac{\nu_{0}^{4} \kappa_{0}^{2s-3} \mathcal{G}_{0}^{2}}{\zeta(2+2s)} \int_{\kappa_{f}}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}k}{k^{2s+2}} = \frac{\nu_{0}^{4} (\kappa_{0}/\kappa_{f})^{2s+1} \mathcal{G}_{0}^{2}}{(2s+1)\zeta(2+2s)\kappa_{0}^{4}}, \end{aligned}$$
(3.3.18)

so (3.3.16) becomes

$$\int_0^t e^{\nu_0(\tau-t)} |\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\tau \le c_* \, (\varepsilon M_0)^2 / \nu_0^3 + \frac{8(\kappa_0/\kappa_f)^{2s+1}\nu_0}{(2s+1)\zeta(2s+2)} \mathcal{G}_0^2, \tag{3.3.19}$$

which is (3.3.5).

Finally, when \bar{f} satisfies (3.3.3),

$$|\nabla^{-1}\bar{f}^{>f}|^{2} = \sum_{\substack{|\boldsymbol{k}| > \kappa_{f} \\ k_{1} = 0}} |f_{\boldsymbol{k}}|^{2} / |\boldsymbol{k}|^{2} \le \sum_{\substack{|\boldsymbol{k}| > \kappa_{f} \\ k_{1} = 0}} \frac{\nu_{0}^{4} \mathcal{G}_{0}^{2}}{4 \kappa_{0}^{2}} \left(\frac{2\gamma}{1 + 2\gamma}\right) \frac{\mathrm{e}^{2\gamma(1 - |\boldsymbol{k}| / \kappa_{0})}}{|\boldsymbol{k}|^{2}}$$

$$= \sum_{k > \kappa_f} \frac{\nu_0^4 \mathcal{G}_0^2}{\kappa_0^2} \left(\frac{\gamma}{1+2\gamma}\right) \frac{e^{2\gamma(1-k/\kappa_0)}}{k^2} \qquad \text{by symmetry} \\ \leq \frac{\nu_0^4 \mathcal{G}_0^2}{\kappa_0^4} \left(\frac{\gamma}{1+2\gamma}\right) \sum_{k > \kappa_f} e^{2\gamma(1-k/\kappa_0)} \qquad \text{since } k > \kappa_f \ge \kappa_0 \\ \leq \frac{\nu_0^4 \mathcal{G}_0^2}{\kappa_0^4} \left(\frac{\gamma}{1+2\gamma}\right) e^{2\gamma(1-\kappa_f/\kappa_0)} (1+e^{-2\gamma}+e^{-4\gamma}+\cdots) \\ = \frac{\nu_0^4 \mathcal{G}_0^2}{\kappa_0^4} \left(\frac{\gamma}{1+2\gamma}\right) \frac{e^{2\gamma(1-\kappa_f/\kappa_0)}}{1-e^{-2\gamma}} \le \frac{\nu_0^4}{\kappa_0^4} e^{2\gamma(1-\kappa_f/\kappa_0)} \mathcal{G}_0^2, \qquad (3.3.20)$$

so (3.3.16) becomes

$$\int_{0}^{t} e^{\nu_{0}(\tau-t)} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^{2} d\tau \leq \frac{c_{*}(\varepsilon M_{0})^{2}}{\nu_{0}^{3}} + 8 \nu_{0} e^{2\gamma(1-\kappa_{f}/\kappa_{0})} \mathcal{G}_{0}^{2}, \qquad (3.3.21)$$

giving (3.3.6).

3.4 Bounds on the number of determining modes

We now have all the definitions and intermediate results required for the proof of our main result, which we state below. We assume, as with Lemma 12, that $\nu_0 < 1$. **Theorem 13** (Determining modes for the β -plane). Let $\delta \omega$ be the solution of (3.1.28) with $f \in H^2(\mathbb{T}^2)$. Then the low modes are determining, i.e. $\lim_{t\to\infty} |\mathsf{P}_{\kappa}\delta\omega(t)|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)} =$ 0 implies that $\lim_{t\to\infty} |\delta\omega(t)|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)} = 0$, if any of the following hold for constants c_6 , c_7 , c_8 and ε sufficiently small:

(a) if \overline{f} satisfies (3.3.1) and

$$\kappa/\kappa_0 > c_6 \max\{(\varepsilon M_0)^{1/4}, (\kappa_f/\kappa_0)^{3/8} \mathcal{G}_0^{1/4}\};$$
(3.4.1)

(b) if \overline{f} satisfies (3.3.2) and

$$\kappa/\kappa_0 > c_7 \max\{(\varepsilon M_0)^{1/4}, \mathcal{G}_0^{(2s+5)/(8s+14)}\}, or$$
 (3.4.2)

(c) if \overline{f} satisfies (3.3.3) and

$$\kappa/\kappa_0 > c_8 \max\{(\varepsilon M_0)^{1/4}, F_{\gamma}(\nu_0^{-1/2} \mathcal{G}_0)^{3/8} \mathcal{G}_0^{1/4}\},$$
(3.4.3)

where the function F_{γ} is defined in (3.4.40) below.

The smallness requirement on ε is given in (3.4.28), (3.4.35) and (3.4.41) below for f satisfying (3.3.1), (3.3.2) and (3.3.3) respectively. Technically these requirements are not essential and can be removed in exchange for adding another ε -dependent term in the bounds (3.4.1), (3.4.2) and (3.4.3); we have chosen to include them purely to simplify the statement of the theorem.

We note also that for large u, $F_{\gamma}(u) \approx \log u/(2\gamma)$, so that the last term in (3.4.3) scales (up to a logarithm) as $\mathcal{G}_0^{1/4}$.

Our proof below suggests that the $(\varepsilon M_0)^{1/4}$ bounds can be thought of as an effect of the non-zonal \tilde{f} and the \mathcal{G}_0 bounds as arising from the zonal \bar{f} . For small ε , one may therefore consider the rotating Navier–Stokes equations as a combination of a one-dimensional (zonal) "average" and a two-dimensional small (non-zonal) noise, which agrees with the physical expectations [6]. It is therefore unlikely that, whilst using our same approach, a bound with a smaller power of \mathcal{G}_0 could be obtained.

Finally it is worth noting that since we require s > 5/2 in order to apply Lemma 12, the worst case dependence we have is of the order $\mathcal{G}_0^{5/17}$.

Proof. We begin by multiplying (3.1.28) by $\delta \omega^{>}$ in L^{2} to obtain

$$(\partial_t \delta\omega, \delta\omega^{>}) + (\partial(\psi^{\sharp}, \delta\omega), \delta\omega^{>}) + (\partial(\delta\psi, \omega), \delta\omega^{>}) + \frac{\kappa_0}{\varepsilon} (\partial_x \delta\psi, \delta\omega^{>}) = (\mu\Delta\delta\omega, \delta\omega^{>}).$$
(3.4.4)

Fourier expansion shows that the κ_0/ε term is 0:

$$\frac{\kappa_0}{\varepsilon} (\partial_x \delta \psi, \delta \omega^{>}) = \frac{\kappa_0}{\varepsilon} \sum_{|\mathbf{k}| > \kappa} i k_1 \delta \psi_{\mathbf{k}} \overline{\delta \omega_{\mathbf{k}}}$$
$$= -\frac{\kappa_0}{\varepsilon} \sum_{|\mathbf{k}| > \kappa} -i k_1 |\mathbf{k}|^2 \delta \psi_{\mathbf{k}} \overline{\delta \psi_{\mathbf{k}}}$$
$$= 0 \qquad \qquad \text{by symmetry,} \qquad (3.4.5)$$

so that (3.4.4) becomes

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}|\delta\omega^{>}|^{2} + \mu|\nabla\delta\omega^{>}|^{2} = -(\partial(\psi^{\sharp},\delta\omega),\delta\omega^{>}) - (\partial(\delta\psi^{<},\omega),\delta\omega^{>}) - (\partial(\delta\psi^{>},\omega),\delta\omega^{>}).$$
(3.4.6)

For the first term on the right hand side, (3.1.17) implies that $(\partial(\psi^{\sharp}, \delta\omega^{>}), \delta\omega^{>}) = 0$, so

$$(\partial(\psi^{\sharp}, \delta\omega), \delta\omega^{>}) = (\partial(\psi^{\sharp}, \delta\omega^{<}), \delta\omega^{>}).$$
(3.4.7)

We split $\omega = \bar{\omega} + \tilde{\omega}$ to write the last term of (3.4.6) as

$$(\partial(\delta\psi^{>},\omega),\delta\omega^{>}) = (\partial(\delta\psi^{>},\bar{\omega}),\delta\omega^{>}) + (\partial(\delta\psi^{>},\tilde{\omega}),\delta\omega^{>}).$$
(3.4.8)

Using (3.2.8), the first term on the right hand side of this becomes

$$(\partial(\delta\psi^{>},\bar{\omega}),\delta\omega^{>}) = (\partial(\delta\tilde{\psi}^{>},\bar{\omega}),\delta\tilde{\omega}^{>}).$$
(3.4.9)

In order to apply the bounds we obtained in Lemma 12, we write $\bar{\omega} = \bar{\omega}^{< f} + \bar{\omega}^{> f}$, where $\bar{\omega}^{< f} = \mathsf{P}_{\kappa_f} \bar{\omega}$ and $\bar{\omega}^{> f} = \bar{\omega} - \bar{\omega}^{< f}$. Now (3.4.9) becomes

$$(\partial(\delta\tilde{\psi}^{>},\bar{\omega}),\delta\tilde{\omega}^{>}) = (\partial(\delta\tilde{\psi}^{>},\bar{\omega}^{< f}),\delta\tilde{\omega}^{>}) + (\partial(\delta\tilde{\psi}^{>},\bar{\omega}^{> f}),\delta\tilde{\omega}^{>}).$$
(3.4.10)

We thus expand (3.4.6) as

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} |\delta\omega^{>}|^{2} + \mu |\nabla\delta\omega^{>}|^{2}
= -\left(\partial(\psi^{\sharp}, \delta\omega^{<}), \delta\omega^{>}\right) - \left(\partial(\delta\psi^{<}, \omega), \delta\omega^{>}\right) - \left(\partial(\delta\psi^{>}, \tilde{\omega}), \delta\omega^{>}\right)
- \left(\partial(\delta\tilde{\psi}^{>}, \bar{\omega}^{}\right) - \left(\partial(\delta\tilde{\psi}^{>}, \bar{\omega}^{>f}), \delta\tilde{\omega}^{>}\right).$$
(3.4.11)

We bound the first two terms on the right hand side by

$$\begin{aligned} |(\partial(\psi^{\sharp}, \delta\omega^{<}), \delta\omega^{>})| &= |(\partial(\delta\omega^{>}, \psi^{\sharp}), \delta\omega^{<})| & \text{by (3.1.18)} \\ &\leq |\nabla\psi^{\sharp}|_{\infty} |\nabla\delta\omega^{>}|_{2} |\delta\omega^{<}|_{2} & \text{by Hölder} \\ &\leq \frac{4}{\mu} |\nabla\psi^{\sharp}|_{\infty}^{2} |\delta\omega^{<}|_{2}^{2} + \frac{\mu}{16} |\nabla\delta\omega^{>}|_{2}^{2} & \text{by Young,} \quad (3.4.12) \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} |(\partial(\delta\psi^{<},\omega),\delta\omega^{>})| &= |(\partial(\delta\omega^{>},\delta\psi^{<}),\omega)| \\ &\leq |\nabla\delta\omega^{>}|_{2}|\nabla\delta\psi^{<}|_{\infty}|\omega|_{2} \\ &\leq \frac{4}{\mu}|\nabla\delta\psi^{<}|_{\infty}^{2}|\omega|_{2}^{2} + \frac{\mu}{16}|\nabla\delta\omega^{>}|_{2}^{2}. \end{aligned}$$
(3.4.13)

The third term on the right hand side of (3.4.11) can be bounded as

$$\begin{aligned} |(\partial(\delta\psi^{>},\tilde{\omega}),\delta\omega^{>})| &\leq |\nabla\delta\psi^{>}|_{\infty}|\nabla\tilde{\omega}|_{2}|\delta\omega^{>}|_{2} \\ &\leq c |\nabla\delta\psi^{>}|^{1/2}|\nabla\delta\omega^{>}|^{1/2}|\delta\omega^{>}||\nabla\tilde{\omega}| \qquad \text{by (2.2.6)} \\ &\leq \frac{c}{\kappa}|\nabla\delta\omega^{>}||\delta\omega^{>}||\nabla\tilde{\omega}| \qquad \text{by (3.1.32)} \\ &\leq \frac{\mu}{16}|\nabla\delta\omega^{>}|^{2} + \frac{c}{\mu\kappa^{2}}|\nabla\tilde{\omega}|^{2}|\delta\omega^{>}|^{2}, \qquad (3.4.14) \end{aligned}$$

and the fourth term as

$$\begin{aligned} |(\partial(\delta\tilde{\psi}^{>},\bar{\omega}^{< f}),\delta\tilde{\omega}^{>})| &= |(\partial(\delta\tilde{\psi}^{>},\nabla\bar{\omega}^{< f}),\nabla\delta\tilde{\psi}^{>})| \qquad \text{by integration by parts} \\ &\leq c \,|\Delta\bar{\omega}^{< f}|_{\infty}|\nabla\delta\psi^{>}|_{2}^{2} \\ &\leq c \,\frac{\kappa_{0}^{1/2}}{\kappa^{2}}|\Delta\bar{\omega}^{< f}|^{1/2}|\nabla^{3}\bar{\omega}^{< f}|^{1/2}|\delta\omega^{>}|^{2} \qquad \text{by (3.1.32) and (2.2.5)} \\ &\leq c \,\frac{(\kappa_{0}\kappa_{f}^{3})^{1/2}}{\kappa^{3}}|\nabla\bar{\omega}^{< f}|\,|\delta\omega^{>}|\,|\nabla\delta\omega^{>}| \qquad \text{by (3.1.33)} \\ &\leq \frac{\mu}{16}|\nabla\delta\omega^{>}|^{2} + c \,\frac{\kappa_{0}\kappa_{f}^{3}}{\mu\kappa^{6}}|\nabla\omega|^{2}|\delta\omega^{>}|^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

We bound the final term of (3.4.11) by

$$\begin{split} |(\partial(\delta\psi^{>},\bar{\omega}^{>f}),\delta\omega^{>})| &= |(\partial(\delta\omega^{>},\delta\psi^{>}),\bar{\omega}^{>f})| \\ &\leq |\nabla\delta\omega^{>}|_{2}|\nabla\delta\psi^{>}|_{2}|\bar{\omega}^{>f}|_{\infty} \\ &\leq c\,\kappa_{0}^{1/2}|\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^{1/2}|\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^{1/2}|\nabla\delta\omega^{>}||\nabla\delta\psi^{>}| \qquad \text{by (2.2.5)} \\ &\leq c\left(\frac{\kappa_{0}}{\kappa_{f}}\right)^{1/2}|\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}||\nabla\delta\omega^{>}||\nabla\delta\psi^{>}| \qquad \text{by (3.1.32)} \\ &\leq \frac{c}{\kappa}\left(\frac{\kappa_{0}}{\kappa_{f}}\right)^{1/2}|\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}||\nabla\delta\omega^{>}||\delta\omega^{>}| \qquad \text{by (3.1.32)} \\ &\leq \frac{\mu}{16}|\nabla\delta\omega^{>}|^{2} + \frac{c}{\mu\kappa^{2}}\frac{\kappa_{0}}{\kappa_{f}}|\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^{2}|\delta\omega^{>}|^{2} \qquad \text{by Young.} \quad (3.4.16) \end{split}$$

Collating these and rearranging, we arrive at

$$\begin{split} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} |\delta\omega^{>}|^{2} + \mu |\nabla\delta\omega^{>}|^{2} &\leq \frac{8}{\mu} |\nabla\psi^{\sharp}|_{\infty}^{2} |\delta\omega^{<}|^{2} + \frac{8}{\mu} |\nabla\delta\psi^{<}|_{\infty}^{2} |\omega|^{2} + \frac{c}{\mu\kappa^{2}} |\nabla\tilde{\omega}|^{2} |\delta\omega^{>}|^{2} \\ &+ c \frac{\kappa_{0}\kappa_{f}^{3}}{\mu\kappa^{6}} |\nabla\omega|^{2} |\delta\omega^{>}|^{2} + \frac{c\kappa_{0}}{\mu\kappa^{2}\kappa_{f}} |\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^{2} |\delta\omega^{>}|^{2}. \end{split}$$

Applying (3.1.32) on the $|\nabla \delta \omega^{>}|^{2}$ term on the left hand side and rearranging gives

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} |\delta\omega^{>}|^{2} + |\delta\omega^{>}|^{2} \left(\mu\kappa^{2} - \frac{c}{\mu\kappa^{2}} |\nabla\tilde{\omega}|^{2} - c\frac{\kappa_{0}\kappa_{f}^{3}}{\mu\kappa^{6}} |\nabla\omega|^{2} - \frac{c\kappa_{0}}{\mu\kappa^{2}\kappa_{f}} |\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^{2}\right)$$

$$\leq \frac{8}{\mu} |\nabla\psi^{\sharp}|_{\infty}^{2} |\delta\omega^{<}|^{2} + \frac{8}{\mu} |\nabla\delta\psi^{<}|_{\infty}^{2} |\omega|^{2}.$$
(3.4.17)

We now apply Lemma 8, with

$$\rho = \mu \kappa^{2} - \frac{c}{\mu \kappa^{2}} |\nabla \tilde{\omega}|^{2} - \frac{c \kappa_{0} \kappa_{f}^{3}}{\mu \kappa^{6}} |\nabla \omega|^{2} - \frac{c \kappa_{0}}{\mu \kappa^{2} \kappa_{f}} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^{2},$$

$$\sigma = \frac{8}{\mu} (|\nabla \psi^{\sharp}|_{\infty}^{2} |\delta \omega^{<}|^{2} + |\nabla \delta \psi^{<}|_{\infty}^{2} |\omega|^{2}),$$

$$\xi = |\delta \omega^{>}|^{2},$$
(3.4.18)

i.e. ρ is the bracket on the left hand side of (3.4.17) and σ is the right hand side. In order to validate that the hypothesis of the lemma concerning σ is met, we quote the following result from [7], which give bounds on the derivatives of the vorticity:

$$|\nabla^m \omega(t)|^2_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)} + \mu \int_0^t |\nabla^{m+1} \omega|^2_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)} \mathrm{e}^{\nu_0(\tau-t)} \,\mathrm{d}\tau \le c(m) \frac{\mathcal{G}_m^2 (1+c'(m)\nu_0^2 \mathcal{G}_0^2)^m}{(\mu\kappa_0)^{2m-2}} \quad (3.4.19)$$

for all $t \geq T_m(|\boldsymbol{v}(0)|, |\nabla^{m-1}f|; \mu)$; we note that the bounds themselves are independent of the initial data. Thus the hypothesis concerning σ is met because $|\nabla \omega|$ is bounded when integrated over time and $|\delta \omega^{<}(t)| \to 0$ as $t \to \infty$ by construction (since finite-dimensional norms are equivalent).

The hypothesis on ξ holds since the regularity of the 2D Navier–Stokes equations directly implies that $|\omega|$ has a continuous derivative. We therefore need the hypothesis on ρ to be fulfilled, which would follow from

$$\limsup_{t \to \infty} \int_t^{t+1} \left(\frac{1}{\mu \kappa^2} |\nabla \tilde{\omega}|^2 + \frac{\kappa_0 \kappa_f^3}{\mu \kappa^6} |\nabla \omega|^2 + \frac{\kappa_0}{\mu \kappa^2 \kappa_f} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \right) \mathrm{d}\tau < c\mu \kappa^2, \qquad (3.4.20)$$

which in turn is implied by

$$\limsup_{t \to \infty} \int_t^{t+1} |\nabla \tilde{\omega}|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\tau < c\,\mu^2 \kappa^4,\tag{3.4.21}$$

$$\limsup_{t \to \infty} \int_t^{t+1} |\nabla \omega|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\tau < \frac{c\mu^2 \kappa^8}{\kappa_0 \kappa_f^3}, \qquad \text{and} \qquad (3.4.22)$$

$$\limsup_{t \to \infty} \int_t^{t+1} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\tau < c\,\mu^2 \kappa^4 \frac{\kappa_f}{\kappa_0}.$$
(3.4.23)

For the first of these conditions, we recall that (3.2.9) implies

$$\int_{t}^{t+1} |\nabla \tilde{\omega}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\tau \le \varepsilon M_0 / \nu_0,$$

so (3.4.21) follows when

$$\kappa/\kappa_0 > c \left(\varepsilon M_0/\nu_0^3\right)^{1/4}.$$
 (3.4.24)

By (3.4.19), the second condition (3.4.22) is implied when

$$c \mathcal{G}_0^2 \nu_0 < \mu^2 \kappa^8 / (\kappa_0 \kappa_f^3) \iff \kappa / \kappa_0 > c \nu_0^{-1/8} (\kappa_f / \kappa_0)^{3/8} \mathcal{G}_0^{1/4}.$$
 (3.4.25)

In order for (3.4.23) to be fulfilled, we first consider the case when \bar{f} satisfies (3.3.1). Recalling (3.3.4), we apply Lemma 9, so that

$$\int_{t}^{t+1} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\tau \le c \, (\varepsilon M_0)^2 / \nu_0^3, \qquad (3.4.26)$$

i.e. (3.4.23) is met when

$$\kappa/\kappa_0 > c (\varepsilon M_0)^{1/2} \nu_0^{-5/4} (\kappa_0/\kappa_f)^{1/4}.$$
 (3.4.27)

This bound is weaker than that of (3.4.24) when

$$\varepsilon M_0 \le c \,\nu_0^2(\kappa_f/\kappa_0),\tag{3.4.28}$$

which we will assume. Combining (3.4.24), (3.4.25) and (3.4.27), we arrive at (3.4.1). When \bar{f} instead satisfies (3.3.2), we apply Lemma 9 to (3.3.5) to obtain

$$\int_{t}^{t+1} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\tau \le c \, (\varepsilon M_0)^2 / \nu_0^3 + c \, c_{\zeta}(s) \nu_0 (\kappa_0 / \kappa_f)^{2s+1} \, \mathcal{G}_0^2 =: I_1 \tag{3.4.29}$$

where $1/c_{\zeta}(s) := (2s+1)\zeta(2s+2)$. Thus (3.4.23) would be satisfied when $I_1 < c \,\mu^2 \kappa^4(\kappa_f/\kappa_0)$. Analogously to what we did to (3.4.20), this is implied by

$$(\kappa/\kappa_0)^4 > c \left(\varepsilon M_0\right)^2 \nu_0^{-5}(\kappa_0/\kappa_f), \qquad \text{and} \qquad (3.4.30)$$

$$(\kappa/\kappa_0)^4 > c \, c_{\zeta}(s) \, \nu_0^{-1} (\kappa_0/\kappa_f)^{2s+2} \, \mathcal{G}_0^2. \tag{3.4.31}$$

Since both (3.4.22) and (3.4.31) must be met, we equate these bounds to find

$$(\kappa_f/\kappa_0)^{2s+7/2} = c \, c_{\zeta}(s) \nu_0^{-1/2} \, \mathcal{G}_0 \tag{3.4.32}$$

which fixes κ_f , turning both (3.4.22) and (3.4.31) to

$$\kappa/\kappa_0 > c \left(c_{\zeta}(s)^{3/2} \nu_0^{-(s+5/2)} \mathcal{G}_0^{2s+5}\right)^{1/(8s+14)}.$$
 (3.4.33)

Using κ_f determined in (3.4.32), (3.4.30) becomes

$$\kappa/\kappa_0 > c_s (\varepsilon M_0)^{1/2} \nu_0^{-5/4 + 1/(16s + 28)} \mathcal{G}_0^{-1/(8s + 14)}$$
 (3.4.34)

where $c_s = c c_{\zeta}(s)^{-1/(8s+14)}$, noting that since we require s > 5/2, the exponent of \mathcal{G}_0 lies between -1/34 and 0, giving a weak dependence. This bound is dominated by that of (3.4.24) when

$$\varepsilon M_0 \le c c_s^{-4} \nu_0^{2-1/(4s+7)} \mathcal{G}_0^{2/(4s+7)}.$$
 (3.4.35)

Assuming this, (3.4.2) follows from (3.4.24) and (3.4.33).

Finally, when \bar{f} satisfies (3.3.3), Lemma 9 and (3.3.6) imply that

$$\int_{t}^{t+1} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\tau \le c \, (\varepsilon M_0)^2 / \nu_0^3 + c \, \nu_0 \, \mathrm{e}^{2\gamma(1-\kappa_f/\kappa_0)} \, \mathcal{G}_0^2. \tag{3.4.36}$$

As in the previous case, (3.4.23) would be satisfied if the following both hold:

$$(\kappa/\kappa_0)^4 > c \left(\varepsilon M_0\right)^2 \nu_0^{-5}(\kappa_0/\kappa_f), \qquad \text{and} \qquad (3.4.37)$$

$$(\kappa/\kappa_0)^4 > c \,\nu_0^{-1} \mathrm{e}^{2\gamma(1-\kappa_f/\kappa_0)}(\kappa_0/\kappa_f) \,\mathcal{G}_0^2.$$
(3.4.38)

Equating (3.4.25) and (3.4.38) gives

$$(\kappa_f/\kappa_0)^{5/2} e^{2\gamma(\kappa_f/\kappa_0 - 1)} = c_\gamma \nu_0^{-1/2} \mathcal{G}_0, \qquad (3.4.39)$$

which can be inverted to give

$$\kappa_f/\kappa_0 = F_{\gamma}(\mathcal{G}_0/\nu_0^{1/2}) \quad \text{where} \quad F_{\gamma}^{-1}(y) = y^{5/2} \mathrm{e}^{2\gamma(y-1)}/c_{\gamma}.$$
 (3.4.40)

With κ_f thus fixed, (3.4.24) would dominate (3.4.37) when

$$\varepsilon M_0 \le c \,\nu_0^2(\kappa_f/\kappa_0). \tag{3.4.41}$$

Assuming this, (3.4.3) follows from (3.4.24) and (3.4.25).

Chapter 4

Determining modes on the sphere

In this chapter, we state and prove our theorem concerning the number of determining modes on the sphere. We begin by introducing the necessary definitions and properties of functions over S^2 in Section 4.1, followed by deriving the spherical equivalent of Lemma 12 in Section 4.3. With these results established, we prove our theorem in Section 4.4.

One could argue that due to the more "realistic" nature of the domain, this chapter is more useful in practical applications. We also note, however, that despite the β -plane of the previous chapter being an approximation of the sphere, the results of the two chapters are of the same order, supporting our argument that the β -plane is a good approximation for our purposes.

4.1 Definitions and inequalities on the sphere

We begin by defining our coordinate system. The unit sphere is defined by $S^2 := \{(\theta, \phi, r = 1) : \theta \in [0, \pi], \phi \in [0, 2\pi)\}$, where θ is the polar angle or latitude (with $\theta = 0$ corresponding to the north pole) and ϕ is the azimuth angle or longitude. The corresponding Jacobian (determinant) is $\sin \theta$, so that the integral of a scalar function u over the sphere is

$$\int_{S^2} u \, \mathrm{d}A := \int_0^\pi \int_0^{2\pi} u(\theta, \phi) \sin \theta \, \mathrm{d}\phi \, \mathrm{d}\theta.$$

We recall that when there is no room for confusion, we use the notation $|\cdot| = |\cdot|_{L^2}$, $|\cdot|_p = |\cdot|_{L^p}$ and $(\cdot, \cdot) = (\cdot, \cdot)_{L^2}$.

The spherical gradient, Laplacian, curl and covariant derivative are given by

$$\nabla u = \partial_{\theta} u \, \boldsymbol{e}_{\theta} + \frac{1}{\sin \theta} \, \partial_{\phi} u \, \boldsymbol{e}_{\phi},$$

$$\Delta u = \frac{1}{\sin^2 \theta} \, \partial_{\phi\phi}^2 u + \frac{1}{\sin \theta} \, \partial_{\theta} (\sin \theta \, \partial_{\theta} u),$$

$$(\nabla \times \boldsymbol{u}) \cdot \boldsymbol{e}_r = (\partial_{\theta} (\sin \theta \, u_{\phi}) - \partial_{\phi} u_{\theta}) / \sin \theta) \, \boldsymbol{e}_r,$$

$$\nabla_{\boldsymbol{u}} \boldsymbol{v} = (\boldsymbol{u} \cdot \nabla) \boldsymbol{v}$$

$$= (u_{\theta} \, \partial_{\theta} v_{\theta} + u_{\phi} \partial_{\phi} v_{\theta} / \sin \theta) \, \boldsymbol{e}_{\theta} + (u_{\theta} \, \partial_{\theta} v_{\phi} + u_{\phi} \, \partial_{\phi} v_{\phi} / \sin \theta) \, \boldsymbol{e}_{\phi},$$

where $\mathbf{e}_{\theta} = \cos\theta\cos\phi\,\mathbf{e}_x + \cos\theta\sin\phi\,\mathbf{e}_y - \sin\theta\,\mathbf{e}_z$, $\mathbf{e}_{\phi} = -\sin\phi\,\mathbf{e}_x + \cos\phi\,\mathbf{e}_y$ and $\mathbf{e}_r = \sin\theta\cos\phi\,\mathbf{e}_x + \sin\theta\sin\phi\,\mathbf{e}_y + \cos\theta\,\mathbf{e}_z$ are the unit vectors in the corresponding directions. Thus integration by parts leads to the following identity:

$$(u, -\Delta u)_{L^2} = -\int_0^\pi \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{1}{\sin \theta} \, u \, \overline{\partial_{\phi\phi}^2 u} \, \mathrm{d}\phi \, \mathrm{d}\theta - \int_0^\pi \int_0^{2\pi} u \, \overline{\partial_\theta(\sin \theta \, \partial_\theta u)} \, \mathrm{d}\phi \, \mathrm{d}\theta$$
$$= \int_0^\pi \int_0^{2\pi} \frac{1}{\sin \theta} |\partial_\phi u|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\phi \, \mathrm{d}\theta + \int_0^\pi \int_0^{2\pi} \sin \theta |\partial_\theta u|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\phi \, \mathrm{d}\theta$$
$$= |\nabla u|_{L^2}^2 = |(-\Delta)^{1/2} u|_{L^2}^2. \tag{4.1.1}$$

The Jacobian is given by

$$\partial(\psi,\omega) = \frac{1}{\sin\theta} (\partial_{\theta}\psi \,\partial_{\phi}\omega - \partial_{\phi}\psi \,\partial_{\theta}\omega), \qquad (4.1.2)$$

which, as in the planar case, satisfies the following properties:

$$(\partial(a,b),c) = \int_0^{\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} (-\partial_{\phi}(a \partial_{\theta} b) + \partial_{\theta}(a \partial_{\phi} b)) c \, \mathrm{d}\phi \, \mathrm{d}\theta$$

=
$$\int_0^{\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} (a \partial_{\theta} b \partial_{\phi} c - a \partial_{\phi} b \partial_{\theta} c) \, \mathrm{d}\phi \, \mathrm{d}\theta \quad \text{by integration by parts}$$

=
$$(\partial(b,c),a) = (\partial(c,a),b) \qquad \text{by symmetry}, \qquad (4.1.3)$$

and

$$(\partial(a,b),b) = (\partial(b,b),a)$$
 by (4.1.3)
= 0 by (4.1.2), (4.1.4)

for all real a, b and c such that their integrals over S^2 vanish and the expressions above are defined. We also note that for a, b such that $\partial_{\phi}a = \partial_{\phi}b = 0$, the Jacobian simplifies to

$$\partial(a,b) = \frac{1}{\sin\theta} (\partial_{\theta} a \, \partial_{\phi} b - \partial_{\phi} a \, \partial_{\theta} b) = 0. \tag{4.1.5}$$

Analogous to Fourier expansion in the planar case, we expand u using the spherical harmonics Y_{lm} , following the conventions given in [21]:

$$u(\theta, \phi, t) = \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-l}^{l} u_{lm}(t) Y_{lm}(\theta, \phi), \qquad (4.1.6)$$

where Y_{lm} is defined by

$$Y_{lm}(\theta,\phi) = \left(\frac{(l-m)!(2l+1)}{4\pi(l+m)!}\right)^{1/2} e^{im\phi} P_l^m(\cos\theta)$$
(4.1.7)

and the associated Legendre polynomials ${\cal P}_l^m$ are solutions to

$$(1-x^2)\frac{\mathrm{d}^2}{\mathrm{d}x^2}P_l^m(x) - 2x\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}x}P_l^m(x) + \left(l(l+1) - \frac{m^2}{1-x^2}\right)P_l^m(x) = 0.$$

The coefficients u_{lm} of (4.1.6) are given by

$$u_{lm}(t) := \int_{S^2} u(\theta, \phi, t) \overline{Y_{lm}}(\theta, \phi) \, \mathrm{d}A,$$

where (⁻) denotes the complex conjugate. The operator $-\Delta$ has Y_{lm} as its eigenfunctions with corresponding eigenvalues l(l+1):

$$-\Delta Y_{lm} = l(l+1)Y_{lm}, \tag{4.1.8}$$

which implies that Y_{lm} form an orthonormal basis of $L^2(S^2)$ (see [22]). Hence this justifies the expansion in (4.1.6), because of the completeness and orthonormality of

 Y_{lm} :

$$\int_0^{\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} Y_{l_1m_1}(\theta,\phi) \overline{Y_{l_2m_2}}(\theta,\phi) \sin\theta \,\mathrm{d}\phi \,\mathrm{d}\theta = \delta_{l_1,l_2} \delta_{m_1,m_2}, \tag{4.1.9}$$

where δ is the Kronecker delta.

By definition, one immediately sees that

$$\partial_{\phi}\omega = \partial_{\phi}\sum_{l=0}^{\infty}\sum_{m=-l}^{l}\omega_{lm}Y_{lm} = \sum_{l=0}^{\infty}\sum_{m=-l}^{l}\omega_{lm}\partial_{\phi}Y_{lm} = \sum_{l=0}^{\infty}\sum_{m=-l}^{l}\mathrm{i}m\,\omega_{lm}Y_{lm}.$$

Using Y_{lm} and (4.1.9), the inner product becomes

$$(u,v) = \int_0^\pi \int_0^{2\pi} \sum_{l=0}^\infty \sum_{m=-l}^l u_{lm} Y_{lm} \sum_{l=0}^\infty \sum_{m=-l}^l \overline{v_{lm}} \overline{Y_{lm}} \sin \theta \, \mathrm{d}\phi \, \mathrm{d}\theta$$
$$= \sum_{l=0}^\infty \sum_{m=-l}^l u_{lm} \overline{v_{lm}}$$
(4.1.10)

for $u, v \in L^2(S^2)$, analogous to the Cartesian case. By (4.1.1) and (4.1.8), this implies that

$$|\nabla u|^2 = (u, -\Delta u) = \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-l}^{l} l(l+1)|u_{lm}|^2.$$
(4.1.11)

Using spherical expansion, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} |\partial_{\theta\phi}^{2}v|^{2} &\leq |(-\Delta)^{1/2}\partial_{\phi}v|^{2} \\ &= -\int_{S^{2}}\partial_{\phi}v \cdot \overline{\Delta\partial_{\phi}v} \sin\theta \,\mathrm{d}\phi \,\mathrm{d}\theta \qquad \text{by integration by parts} \\ &= \sum_{l=0}^{\infty}\sum_{m=-l}^{l}m^{2}|v_{lm}|^{2}\,l(l+1) \qquad \text{by the orthogonality of }Y_{lm} \\ &\leq \sum_{l=0}^{\infty}\sum_{m=-l}^{l}l^{2}(l+1)^{2}|v_{lm}|^{2} = |\Delta v|^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.1.12)$$

Finally, to conclude our collection of basic spherical properties, the Poincaré constant κ_0 is exactly $\sqrt{2}$ by definition:

$$\kappa_0 := \inf_u \frac{|\nabla u|}{|u|} = \inf_u \left(\left(\sum_{l=0}^\infty \sum_{m=-l}^l l(l+1) |u_{lm}|^2 \right) / \left(\sum_{l=0}^\infty \sum_{m=-l}^l |u_{lm}|^2 \right) \right)^{1/2} = \sqrt{2}.$$

4.2 Statement of the problem

We recall the Navier–Stokes equations on the rotating sphere:

$$\partial_t \boldsymbol{v} + \nabla_{\boldsymbol{v}} \boldsymbol{v} + \frac{2}{\varepsilon} \cos \theta \, \boldsymbol{v}^{\perp} + \nabla p = \mu \Delta \boldsymbol{v} + f_{\boldsymbol{v}}, \qquad (4.2.1)$$
$$\nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{v} := \frac{1}{\sin \theta} (\partial_{\theta} (\sin \theta \, v_{\theta}) + \partial_{\phi} v_{\phi}) = 0,$$

where $1/\varepsilon$ is the angular velocity at which the sphere rotates about a fixed axis and v^{\perp} is v rotated by $\pi/2$.

By Hodge's decomposition theorem (see [19]), \boldsymbol{v} can be written as

$$\boldsymbol{v} = \nabla \varphi + \nabla^{\perp} \psi, \qquad (4.2.2)$$

where φ and ψ are scalars. Taking the divergence of (4.2.2) gives

$$0 = \nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{v} = \nabla \cdot \nabla \varphi + \nabla \cdot \nabla^{\perp} \psi$$

= $\Delta \varphi$, (4.2.3)

and by expansion in spherical harmonics,

$$\Delta\varphi(\theta,\phi,t) = -\sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-l}^{l} l(l+1)\varphi_{lm}(t)Y_{lm}(\theta,\phi) = 0, \qquad (4.2.4)$$

which implies that $\varphi_{lm}(t) = 0$ for $l \neq 0$. Thus $\varphi(\theta, \phi, t) = \varphi_{00}(t)Y_{00}$, implying that $\nabla \varphi = 0$.

Now, taking the curl (i.e. $\nabla^{\perp} \cdot)$ of (4.2.2) gives

$$\omega := \nabla^{\perp} \cdot \boldsymbol{v} = \nabla^{\perp} \cdot \nabla^{\perp} \psi = \Delta \psi \qquad (4.2.5)$$

(where we fix ψ uniquely by requiring that $\int_{S^2} \psi = 0$). Therefore, any sufficiently smooth and divergence-free \boldsymbol{v} can be written as $\boldsymbol{v} = \nabla^{\perp} \psi = \nabla^{\perp} \Delta^{-1} \omega$.

Turning to (4.2.1), we take its curl to obtain the vorticity form:

$$\partial_t \omega + \partial(\psi, \omega) + \frac{2}{\varepsilon} \partial_\phi \psi = \mu \Delta \omega + f,$$
 (4.2.6)

where $f := \nabla^{\perp} \cdot f_v$ necessarily has 0 integral over S^2 .

We define the determining modes on the sphere analogously to the planar case. As in (3.1.28), we consider two solutions ω , ω^{\sharp} (with corresponding streamfunctions ψ , ψ^{\sharp}) of (4.2.1), with the same f but different initial conditions:

$$\partial_t \omega + \partial(\psi, \omega) + \frac{2}{\varepsilon} \partial_\phi \psi = \mu \Delta \omega + f,$$
 (4.2.7)

$$\partial_t \omega^{\sharp} + \partial(\psi^{\sharp}, \omega^{\sharp}) + \frac{2}{\varepsilon} \partial_{\phi} \psi^{\sharp} = \mu \Delta \omega^{\sharp} + f.$$
(4.2.8)

By defining $\delta \omega := \omega - \omega^{\sharp}$ and $\delta \psi := \psi - \psi^{\sharp}$, we have

$$\partial(\psi,\omega) - \partial(\psi^{\sharp},\omega^{\sharp}) = \frac{1}{\sin\theta} \left(\partial_{\theta} \psi^{\sharp} \partial_{\phi} \delta\omega - \partial_{\phi} \psi^{\sharp} \partial_{\theta} \delta\omega + \partial_{\theta} \delta\psi \partial_{\phi} \omega - \partial_{\phi} \delta\psi \partial_{\theta} \omega \right)$$
$$= \partial(\psi^{\sharp},\delta\omega) + \partial(\delta\psi,\omega). \tag{4.2.9}$$

Subtracting (4.2.8) from (4.2.7) thus gives

$$\partial_t \delta \omega + \partial(\psi^{\sharp}, \delta \omega) + \partial(\delta \psi, \omega) + \frac{2}{\varepsilon} \partial_{\phi} \delta \psi = \mu \Delta \delta \omega.$$
 (4.2.10)

Then, by fixing a threshold wavenumber $\kappa \geq \kappa_0$, we define P_{κ} as the L^2 projection to lower modes:

$$\delta\omega^{<}(\theta,\phi,t) := \mathsf{P}_{\kappa}\delta\omega(\theta,\phi,t) := \sum_{l\leq\kappa}\sum_{m=-l}^{l}\delta\omega_{lm}(t)Y_{lm}(\theta,\phi), \qquad (4.2.11)$$

and the projection to higher modes by

$$\delta\omega^{>}(\theta,\phi,t) := \delta\omega(\theta,\phi,t) - \delta\omega^{<}(\theta,\phi,t) = \sum_{l>\kappa} \sum_{m=-l}^{l} \delta\omega_{lm}(t) Y_{lm}(\theta,\phi).$$
(4.2.12)

Using the definition of $\mathsf{P}_{\kappa},$ we obtain the following Poincaré-type inequalities:

$$|\delta\omega^{>}|^{2} = \sum_{l>\kappa} \sum_{m=-l}^{l} |\delta\omega_{lm}|^{2} \le \sum_{l>\kappa} \sum_{m=-l}^{l} \frac{l(l+1)}{\kappa^{2}} |\delta\omega_{lm}|^{2} = \frac{1}{\kappa^{2}} |\nabla\delta\omega^{>}|^{2},$$

which gives

$$\kappa |\delta\omega^{>}| \le |\nabla\delta\omega^{>}|, \tag{4.2.13}$$

and

$$|\nabla\delta\omega^{<}|^{2} = \sum_{l\leq\kappa}\sum_{m=-l}^{l}l(l+1)|\delta\omega_{lm}|^{2} \leq \kappa(\kappa+1)\sum_{l\leq\kappa}\sum_{m=-l}^{l}|\delta\omega_{lm}|^{2} = \kappa(\kappa+1)|\delta\omega^{<}|^{2},$$

leading to

$$|\nabla\delta\omega^{<}|^{2} \le c_{?} \,\kappa^{2} |\delta\omega^{<}|^{2}, \qquad (4.2.14)$$

where $c_? = 1 + \kappa_0^{-1} = 1 + 1/\sqrt{2}$.

Our aim for this chapter is to obtain an improved bound on the existing general case result (3.1.34) on the rotating sphere, i.e. to find a tighter bound on the threshold wavenumber κ such that $|\delta\omega^{<}(t)| \to 0$ implies $|\delta\omega(t)| \to 0$. Analogously to Chapter 3, we separate the vorticity into its zonal (zero frequency) and non-zonal components, which we define by

$$\bar{\omega}(\theta,t) := \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \omega(\theta,\phi,t) \,\mathrm{d}\phi, \qquad \text{and} \qquad (4.2.15)$$

$$\tilde{\omega}(\theta,\phi,t) := \omega(\theta,\phi,t) - \bar{\omega}(\theta,t).$$
(4.2.16)

Using spherical harmonics, these are expressed as

$$\bar{\omega}(\theta, t) = \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \omega_{l0}(\theta, t) Y_{l0}(\theta, \phi), \qquad \text{and} \qquad (4.2.17)$$

$$\tilde{\omega}(\theta,\phi,t) = \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{m=-l\\m\neq 0}}^{l} \omega_{lm}(\theta,\phi,t) Y_{lm}(\theta,\phi), \qquad (4.2.18)$$

since $\bar{\omega}$ being independent of ϕ implies that all $m \neq 0$ terms in the expansion must be 0. For convenience and consistency, we write

$$\bar{\omega}_{lm} = \begin{cases} \omega_{lm} & m = 0\\ 0 & \text{otherwise,} \end{cases}$$
(4.2.19)

and

$$\tilde{\omega}_{lm} = \begin{cases} 0 & m = 0 \\ \omega_{lm} & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(4.2.20)

Thus $\bar{\omega}$ and $\tilde{\omega}$ are orthogonal in H^s for $s = 1, 2, \cdots$:

$$(\bar{\omega},\tilde{\omega})_{H^s} = \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{m=-l}^{l} (l(l+1))^s \,\bar{\omega}_{lm} \,\overline{\tilde{\omega}_{lm}}$$

$$=\sum_{l=0}^{\infty} (l(l+1))^s \bar{\omega}_{l0} \,\overline{\tilde{\omega}_{l0}} + \sum_{l=0}^{\infty} \sum_{\substack{m=-l\\m\neq 0}}^{l} (l(l+1))^s \,\overline{\omega}_{lm} \,\overline{\tilde{\omega}_{lm}}$$
$$= 0. \tag{4.2.21}$$

With $\bar{\omega}$ and $\tilde{\omega}$ thus defined, we state the main result by Wirosoetisno [8], using our definition of \mathcal{G}_m . Recall that $\nu_0 = \mu \kappa_0^2$.

Theorem 14. Assume that the initial data $\mathbf{v}(0) \in L^2(S^2)$ and that $|\Delta f|_{L^2(S^2)} < \infty$. Then there exists a time $\mathcal{T}_0(|\mathbf{v}(0)|_{L^2(S^2)})$ and a constant $c_9(\nu_0)$ such that

$$|\tilde{\omega}(t)|^{2}_{L^{2}(S^{2})} + \mu \int_{t}^{t+1} |\nabla \tilde{\omega}(\tau)|^{2}_{L^{2}(S^{2})} \,\mathrm{d}\tau \qquad \leq \varepsilon M_{0}/\kappa_{0}^{2}, \qquad (4.2.22)$$

$$|\tilde{\omega}(t)|^{2}_{L^{2}(S^{2})} + \mu \int_{0}^{t} |\nabla \tilde{\omega}(\tau)|^{2}_{L^{2}(S^{2})} \mathrm{e}^{\nu_{0}(\tau-t)} \,\mathrm{d}\tau \qquad \leq \varepsilon M_{0}/\kappa_{0}^{2} \qquad (4.2.23)$$

for all $t \geq \mathcal{T}_0$, where

$$M_0 = c_9 \,\mathcal{G}_2 \mathcal{G}_3 (1 + \mathcal{G}_0^2). \tag{4.2.24}$$

Again, the constants in [8] may include lengths, whereas ours are dimensionless, which accounts for the extra factor of κ_0^{-2} .

4.3 Consequences of different forms of forcing

For the purposes of this chapter, we consider the below forms of zonal forcing, modified from those mentioned in Chapter 3 for the sphere.

Bandwidth-limited: $\bar{f} = \mathsf{P}_{\kappa_f} \bar{f}$ $(\kappa_f \ge \kappa_0), \quad (4.3.1)$

Algebraic decay:
$$|\bar{f}_{l0}| \le \frac{\nu_0^2 \kappa_0^{s-1} (l(l+1))^{-s/2}}{\sqrt{2} \zeta (2+2s)^{1/2}} \mathcal{G}_0$$
 (s > 5/2), (4.3.2)

Exponential decay:
$$|\bar{f}_{l0}| \leq \frac{\nu_0^2}{\sqrt{2}\kappa_0} \left(\frac{2\gamma}{1+2\gamma}\right)^{1/2} \mathrm{e}^{\gamma(1-l/\kappa_0)} \mathcal{G}_0 \quad (\gamma > 0), \qquad (4.3.3)$$

where $\zeta(s) := \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} n^{-s}$ is the Riemann zeta function. Again, the requirement for (4.3.2) that s > 5/2 is purely to ensure that $\overline{f} \in H^2(S^2)$, so that we can apply Theorem 14. The precise expressions for (4.3.2) and (4.3.3) have been chosen to

ensure that $|\nabla^{-1}\bar{f}|/(\mu\kappa_0)^2 \leq \mathcal{G}_0$, in order to be consistent with the definition of the Grashof number given in (2.1.5):

$$|\bar{f}_{l0}| \le \frac{\nu_0^2 \,\kappa_0^{s-1} \,(l(l+1))^{-s/2}}{\sqrt{2} \zeta (2+2s)^{1/2}} \,\mathcal{G}_0 \qquad \text{implies}$$

$$\begin{split} |\nabla^{-1}\bar{f}|_{2}^{2} &= \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \frac{|f_{l0}|^{2}}{l(l+1)} \leq \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \frac{\nu_{0}^{4} \kappa_{0}^{2s-2} \mathcal{G}_{0}^{2}}{2\zeta(2+2s)(l(l+1))^{s+1}} \\ &= \frac{\nu_{0}^{4} \kappa_{0}^{2s-2} \mathcal{G}_{0}^{2}}{2\zeta(2+2s)} \kappa_{0}^{-2s-2} + \frac{\nu_{0}^{4} \kappa_{0}^{2s-2} \mathcal{G}_{0}^{2}}{2\zeta(2+2s)} \sum_{l=2}^{\infty} (l(l+1))^{-s-1} \\ &\leq \frac{\mu^{4} \kappa_{0}^{4} \mathcal{G}_{0}^{2}}{2\zeta(2+2s)} + \frac{\nu_{0}^{4} \kappa_{0}^{2s-3} \mathcal{G}_{0}^{2}}{2\zeta(2+2s)} \int_{\kappa_{0}}^{\infty} (k(k+1))^{-s-1} dk \\ &\leq \frac{\mu^{4} \kappa_{0}^{4} \mathcal{G}_{0}^{2}}{2\zeta(2+2s)} + \frac{\nu_{0}^{4} \kappa_{0}^{2s-3} \mathcal{G}_{0}^{2}}{2\zeta(2+2s)} \int_{\kappa_{0}}^{\infty} k^{-2s-2} dk \\ &= \frac{\mu^{4} \kappa_{0}^{4} \mathcal{G}_{0}^{2}}{2\zeta(2+2s)} + \frac{\mu^{4} \kappa_{0}^{4} \mathcal{G}_{0}^{2}}{2(2s+1)\zeta(2+2s)} \\ &\leq \frac{\mu^{4} \kappa_{0}^{4} \mathcal{G}_{0}^{2}}{\zeta(2+2s)} & \text{since } s > 5/2, \end{split}$$

where the sum in the first line has been taken from l = 1 because our assumption that $\int_{S^2} f = 0$ implies that $f_{00} = 0$, by definition. Rearranging (4.3.4) thus gives

$$|\nabla^{-1}\bar{f}|/(\mu\kappa_0)^2 \le \left(\zeta(2+2s)\right)^{-1/2} \mathcal{G}_0 \le \mathcal{G}_0,$$

since ζ is decreasing in s and $\lim_{s\to\infty} \zeta(s) = 1$. We also check that

$$|\bar{f}_{l0}| \le \frac{\nu_0^2}{\sqrt{2}\,\kappa_0} \left(\frac{2\gamma}{1+2\gamma}\right)^{1/2} \mathrm{e}^{\gamma(1-l/\kappa_0)} \,\mathcal{G}_0 \qquad \text{implies}$$

$$\begin{split} |\nabla^{-1}\bar{f}|^{2} &= \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \frac{|f_{l0}|^{2}}{l(l+1)} \\ &\leq \frac{\nu_{0}^{4} \mathcal{G}_{0}^{2}}{\kappa_{0}^{2}} \Big(\frac{\gamma}{1+2\gamma}\Big) e^{2\gamma} \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} \frac{e^{-2\gamma l/\kappa_{0}}}{l(l+1)} \\ &\leq \mu^{4} \kappa_{0}^{4} \mathcal{G}_{0}^{2} \left(\frac{\gamma}{1+2\gamma}\right) e^{2\gamma} \sum_{l=1}^{\infty} e^{-2\gamma l/\kappa_{0}} \qquad \text{since } (l(l+1))^{-1} \leq \frac{1}{2} = \kappa_{0}^{-2} \\ &\leq \mu^{4} \kappa_{0}^{4} \mathcal{G}_{0}^{2} \left(\frac{\gamma}{1+2\gamma}\right) (1 + e^{-2\gamma} + e^{-4\gamma} + \cdots) \quad \text{since } \kappa_{0}^{-1} < 1 \\ &= \mu^{4} \kappa_{0}^{4} \mathcal{G}_{0}^{2} \left(\frac{\gamma}{1+2\gamma}\right) / (1 - e^{-2\gamma}) \leq \mu^{4} \kappa_{0}^{4} \mathcal{G}_{0}^{2} \quad \text{ for all } \gamma > 0, \end{split}$$

which implies that

$$|\nabla^{-1}\bar{f}|/(\mu\kappa_0)^2 \le \mathcal{G}_0.$$

With these forms of \bar{f} in mind, we state and prove the following intermediate results.

Lemma 15. Suppose ω satisfies (4.2.6) and define $\bar{\omega}^{< f} := \mathsf{P}_{\kappa_f} \bar{\omega}, \ \bar{\omega}^{> f} := \bar{\omega} - \bar{\omega}^{< f}$ for some $\kappa_f \geq \kappa_0$. Assume $\nu_0 = \mu \kappa_0^2 < 1$. Then there exists an absolute constant c_{**} such that

(a) if \overline{f} satisfies (4.3.1), then

$$\int_0^t |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2_{L^2(S^2)} \mathrm{e}^{\nu_0(\tau-t)} \,\mathrm{d}\tau \le 3 \, c_{**} (\varepsilon M_0)^2 / \nu_0^3 \,; \tag{4.3.5}$$

(b) if \overline{f} satisfies (4.3.2), then

$$\int_{0}^{t} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|_{L^{2}(S^{2})}^{2} \mathrm{e}^{\nu_{0}(\tau-t)} \,\mathrm{d}\tau \leq c_{**}(\varepsilon M_{0})^{2} / \nu_{0}^{3} + \frac{4\nu_{0}}{(2s+1)\zeta(2s+2)} \left(\frac{\kappa_{0}}{\kappa_{f}}\right)^{2s+1} \mathcal{G}_{0}^{2}, \text{ or}$$

$$(4.3.6)$$

(c) if \overline{f} satisfies (4.3.3),

$$\int_{0}^{t} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^{2}_{L^{2}(S^{2})} \mathrm{e}^{\nu_{0}(\tau-t)} \,\mathrm{d}\tau \leq c_{**} (\varepsilon M_{0})^{2} / \nu_{0}^{3} + 8 \,\nu_{0} \,\mathrm{e}^{2\gamma(1-\kappa_{f}/\kappa_{0})} \,\mathcal{G}_{0}^{2}.$$

$$(4.3.7)$$

Proof. We first remark that conceptually, this proof is analogous to that of Lemma 12. The differences are purely down to the individual results and inequalities used having planar and spherical versions (for example, Lemma 14 being the spherical analogue of Lemma 11), and the types of forcing being defined differently. We therefore omit individual technical details to avoid complete repetition.

We begin by multiplying (4.2.7) by $\bar{\omega}^{>f}$ in L^2 :

$$(\partial_t \omega, \bar{\omega}^{>f}) + (\partial(\psi, \omega), \bar{\omega}^{>f}) + \frac{2}{\varepsilon} (\partial_\phi \psi, \bar{\omega}^{>f}) = \mu(\Delta \omega, \bar{\omega}^{>f}) + (f, \bar{\omega}^{>f}).$$
(4.3.8)

The first term becomes

$$(\partial_t \omega, \bar{\omega}^{>f}) = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} |\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \tag{4.3.9}$$

by the orthogonality of $\bar{\omega}^{< f}$ and $\bar{\omega}^{> f}$ and (4.2.21). By splitting $\omega = \bar{\omega} + \tilde{\omega}$ and

 $\psi = \bar{\psi} + \tilde{\psi}$, the second term of (4.3.8) becomes

$$(\partial(\psi,\omega),\bar{\omega}^{>f}) = (\partial(\psi,\tilde{\omega}),\bar{\omega}^{>f}) + (\partial(\psi,\bar{\omega}),\bar{\omega}^{>f})$$
$$= (\partial(\tilde{\psi},\tilde{\omega}),\bar{\omega}^{>f}).$$
(4.3.10)

Integration by parts shows that the third term of (4.3.8) is 0:

The first term on the right hand side of (4.3.8) becomes

$$\begin{split} \mu(\Delta\omega,\bar{\omega}^{>f}) &= \mu(\Delta\bar{\omega},\bar{\omega}^{>f}) + \mu(\Delta\tilde{\omega},\bar{\omega}^{>f}) \\ &= \mu(\Delta\bar{\omega},\bar{\omega}^{>f}) & \text{by (4.2.21)} \\ &= \mu(\Delta\bar{\omega}^{f}) + \mu(\Delta\bar{\omega}^{>f},\bar{\omega}^{>f}) \\ &= \mu(\Delta\bar{\omega}^{>f},\bar{\omega}^{>f}) & \text{by the orthogonality of } \bar{\omega}^{f} \\ &= -\mu|\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 & \text{by (4.1.1).} \end{split}$$

Collecting (4.3.9) to (4.3.12) gives

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}|\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^{2} + \mu|\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^{2} = -(\partial(\tilde{\psi},\tilde{\omega}),\bar{\omega}^{>f}) + (f,\bar{\omega}^{>f}).$$
(4.3.13)

Assuming t is large enough, we apply Theorem 14 so that the first term on the right hand side of this can be bounded as

$$\begin{split} |(\partial(\tilde{\psi},\tilde{\omega}),\bar{\omega}^{>f})| &= |(\partial(\bar{\omega}^{>f},\tilde{\psi}),\tilde{\omega})| & \text{by (4.1.3)} \\ &\leq |\nabla\tilde{\psi}|_4 |\tilde{\omega}|_4 |\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}|_2 & \text{by H\"older} \\ &\leq \frac{2}{\mu} |\nabla\tilde{\psi}|_4^2 |\tilde{\omega}|_4^2 + \frac{\mu}{8} |\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 & \text{by Young} \\ &\leq \frac{c}{\mu} |\nabla\tilde{\psi}| |\tilde{\omega}|^2 |\nabla\tilde{\omega}| + \frac{\mu}{8} |\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 & \text{by Ladyzhenskaya} \end{split}$$

$$\leq \frac{c}{\nu_0} \varepsilon M_0 |\nabla \tilde{\psi}| |\nabla \tilde{\omega}| + \frac{\mu}{8} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \qquad \text{by (4.2.22)}$$

$$\leq c \frac{\varepsilon M_0}{\nu_0 \kappa_0^2} |\nabla \tilde{\omega}|^2 + \frac{\mu}{8} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \qquad \text{by Poincaré.} \qquad (4.3.14)$$

Similarly, we bound the forcing term by

$$(f,\bar{\omega}^{>f}) \le \frac{2}{\mu} |\nabla^{-1}\bar{f}^{>f}|^2 + \frac{\mu}{8} |\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2.$$
(4.3.15)

Thus (4.3.13) becomes

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}|\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^{2} + \frac{3}{2}\mu|\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^{2} \le c\frac{\varepsilon M_{0}}{\nu_{0}\kappa_{0}^{2}}|\nabla\tilde{\omega}|^{2} + \frac{4}{\mu}|\nabla^{-1}\bar{f}^{>f}|^{2}.$$
(4.3.16)

We use the Poincaré-type inequality (4.2.13) on the $|\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|$ term on the left hand side:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}|\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^{2} + \nu_{0}|\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^{2} + \frac{\mu}{2}|\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^{2} \le c\frac{\varepsilon M_{0}}{\nu_{0}\kappa_{0}^{2}}|\nabla\tilde{\omega}|^{2} + \frac{4}{\mu}|\nabla^{-1}\bar{f}^{>f}|^{2}$$
(4.3.17)

and multiply by $e^{\nu_0 t}$,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}(\mathrm{e}^{\nu_0 t}|\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2) + \frac{\mu}{2}\,\mathrm{e}^{\nu_0 t}|\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \le c\,\frac{\varepsilon M_0}{\nu_0\kappa_0^2}|\nabla\bar{\omega}|^2\mathrm{e}^{\nu_0 t} + \frac{4\,\mathrm{e}^{\nu_0 t}}{\mu}|\nabla^{-1}\bar{f}^{>f}|^2. \tag{4.3.18}$$

We then integrate in time and multiply by $e^{-\nu_0 t}$:

$$\begin{split} |\bar{\omega}^{>f}(t)|^{2} &+ \frac{\mu}{2} \int_{0}^{t} \mathrm{e}^{\nu_{0}(\tau-t)} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^{2} \,\mathrm{d}\tau \\ &\leq \mathrm{e}^{-\nu_{0}t} |\bar{\omega}^{>f}(0)|^{2} + c \frac{\varepsilon M_{0}}{\nu_{0}\kappa_{0}^{2}} \int_{0}^{t} |\nabla \tilde{\omega}|^{2} \mathrm{e}^{\nu_{0}(\tau-t)} \,\mathrm{d}\tau + \frac{4}{\mu\nu_{0}} |\nabla^{-1}\bar{f}^{>f}|^{2} \\ &\leq \frac{c_{*}(\varepsilon M_{0})^{2}}{2 \,\nu_{0}^{2} \kappa_{0}^{2}} + \frac{4}{\mu\nu_{0}} |\nabla^{-1}\bar{f}^{>f}|^{2}, \end{split}$$
(4.3.19)

where we have used (4.2.23) and assumed t is large enough for the adjusted constant c_* to absorb the $|\bar{\omega}^{>f}(0)|^2$ term into the $(\varepsilon M_0)^2$ term.

We now consider the consequences of the hypotheses (4.3.1) to (4.3.3). When \bar{f} satisfies (4.3.1), we have $\bar{f}^{>f} = 0$ by definition, so that (4.3.19) becomes

$$\frac{\mu}{2} \int_0^t e^{\nu_0(\tau-t)} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \, d\tau \le \frac{c_*(\varepsilon M_0)^2}{2\,\nu_0^2 \kappa_0^2},\tag{4.3.20}$$

where we have used Lemma 9 and dropped the first term on the left hand side. With

our assumption that $\nu_0 < 1$ and hence $e^{\nu_0} < 3$, we arrive at

$$\int_0^t e^{\nu_0(\tau-t)} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\tau \le 3 \, c_* (\varepsilon M_0)^2 / \nu_0^3, \tag{4.3.21}$$

which is (4.3.5).

When \bar{f} satisfies (4.3.2) instead, we have

$$\begin{split} |\nabla^{-1}\bar{f}^{>f}|^2 &= \sum_{l>\kappa_f}^{\infty} \frac{|f_{l0}|^2}{l(l+1)} \le \sum_{l>\kappa_f}^{\infty} \frac{\nu_0^4 \kappa_0^{2s-2} (l(l+1))^{-(s+1)}}{2\zeta(2+2s)} \,\mathcal{G}_0^2 \\ &= \frac{\nu_0^4 \kappa_0^{2s-2}}{2\zeta(2+2s)} \,\mathcal{G}_0^2 \sum_{l>\kappa_f}^{\infty} (l(l+1))^{-(s+1)} \\ &\le \frac{\nu_0^4 \kappa_0^{2s-3}}{2\zeta(2+2s)} \,\mathcal{G}_0^2 \int_{\kappa_f}^{\infty} \frac{\mathrm{d}l}{(l(l+1))^{s+1}} \end{split}$$

(since terms in the sum are non-negative and decreasing)

$$\leq \frac{\nu_0^4 \kappa_0^{2s-3}}{2\zeta(2+2s)} \,\mathcal{G}_0^2 \int_{\kappa_f}^\infty \frac{\mathrm{d}l}{l^{2s+2}} = \frac{\mu^4 \kappa_0^4 \,(\kappa_0/\kappa_f)^{2s+1}}{2(2s+1)\zeta(2+2s)} \,\mathcal{G}_0^2, \tag{4.3.22}$$

so after ignoring the first term on the left hand side, (4.3.19) becomes

$$\int_0^t e^{\nu_0(\tau-t)} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\tau \le c_* (\varepsilon M_0)^2 / \nu_0^3 + \frac{4\nu_0(\kappa_0/\kappa_f)^{2s+1}}{(2s+1)\zeta(2s+2)} \mathcal{G}_0^2, \tag{4.3.23}$$

which is (4.3.6).

Finally, when \bar{f} satisfies (4.3.3),

$$\begin{split} |\nabla^{-1}\bar{f}^{>f}|^{2} &= \sum_{l>\kappa_{f}}^{\infty} \frac{|f_{l0}|^{2}}{l(l+1)} \leq \sum_{l>\kappa_{f}}^{\infty} \frac{\nu_{0}^{4}}{2\kappa_{0}^{2}} \left(\frac{2\gamma}{1+2\gamma}\right) \frac{e^{2\gamma(1-l/\kappa_{0})}}{l(l+1)} \mathcal{G}_{0}^{2} \\ &\leq \sum_{l>\kappa_{f}}^{\infty} \frac{\nu_{0}^{4}}{2\kappa_{0}^{4}} \left(\frac{2\gamma}{1+2\gamma}\right) e^{2\gamma(1-l/\kappa_{0})} \mathcal{G}_{0}^{2} \quad \text{since } l(l+1) > \kappa_{0}^{2} \\ &= \frac{\nu_{0}^{4}}{\kappa_{0}^{4}} \left(\frac{\gamma}{1+2\gamma}\right) \mathcal{G}_{0}^{2} \sum_{l>\kappa_{f}}^{\infty} e^{2\gamma(1-l/\kappa_{0})} \\ &\leq \frac{\nu_{0}^{4}}{\kappa_{0}^{4}} \left(\frac{\gamma}{1+2\gamma}\right) \mathcal{G}_{0}^{2} e^{2\gamma(1-\kappa_{f}/\kappa_{0})} (1+e^{-2\gamma}+e^{-4\gamma}+\cdots) \\ &= \frac{\nu_{0}^{4}}{\kappa_{0}^{4}} \left(\frac{\gamma}{1+2\gamma}\right) \mathcal{G}_{0}^{2} \frac{e^{2\gamma(1-\kappa_{f}/\kappa_{0})}}{1-e^{-2\gamma}} \leq \frac{\nu_{0}^{4}}{\kappa_{0}^{4}} e^{2\gamma(1-\kappa_{f}/\kappa_{0})} \mathcal{G}_{0}^{2}, \end{split}$$
(4.3.24)

so (4.3.19) becomes

$$\int_0^t e^{\nu_0(\tau-t)} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 d\tau \le c_* (\varepsilon M_0)^2 / \nu_0^3 + 8 \nu_0 e^{2\gamma(1-\kappa_f/\kappa_0)} \mathcal{G}_0^2, \qquad (4.3.25)$$

giving (4.3.7).

4.4 Bounds on the number of determining modes

We now state the main theorem for this chapter. We assume, as with Lemma 15, that $\nu_0 < 1$.

Theorem 16 (Determining modes on the sphere). Let $\delta \omega$ be the solution of (4.2.10) with $f \in H^2(S^2)$. Then the low modes are determining, i.e. $\lim_{t\to\infty} |\mathsf{P}_{\kappa}\delta\omega(t)|_{L^2(S^2)} =$ 0 implies that $\lim_{t\to\infty} |\delta\omega(t)|_{L^2(S^2)} = 0$, if any of the following hold for constants c_{10} , c_{11} , c_{12} and ε sufficiently small:

(a) if \overline{f} satisfies (4.3.1) and

$$\kappa/\kappa_0 > c_{10} \max\{(\varepsilon M_0)^{1/4}, (\kappa_f/\kappa_0)^{3/8} \mathcal{G}_0^{1/4}\};$$
(4.4.1)

(b) if \bar{f} satisfies (4.3.2) and

$$\kappa/\kappa_0 > c_{11} \max\{(\varepsilon M_0)^{1/4}, \mathcal{G}_0^{(2s+5)/(8s+14)}\}; or$$
 (4.4.2)

(c) if \overline{f} satisfies (4.3.3) and

$$\kappa/\kappa_0 > c_{12} \max\{(\varepsilon M_0)^{1/4}, F_{\gamma'}(\nu_0^{-1/2} \mathcal{G}_0)^{3/8} \mathcal{G}_0^{1/4}\},$$
(4.4.3)

where the function $F_{\gamma'}$ is defined in (4.4.41) below.

As in Theorem 13, the smallness requirements on ε , which will be given in (4.4.29), (4.4.36) and (4.4.42), are in place purely to simplify the statement of the theorem and can be removed at the expense of longer expressions for the bounds on κ . The function $F_{\gamma'}$ in (4.4.3) is, up to a multiplicative constant, equal to its planar analogue F_{γ} in (3.4.3).

Proof. This proof essentially follows that of the planar case, with spherical inequal-

ities replacing their planar analogues. We multiply (4.2.10) by $\delta \omega^{>}$ in L^{2} to obtain

$$(\partial_t \delta\omega, \delta\omega^{>}) + (\partial(\psi^{\sharp}, \delta\omega), \delta\omega^{>}) + (\partial(\delta\psi, \omega), \delta\omega^{>}) + \frac{2}{\varepsilon}(\partial_\phi \delta\psi, \delta\omega^{>}) = (\mu\Delta\delta\omega, \delta\omega^{>}).$$
(4.4.4)

Harmonic expansion shows that the $2/\varepsilon$ term is 0:

 \mathbf{SO}

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}|\delta\omega^{>}|_{2}^{2}+\mu|\nabla\delta\omega^{>}|_{2}^{2}=-(\partial(\psi^{\sharp},\delta\omega),\delta\omega^{>})-(\partial(\delta\psi^{<},\omega),\delta\omega^{>})-(\partial(\delta\psi^{>},\omega),\delta\omega^{>}).$$
(4.4.6)

For the first term on the right hand side, (4.1.3) and (4.1.4) imply that $(\partial(\psi^{\sharp}, \delta\omega^{>}), \delta\omega^{>}) = 0$, so

$$(\partial(\psi^{\sharp}, \delta\omega), \delta\omega^{>}) = (\partial(\psi^{\sharp}, \delta\omega^{<}), \delta\omega^{>}).$$
(4.4.7)

We split $\omega = \bar{\omega} + \tilde{\omega}$ to write the last term of (4.4.6) as

$$(\partial(\delta\psi^{>},\omega),\delta\omega^{>}) = (\partial(\delta\psi^{>},\bar{\omega}),\delta\omega^{>}) + (\partial(\delta\psi^{>},\tilde{\omega}),\delta\omega^{>}).$$
(4.4.8)

The first term on the right hand side of this becomes

$$\begin{aligned} (\partial(\delta\psi^{>},\bar{\omega}),\delta\omega^{>}) &= (\partial(\delta\bar{\psi}^{>},\bar{\omega}),\delta\omega^{>}) + (\partial(\delta\tilde{\psi}^{>},\bar{\omega}),\delta\omega^{>}) \\ &= (\partial(\delta\tilde{\psi}^{>},\bar{\omega}),\delta\omega^{>}) \qquad \text{by (4.1.5)} \\ &= (\partial(\delta\tilde{\psi}^{>},\bar{\omega}),\delta\bar{\omega}^{>}) + (\partial(\delta\tilde{\psi}^{>},\bar{\omega}),\delta\tilde{\omega}^{>}) \\ &= (\partial(\bar{\omega},\delta\bar{\omega}^{>}),\delta\tilde{\psi}^{>}) + (\partial(\delta\tilde{\psi}^{>},\bar{\omega}),\delta\tilde{\omega}^{>}) \qquad \text{by (4.1.3)} \\ &= (\partial(\delta\tilde{\psi}^{>},\bar{\omega}),\delta\tilde{\omega}^{>}) \qquad \text{by (4.1.5).} \end{aligned}$$

In order to apply the bounds we obtained in Lemma 15, we split $\bar{\omega} = \bar{\omega}^{< f} + \bar{\omega}^{> f}$,

where $\bar{\omega}^{< f} = \mathsf{P}_{\kappa_f} \bar{\omega}$ and $\bar{\omega}^{> f} = \bar{\omega} - \bar{\omega}^{< f}$. Now

$$(\partial(\delta\tilde{\psi}^{>},\bar{\omega}),\delta\tilde{\omega}^{>}) = (\partial(\delta\tilde{\psi}^{>},\bar{\omega}^{}) + (\partial(\delta\tilde{\psi}^{>},\bar{\omega}^{>f}),\delta\tilde{\omega}^{>}).$$
(4.4.10)

Thus (4.4.6) becomes

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} |\delta\omega^{>}|^{2} + \mu |\nabla\delta\omega^{>}|^{2}
= -\left(\partial(\psi^{\sharp}, \delta\omega^{<}), \delta\omega^{>}\right) - \left(\partial(\delta\psi^{<}, \omega), \delta\omega^{>}\right) - \left(\partial(\delta\psi^{>}, \tilde{\omega}), \delta\omega^{>}\right)
- \left(\partial(\delta\tilde{\psi}^{>}, \bar{\omega}^{}\right) - \left(\partial(\delta\tilde{\psi}^{>}, \bar{\omega}^{>f}), \delta\tilde{\omega}^{>}\right).$$
(4.4.11)

We bound the first two terms on the right hand side by

$$\begin{aligned} |(\partial(\psi^{\sharp}, \delta\omega^{<}), \delta\omega^{>})| &= |(\partial(\delta\omega^{<}, \delta\omega^{>}), \psi^{\sharp})| \\ &\leq |\psi^{\sharp}|_{4} |\nabla\delta\omega^{<}|_{4} |\nabla\delta\omega^{>}|_{2} \qquad \text{by H\"older} \\ &\leq \frac{4}{\mu} |\psi^{\sharp}|_{4}^{2} |\nabla\delta\omega^{<}|_{4}^{2} + \frac{\mu}{16} |\nabla\delta\omega^{>}|_{2}^{2} \qquad \text{by Young} \\ &\leq \frac{c}{\mu} |\psi^{\sharp}| |\nabla\psi^{\sharp}| |\nabla\delta\omega^{<}| |\Delta\delta\omega^{<}| + \frac{\mu}{16} |\nabla\delta\omega^{>}|^{2} \qquad \text{by Ladyzhenskaya,} \quad (4.4.12) \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\begin{split} |(\partial(\delta\psi^{<},\omega),\delta\omega^{>})| &\leq |\nabla\delta\psi^{<}|_{4}|\nabla\omega|_{2}|\delta\omega^{>}|_{4} \\ &\leq \frac{c}{\mu\kappa_{0}}|\nabla\delta\psi^{<}|_{4}^{2}|\nabla\omega|_{2}^{2} + c\mu\kappa_{0}|\delta\omega^{>}|_{4}^{2} \\ &\leq \frac{c}{\mu\kappa_{0}}|\nabla\delta\psi^{<}||\delta\omega^{<}||\nabla\omega|^{2} + \frac{\mu\kappa_{0}}{16}|\delta\omega^{>}||\nabla\delta\omega^{>}| \quad \text{by Ladyzhenskaya} \\ &\leq \frac{c}{\mu\kappa_{0}}|\nabla\delta\psi^{<}||\delta\omega^{<}||\nabla\omega|^{2} + \frac{\mu}{16}|\nabla\delta\omega^{>}|^{2} \quad \text{by Poincaré.} \quad (4.4.13) \end{split}$$

The third term on the right hand side of (4.4.11) is bounded by

$$\begin{split} |(\partial(\delta\psi^{>},\tilde{\omega}),\delta\omega^{>})| &\leq |\nabla\delta\psi^{>}|_{4}|\nabla\tilde{\omega}|_{2}|\delta\omega^{>}|_{4}\\ &\leq c |\nabla\delta\psi^{>}|_{2}^{1/2}|\nabla\delta\omega^{>}|_{2}^{1/2}|\delta\omega^{>}|_{2}|\nabla\tilde{\omega}|_{2} \qquad \text{by Ladyzhenskaya}\\ &\leq \frac{c}{\kappa}|\nabla\delta\omega^{>}|_{2}|\delta\omega^{>}|_{2}|\nabla\tilde{\omega}|_{2} \qquad \text{by (4.2.13)}\\ &\leq \frac{\mu}{16}|\nabla\delta\omega^{>}|^{2} + \frac{c}{\mu\kappa^{2}}|\nabla\tilde{\omega}|^{2}|\delta\omega^{>}|^{2} \qquad \text{by Young.} \qquad (4.4.14) \end{split}$$

The rest of the proof is almost exactly identical to that of Theorem 13; we therefore

omit duplicate technical details. The fourth term on the right hand side of (4.4.11) is bounded by

$$|(\partial(\delta\psi^{>},\bar{\omega}^{< f}),\delta\omega^{>})| \leq \frac{\mu}{16}|\nabla\delta\omega^{>}|^{2} + \frac{c\kappa_{0}\kappa_{f}^{3}}{\mu\kappa^{6}}|\nabla\omega|^{2}|\delta\omega^{>}|^{2}.$$
(4.4.15)

We bound the final term of (4.4.11) as

$$|(\partial(\delta\psi^{>},\bar{\omega}^{>f}),\delta\omega^{>})| \leq \frac{\mu}{16}|\nabla\delta\omega^{>}|^{2} + \frac{c\kappa_{0}}{\mu\kappa^{2}\kappa_{f}}|\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^{2}|\delta\omega^{>}|^{2}.$$
(4.4.16)

Collating these and rearranging, we arrive at

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} |\delta\omega^{>}|^{2} + \mu |\nabla\delta\omega^{>}|^{2} \leq \frac{c}{\mu} |\psi^{\sharp}| |\nabla\psi^{\sharp}| |\nabla\delta\omega^{<}| |\Delta\delta\omega^{<}| + \frac{c}{\mu\kappa_{0}} |\nabla\delta\psi^{<}| |\delta\omega^{<}| |\nabla\omega|^{2}
+ \frac{c}{\mu\kappa^{2}} |\nabla\tilde{\omega}|^{2} |\delta\omega^{>}|^{2} + \frac{c\kappa_{0}\kappa_{f}^{3}}{\mu\kappa^{6}} |\nabla\omega|^{2} |\delta\omega^{>}|^{2}
+ \frac{c\kappa_{0}}{\mu\kappa^{2}\kappa_{f}} |\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^{2} |\delta\omega^{>}|^{2}.$$
(4.4.17)

Applying (4.2.13) on the $|\nabla \delta \omega^{>}|^{2}$ term on the left hand side and rearranging gives

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} |\delta\omega^{>}|^{2} + |\delta\omega^{>}|^{2} \Big(\mu\kappa^{2} - \frac{c}{\mu\kappa^{2}} |\nabla\tilde{\omega}|^{2} - \frac{c\kappa_{0}\kappa_{f}^{3}}{\mu\kappa^{6}} |\nabla\omega|^{2} - \frac{c\kappa_{0}}{\mu\kappa^{2}\kappa_{f}} |\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^{2} \Big)$$

$$\leq \frac{c}{\mu} |\psi^{\sharp}| |\nabla\psi^{\sharp}| |\nabla\delta\omega^{<}| |\Delta\delta\omega^{<}| + \frac{c}{\mu\kappa_{0}} |\nabla\delta\psi^{<}| |\delta\omega^{<}| |\nabla\omega|^{2}. \quad (4.4.18)$$

We apply Lemma 8, with

$$\rho = \mu \kappa^2 - \frac{c}{\mu \kappa^2} |\nabla \tilde{\omega}|^2 - \frac{c \kappa_0 \kappa_f^3}{\mu \kappa^6} |\nabla \omega|^2 - \frac{c \kappa_0}{\mu \kappa^2 \kappa_f} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2,$$

$$\sigma = \frac{c}{\mu} |\psi^{\sharp}| |\nabla \psi^{\sharp}| |\nabla \delta \omega^{<}| |\Delta \delta \omega^{<}| + \frac{c}{\mu \kappa_0} |\nabla \delta \psi^{<}| |\delta \omega^{<}| |\nabla \omega|^2,$$

$$\xi = |\delta \omega^{>}|^2, \qquad (4.4.19)$$

i.e. ρ is the bracket on the left hand side of (4.4.18) and σ is the right hand side. In order to validate that the hypothesis of the lemma concerning σ is met, we quote the following result from [8], which give bounds on the derivatives of the vorticity:

$$|\nabla^m \omega(t)|^2_{L^2(S^2)} + \mu \int_0^t |\nabla^{m+1} \omega|^2_{L^2(S^2)} \mathrm{e}^{\nu_0(\tau-t)} \,\mathrm{d}\tau \le c(m) \frac{\mathcal{G}_m^2 (1+c'(m)\nu_0^2 \mathcal{G}_0^2)^m}{(\mu\kappa_0)^{2m-2}} \quad (4.4.20)$$

for all $t \geq T_m(|\boldsymbol{v}(0)|_{L^2(S^2)}, |\nabla^{m-1}f|_{L^2(S^2)}; \mu)$. Again, these bounds themselves are

independent of the initial data. Thus the hypothesis concerning σ is met because $|\delta\omega^{<}(t)| \rightarrow 0$ as $t \rightarrow \infty$ by construction and $|\nabla\omega|$ is bounded when integrated over time (4.4.20). The hypothesis on ξ holds also due to the regularity of the 2D Navier–Stokes equations.

We therefore need to fulfil the hypothesis on ρ , which would follow from

$$\limsup_{t \to \infty} \int_t^{t+1} \left(\frac{1}{\mu \kappa^2} |\nabla \tilde{\omega}|^2 + \frac{\kappa_0 \kappa_f^3}{\mu \kappa^6} |\nabla \omega|^2 + \frac{\kappa_0}{\mu \kappa^2 \kappa_f} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \right) \mathrm{d}\tau < c\mu \kappa^2.$$
(4.4.21)

This in turn is implied when all of the following are satisfied:

$$\limsup_{t \to \infty} \int_t^{t+1} |\nabla \tilde{\omega}|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\tau < c \,\nu_0^2 (\kappa/\kappa_0)^4, \tag{4.4.22}$$

$$\limsup_{t \to \infty} \int_t^{t+1} |\nabla \omega|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\tau < c \,\nu_0^2 (\kappa/\kappa_0)^8 (\kappa_0/\kappa_f)^3, \text{ and} \qquad (4.4.23)$$

$$\limsup_{t \to \infty} \int_t^{t+1} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\tau < c \,\nu_0^2(\kappa/\kappa_0)^4(\kappa_f/\kappa_0). \tag{4.4.24}$$

As before, (4.2.22) implies that the first condition follows for

$$\kappa/\kappa_0 > c \, (\varepsilon M_0/\nu_0^3)^{1/4}.$$
 (4.4.25)

By applying Lemma 9 to (4.4.20), the second condition (4.4.23) is implied when

$$c\,\nu_0\,\mathcal{G}_0^2 < \nu_0^2(\kappa/\kappa_0)^8(\kappa_0/\kappa_f)^3,$$

or equivalently, for

$$\kappa/\kappa_0 > c \nu_0^{-1/8} (\kappa_f/\kappa_0)^{3/8} \mathcal{G}_0^{1/4}.$$
 (4.4.26)

We first consider the case when \bar{f} satisfies (4.3.1). As in the periodic case (3.4.27), we apply Lemma 9 to (4.3.5), so that

$$\int_{t}^{t+1} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\tau \le c \, (\varepsilon M_0)^2 / \nu_0^3, \tag{4.4.27}$$

i.e. condition (4.4.24) is met when

$$\kappa/\kappa_0 > c \,(\varepsilon M_0)^{1/2} \nu_0^{-5/4} (\kappa_0/\kappa_f)^{1/4}.$$
 (4.4.28)

This bound is weaker than that of (4.4.25) when

$$\varepsilon M_0 \le c \,\nu_0^2(\kappa_f/\kappa_0),\tag{4.4.29}$$

which we will assume. Combining (4.4.25), (4.4.26) and (4.4.28) gives (4.4.1).

When \bar{f} instead satisfies (4.3.2), we apply Lemma 9 to (4.3.6) to obtain

$$\int_{t}^{t+1} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\tau \le c \,(\varepsilon M_0)^2 / \nu_0^3 + c \,c_\zeta(s) \nu_0(\kappa_0/\kappa_f)^{2s+1} \,\mathcal{G}_0^2 =: I_1^s \tag{4.4.30}$$

where $1/c_{\zeta}(s) = (2s+1)\zeta(2s+2)$. Thus (4.4.24) would be satisfied when $I_1^s < c \,\mu^2 \kappa^4(\kappa_f/\kappa_0)$. Analogously to what we did to (4.4.21), this is implied by

$$(\kappa/\kappa_0)^4 > c \left(\varepsilon M_0\right)^2 \nu_0^{-5}(\kappa_0/\kappa_f), \qquad \text{and} \qquad (4.4.31)$$

$$(\kappa/\kappa_0)^4 > c \, c_{\zeta}(s) \, \nu_0^{-1} (\kappa_0/\kappa_f)^{2s+2} \, \mathcal{G}_0^2. \tag{4.4.32}$$

Since both of conditions (4.4.26) and (4.4.32) must be met, we equate these bounds to find

$$(\kappa_f/\kappa_0)^{2s+7/2} = c \, c_{\zeta}(s) \nu_0^{-1/2} \, \mathcal{G}_0, \qquad (4.4.33)$$

which fixes κ_f , turning both (4.4.23) and (4.4.32) to

$$\kappa/\kappa_0 > c \left(c_{\zeta}(s)^{3/2} \nu_0^{-(s+5/2)} \mathcal{G}_0^{2s+5}\right)^{1/(8s+14)}.$$
 (4.4.34)

Using κ_f determined in (4.4.33), (4.4.31) becomes

$$\kappa/\kappa_0 > c_s \, (\varepsilon M_0)^{1/2} \nu_0^{-5/4 + 1/(16s + 28)} \mathcal{G}_0^{-1/(8s + 14)},$$
(4.4.35)

where $c_s = c c_{\zeta}(s)^{-1/(8s+14)}$, noting that since we require s > 5/2, the exponent of \mathcal{G}_0 lies between -1/34 and 0, giving a weak dependence. This bound is dominated by that of (4.4.25) when

$$\varepsilon M_0 \le c c_s^{-4} \nu_0^{2-1/(4s+7)} \mathcal{G}_0^{2/(4s+7)}.$$
 (4.4.36)

Assuming this, (4.4.2) follows from (4.4.25) and (4.4.34).

Finally, when \overline{f} satisfies (4.3.3), Lemma 9 and (4.3.7) imply

$$\int_{t}^{t+1} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\tau \le c \, (\varepsilon M_0)^2 / \nu_0^3 + c \, \nu_0 \, \mathrm{e}^{2\gamma(1-\kappa_f/\kappa_0)} \, \mathcal{G}_0^2. \tag{4.4.37}$$

As in the previous case, (4.4.24) would be satisfied if the following both hold:

$$(\kappa/\kappa_0)^4 > c\left(\varepsilon M_0\right)^2 \nu_0^{-5}(\kappa_0/\kappa_f) \qquad \text{and}, \qquad (4.4.38)$$

$$(\kappa/\kappa_0)^4 > c \,\nu_0^{-1} \mathrm{e}^{2\gamma(1-\kappa_f/\kappa_0)}(\kappa_0/\kappa_f) \,\mathcal{G}_0^2. \tag{4.4.39}$$

Equating (4.4.26) and (4.4.39) gives

$$(\kappa_f/\kappa_0)^{5/2} e^{2\gamma(\kappa_f/\kappa_0 - 1)} = c_{\gamma'} \nu_0^{-1/2} \mathcal{G}_0, \qquad (4.4.40)$$

which can be inverted to give

$$\kappa_f/\kappa_0 = F_{\gamma'}(\mathcal{G}_0/\nu_0^{1/2}) \quad \text{where} \quad (F_{\gamma'})^{-1}(y) = y^{5/2} \mathrm{e}^{2\gamma(y-1)}/c_{\gamma'}.$$
 (4.4.41)

With κ_f thus fixed, (4.4.25) would dominate (4.4.38) when

$$\varepsilon M_0 \le c \,\nu_0^2(\kappa_f/\kappa_0). \tag{4.4.42}$$

Assuming this, (4.4.3) follows from (4.4.25) and (4.4.26).

	1
	1

Chapter 5

Determining nodes on the periodic β -plane

In this chapter, we state and prove our theorem concerning the determining nodes on the rotating torus $\mathbb{T}^2 = [0, L] \times [-L/2, L/2]$. We begin by introducing the concept of determining nodes, followed by existing results that have been shown for the general (non-rotating) Navier–Stokes equations. We then prove an auxiliary lemma relating norms of a function to its nodal values, which is of key importance to our theorem. Finally, in Section 5.2, we prove our main result of the chapter, as well as discussing its consequences and comparing to its modes' analogue of Theorem 13.

Although closely related to the determining modes of Chapter 3, the nodes differ in that they are concerned with the fluid's velocity or vorticity in physical space, rather than its wavenumber counterparts in Fourier space. This can make the theory more useful in practice, for example when one takes data from physical experiments or observations, rather than having to Fourier transform them first.

We recall the following from Chapter 3. The vorticity form of the β -plane Navier– Stokes equations is given by

$$\partial_t \omega + \partial(\psi, \omega) + \frac{\kappa_0}{\varepsilon} \partial_x \psi = \mu \Delta \omega + f.$$
 (5.0.1)

Then $\delta \omega = \omega - \omega^{\sharp}$ satisfies

$$\partial_t \delta \omega + \partial(\psi^{\sharp}, \delta \omega) + \partial(\delta \psi, \omega) + \frac{\kappa_0}{\varepsilon} \partial_x \delta \psi = \mu \Delta \delta \omega, \qquad (5.0.2)$$

where ω , ω^{\sharp} are solutions to (5.0.1) with the same f and different initial conditions. We also recall the definition of the zonal and non-zonal components of the vorticity:

$$\bar{\omega}(y,t) := \frac{1}{L} \int_0^L \omega(x,y,t) \, \mathrm{d}x, \qquad \text{and}$$
$$\tilde{\omega}(x,y,t) := \omega(x,y,t) - \bar{\omega}(y,t).$$

As in previous chapters, where there is no ambiguity, we write $|\cdot| = |\cdot|_{L^2}$, $|\cdot|_p = |\cdot|_{L^p}$ and $(\cdot, \cdot) = (\cdot, \cdot)_{L^2}$.

5.1 Theory of determining nodes

We explain the concept of determining nodes, introduced by and the existence of which was proved by Foias and Temam [15], which is related to the modes presented in Chapter 3. The set $\mathcal{E} = \{ \boldsymbol{x}^1, \cdots, \boldsymbol{x}^N \} \subset \mathbb{T}^2$ is said to be a set of determining nodes if

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \delta \boldsymbol{v}(\boldsymbol{x}^i, t) = 0 \text{ for all } i \in \{1, \cdots, N\} \text{ implies } \lim_{t \to \infty} |\delta \omega(t)|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)} = 0.$$

Foias and Temam's approach to this idea involved bounding the maximal distance between neighbouring nodal points, in order to quantify how "dense" the points would have to be within the domain. Slightly more recently, Jones and Titi [12] took a different approach and derived bounds on the number of nodal points required for the general (1.0.1) case:

Theorem 17 (Jones and Titi '93). Let v and $v^{\#}$ satisfy (1.0.7). There exists an absolute constant c_{13} and a set of determining nodes $\mathcal{E} = \{x^1, \dots, x^N\} \subset \mathbb{T}^2$, where

$$N \ge c_{13} \mathcal{G}_0$$

i.e. $\lim_{t\to\infty} |\boldsymbol{v}(\boldsymbol{x}^i,t) - \boldsymbol{v}^{\#}(\boldsymbol{x}^i,t)| = 0$ for $i \in \{1,\cdots,N\}$ implies $\lim_{t\to\infty} |\delta\omega(t)|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)} = 0$
0.

It is believed that this bound is qualitatively optimal, in the sense that it agrees with estimates based on physical principles conjectured by Manley and Trève [14]. We will prove improved bounds on the number of nodes, under the additional assumption that the domain is undergoing a differential rotation.

We also require the following estimates from [12], which relate the H^s and L^{∞} norms of a function to its value at the nodes.

Lemma 18. Let $u \in H^2(\mathbb{T}^2)$. Define

$$\eta(u) := \max_{1 \le i \le N} |u(\boldsymbol{x}^i)|,$$

where \mathbb{T}^2 is divided into N equal squares with corners at \boldsymbol{x}^i , for $i \in \{1, \dots, N\}$. Then

$$|u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})}^{2} \leq c_{14} \left(L^{2} \eta^{2}(u) + \frac{L^{4}}{N^{2}} |\Delta u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})}^{2} \right), \qquad (5.1.1)$$

$$|\nabla u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})}^{2}, |u|_{L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^{2})}^{2} \leq c_{14} \left(N\eta^{2}(u) + \frac{L^{2}}{N} |\Delta u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})}^{2} \right),$$
(5.1.2)

where c_{14} is an absolute constant.

We will give the proof below, written in a slightly different manner (and possibly different constants) to that in [12], so that it will be easier to compare with the analogous collocation lemma for the sphere, presented later in Chapter 6.

Proof. Let $Q = [0, l] \times [0, l]$ be a square and assume that we know the values of $v \in H^2(Q)$ at the corners (0, 0), (0, l), (l, 0) and (l, l). We will obtain bounds on the "one-dimensional" L^2 norms of v over Q (i.e. norms with one variable fixed), then use these to bound $|u|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)}$.

We first aim to integrate $v \in H^2(Q)$ from (0,0) to $\mathbf{P} = (x_p, y_p) \in R := [l/2, l] \times [l/2, l]$ (i.e. R is the quadrant of Q furthest from (0,0)). By the fundamental theorem of calculus,

$$v^{2}(x_{p}, y) = v^{2}(x, y) + \int_{x}^{x_{p}} \partial_{x} v^{2}(x', y) \,\mathrm{d}x', \qquad (5.1.3)$$

where $x \in [0, x_p]$. Integrating this with respect to x and y over the rectangle $\Omega_p := [0, x_p] \times [0, y_p]$ gives

$$\int_{0}^{y_{p}} \int_{0}^{x_{p}} v^{2}(x_{p}, y) \,\mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y = |v|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{p})}^{2} + \int_{0}^{y_{p}} \int_{0}^{x_{p}} \int_{x}^{x_{p}} \partial_{x} v^{2}(x', y) \,\mathrm{d}x' \,\mathrm{d}x \,\mathrm{d}y.$$
(5.1.4)



Figure 5.1: Illustration of R and Ω_p within Q.

The left hand side of (5.1.4) is equal to

$$\int_{0}^{y_p} \int_{0}^{x_p} v^2(x_p, y) \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y = |x_p| \int_{0}^{y_p} v^2(x_p, y) \, \mathrm{d}y = |x_p| |v(x_p, \cdot)|_{L^2(0, y_p)}^2, \qquad (5.1.5)$$

where we have used the absolute value of x_p to emphasize that this is the length $(x_p - 0)$, rather than the coordinate itself. The right hand side of (5.1.4) becomes

$$\begin{split} |v|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{p})}^{2} &+ \int_{0}^{y_{p}} \int_{0}^{x_{p}} \int_{x}^{x_{p}} \partial_{x} v^{2}(x', y) \, \mathrm{d}x' \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y \\ &\leq |v|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{p})}^{2} + 2 \int_{0}^{y_{p}} \int_{0}^{x_{p}} \int_{x}^{x_{p}} |v \, \partial_{x} v|(x', y) \, \mathrm{d}x' \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y \\ &\leq |v|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{p})}^{2} + 2 \int_{0}^{y_{p}} \int_{0}^{x_{p}} \int_{0}^{x_{p}} |v \, \partial_{x} v|(x', y) \, \mathrm{d}x' \, \mathrm{d}x \, \mathrm{d}y \\ &= |v|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{p})}^{2} + 2|x_{p}||v \, \partial_{x} v|_{L^{1}(\Omega_{p})} \\ &\leq |v|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{p})}^{2} + 2|x_{p}||v|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{p})}|\partial_{x} v|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{p})} \qquad \text{by Hölder} \\ &\leq 2|v|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{p})}^{2} + |x_{p}|^{2}|\partial_{x} v|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{p})}^{2} \qquad \text{by Young.} \end{split}$$

Thus applying (5.1.5) and (5.1.6) to (5.1.4) gives

$$|v(x_p, \cdot)|^2_{L^2(0, y_p)} \le \frac{2}{|x_p|} |v|^2_{L^2(\Omega_p)} + |x_p| |\partial_x v|^2_{L^2(\Omega_p)}.$$
(5.1.7)

Similarly to (5.1.3) but by integrating in the y-direction instead, we have

$$v^{2}(x, y_{p}) = v^{2}(x, y) + \int_{y}^{y_{p}} \partial_{y} v^{2}(x, y') \,\mathrm{d}y, \qquad (5.1.8)$$

where $y \in [0, y_p]$. By symmetry, we obtain

$$|v(\cdot, y_p)|^2_{L^2(0, x_p)} \le \frac{2}{|y_p|} |v|^2_{L^2(\Omega_p)} + |y_p| |\partial_y v|^2_{L^2(\Omega_p)}.$$
(5.1.9)

Equipped with (5.1.7) and (5.1.9), we integrate u from (0,0) to $(x,y) \in R$ as follows. By the triangle inequality, we have

$$u(x,y) - u(0,0) \le |u(x,y) - u(0,0)| \le |u(x,y) - u(x,0)| + |u(x,0) - u(0,0)|,$$

which, after rearranging, implies that

$$u^{2}(x,y) \leq 3u^{2}(0,0) + 3|u(x,y) - u(x,0)|^{2} + 3|u(x,0) - u(0,0)|^{2}.$$
 (5.1.10)

By applying (5.1.7) to $v = \partial_y u$, x_p replaced by x and y_p by y, the second term on the right hand side of this is bounded by

$$\begin{aligned} |u(x,y) - u(x,0)|^2 &= \left| \int_0^y \partial_y u(x,y') dy' \right|^2 \le |\partial_y u(x,\cdot)|^2_{L^1(0,y)} \\ &\le |1|^2_{L^2(0,y)} |\partial_y u(x,\cdot)|^2_{L^2(0,y)} \\ &= |y| |\partial_y u(x,\cdot)|^2_{L^2(0,y)} \\ &\le |l| \left(\frac{2}{|x|} |\partial_y u|^2_{L^2([0,x] \times [0,y])} + |x| |\partial^2_{xy} u|^2_{L^2([0,x] \times [0,y])} \right) \\ &\le |l| \left(\frac{2}{|l/2|} |\partial_y u|^2_{L^2(Q)} + |l| |\partial^2_{xy} u|^2_{L^2(Q)} \right) \\ &= 4 |\partial_y u|^2_{L^2(Q)} + |l|^2 |\partial^2_{xy} u|^2_{L^2(Q)}. \end{aligned}$$
(5.1.11)

Similarly, we would like to apply (5.1.9) to $v = \partial_x u$. We note that we need to rotate Q in order to do so, since we require $y_p = 0$.



Figure 5.2: Rotation of Q in order to define $R \ni (x_p, 0)$ and corresponding Ω_p .

Thus by integrating $v = \partial_x u$ from (0, l) instead of (0, 0), we bound the last term of (5.1.10) by

$$\begin{aligned} |u(x,0) - u(0,0)|^2 &= \left| \int_0^x \partial_x u(x',0) \, \mathrm{d}x' \right|^2 \le |\partial_x u(\cdot,0)|_{L^1(0,x)}^2 \\ &\le |1|_{L^2(0,x)}^2 |\partial_x u(\cdot,0)|_{L^2(0,x)}^2 \\ &= |l| |\partial_x u(\cdot,0)|_{L^2(0,x)}^2 \\ &\le |l| \left(\frac{2}{|l/2|} |\partial_x u|_{L^2(Q)}^2 + |l| |\partial_{xy}^2 u|_{L^2(Q)}^2 \right) \qquad \text{by (5.1.9)} \\ &= 4 |\partial_x u|_{L^2(Q)}^2 + |l|^2 |\partial_{xy}^2 u|_{L^2(Q)}^2. \end{aligned}$$

Applying (5.1.11) and (5.1.12) to (5.1.10) gives

$$\begin{aligned} u^{2}(x,y) &\leq 3u^{2}(0,0) + 3|u(x,y) - u(x,0)|^{2} + 3|u(x,0) - u(0,0)|^{2} \\ &\leq 3u^{2}(0,0) + 12|\partial_{y}u|_{L^{2}(Q)}^{2} + 12|\partial_{x}u|_{L^{2}(Q)}^{2} + 6|l|^{2}|\partial_{xy}^{2}u|_{L^{2}(Q)}^{2} \\ &\leq 3u^{2}(0,0) + 24|\nabla u|_{L^{2}(Q)}^{2} + 6|l|^{2}|\partial_{xy}^{2}u|_{L^{2}(Q)}^{2} \\ &= 3u^{2}(0,0) + 24|\nabla u|_{L^{2}(Q)}^{2} + 6|Q||\partial_{xy}^{2}u|_{L^{2}(Q)}^{2}. \end{aligned}$$
(5.1.13)

We integrate this over R, giving

$$|u|_{L^{2}(R)}^{2} \leq 3|R|u^{2}(0,0) + 24|R||\nabla u|_{L^{2}(Q)}^{2} + 6|R||Q||\partial_{xy}^{2}u|_{L^{2}(Q)}^{2}.$$
(5.1.14)

We then "rotate" R three times and take the sum to cover Q (i.e. we integrate from the three other nodes too, over all the quadrants):

$$|u|_{L^{2}(Q)}^{2} \leq 3|Q| \max\{u^{2}(0,0), u^{2}(0,l), u^{2}(l,0), u^{2}(l,l)\} + 24|Q||\nabla u|_{L^{2}(Q)}^{2} + 6|Q|^{2}|\partial_{xy}^{2}u|_{L^{2}(Q)}^{2}.$$
(5.1.15)

Now that we have bounds on $|u|_{L^2(Q)}$, we use these to bound $|u|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)}$. We divide \mathbb{T}^2 into N equal squares $Q_i, i \in \{1, \dots, N\}$, each of side length L/\sqrt{N} , and place the nodes at their corners (noting that periodicity implies that we have \sqrt{N} rows and columns of nodes, rather than $\sqrt{N} + 1$). We apply (5.1.15) to $Q = Q_i$, which gives

$$|u|_{L^{2}(Q_{i})}^{2} \leq 3|Q_{i}|\eta^{2}(u) + 24|Q_{i}||\nabla u|_{L^{2}(Q_{i})}^{2} + 6|Q_{i}|^{2}|\partial_{xy}^{2}u|_{L^{2}(Q_{i})}^{2}$$

$$= 3|Q_{i}|\eta^{2}(u) + 24\frac{L^{2}}{N}|\nabla u|_{L^{2}(Q_{i})}^{2} + 6\frac{L^{4}}{N^{2}}|\partial_{xy}^{2}u|_{L^{2}(Q_{i})}^{2}.$$
(5.1.16)

Taking the sum over $i \in \{1, \dots, N\}$ gives

$$\begin{aligned} |u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})}^{2} &\leq 3|\mathbb{T}^{2}|\eta^{2}(u) + 24\frac{L^{2}}{N}|\nabla u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})}^{2} + 6\frac{L^{4}}{N^{2}}|\partial_{xy}^{2}u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})}^{2} \\ &\leq 3|\mathbb{T}^{2}|\eta^{2}(u) + 24\frac{L^{2}}{N}|\nabla u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})}^{2} + 3\frac{L^{4}}{N^{2}}|\Delta u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})}^{2} \\ &= 3L^{2}\eta^{2}(u) - 24\frac{L^{2}}{N}(u,\Delta u)_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})} + 3\frac{L^{4}}{N^{2}}|\Delta u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})}^{2} \\ &\leq 3L^{2}\eta^{2}(u) + 24\frac{L^{2}}{N}|u\Delta u|_{L^{1}(\mathbb{T}^{2})} + 3\frac{L^{4}}{N^{2}}|\Delta u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})}^{2} \\ &\leq 3L^{2}\eta^{2}(u) + 24\frac{L^{2}}{N}|u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})}|\Delta u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})} + 3\frac{L^{4}}{N^{2}}|\Delta u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})}^{2} \\ &\leq 3L^{2}\eta^{2}(u) + 24\frac{L^{2}}{N}|u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})}|\Delta u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})} + 3\frac{L^{4}}{N^{2}}|\Delta u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})}^{2} \\ &\leq 3L^{2}\eta^{2}(u) + 24\frac{L^{2}}{N}|u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})}|\Delta u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})} + 3\frac{L^{4}}{N^{2}}|\Delta u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})}^{2} \\ &\leq 3L^{2}\eta^{2}(u) + 24\frac{L^{2}}{N}|u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})}|\Delta u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})} + 3\frac{L^{4}}{N^{2}}|\Delta u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})}^{2} \\ &\leq 3L^{2}\eta^{2}(u) + 24\frac{L^{2}}{N}|u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})}|\Delta u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})} + 3\frac{L^{4}}{N^{2}}|\Delta u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})}^{2} \\ &\leq 3L^{2}\eta^{2}(u) + 24\frac{L^{2}}{N}|u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})}|\Delta u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})} + 3\frac{L^{4}}{N^{2}}|\Delta u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})}^{2} \\ &\leq 3L^{2}\eta^{2}(u) + 24\frac{L^{2}}{N}|u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})}|\Delta u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})} + 3\frac{L^{4}}{N^{2}}|\Delta u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})}^{2} \\ &\leq 3L^{2}\eta^{2}(u) + 24\frac{L^{2}}{N}|u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})}|\Delta u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{T}^{2})} \\ &\leq 3L^{2}\eta^{2}(u) + 24\frac{L^{2}}{N}|u|_{L^{2}(\mathbb$$

where the second line is due to integration by parts and the periodicity of the domain:

$$\begin{aligned} |\partial_{xy}^{2}u|^{2} &= \int_{-L/2}^{L/2} \int_{0}^{L} (\partial_{xy}^{2}u)^{2} \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \int_{-L/2}^{L/2} \left(\left[\partial_{y}u \, \partial_{xy}^{2}u \right]_{x=0}^{x=L} - \int_{0}^{L} \partial_{y}u \, \partial_{xxy}^{3}u \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \right) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{y} \\ &= -\int_{-L/2}^{L/2} \int_{0}^{L} \partial_{y}u \, \partial_{xxy}^{3}u \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= -\int_{0}^{L} \left(\left[\partial_{y}u \, \partial_{xx}^{2}u \right]_{y=-L/2}^{y=L/2} - \int_{-L/2}^{L/2} \partial_{yy}^{2}u \, \partial_{xx}^{2}u \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{y} \right) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \\ &= \int_{0}^{L} \int_{-L/2}^{L/2} \partial_{xx}^{2}u \, \partial_{yy}^{2}u \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \end{aligned}$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{T}^2} \left((\partial_{xx}^2 u)^2 + 2\partial_{xx}^2 u \, \partial_{yy}^2 u + (\partial_{yy}^2 u)^2 \right) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x}$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} |\Delta u|^2.$$

Thus (5.1.17) becomes

$$\begin{aligned} |u|^2 &\leq 3L^2 \eta^2(u) + 24 \frac{L^2}{N} |u| |\Delta u| + 3 \frac{L^4}{N^2} |\Delta u|^2 \\ &\leq 3L^2 \eta^2(u) + \frac{1}{2} |u|^2 + 288 \frac{L^4}{N^2} |\Delta u|^2 + 3 \frac{L^4}{N^2} |\Delta u|^2 \qquad \text{by Young,} \end{aligned}$$

leading to

$$|u|^2 \le 6L^2 \eta^2(u) + 582 \frac{L^4}{N^2} |\Delta u|^2,$$

which is (5.1.1). Applying this to (3.3.11) gives the first part of (5.1.2):

$$|\nabla u|^2 = -(u, \Delta u) \le |u\Delta u|_1 \le |u| |\Delta u|$$
 by Hölder

$$\leq \frac{N}{2L^2} |u|^2 + \frac{L}{2N} |\Delta u|^2 \qquad \qquad \text{by Young}$$

$$\leq \frac{N}{2L^2} \left(6L^2 \eta^2(u) + 582 \frac{L^4}{N^2} |\Delta u|^2 \right) + \frac{L^2}{2N} |\Delta u|^2 \qquad \text{by (5.1.1)}$$
$$= 3N\eta^2(u) + \frac{583}{2} \frac{L^2}{N} |\Delta u|^2.$$

Using Agmon's inequality instead of (3.3.11) and following the same steps as above gives

$$|u|_{\infty}^{2} \leq c |u| |\Delta u| \qquad \text{by Agmon}$$
$$\leq \dots \leq c N \eta^{2}(u) + c \frac{L^{2}}{N} |\Delta u|^{2},$$

which is the second part of (5.1.2). This concludes the proof.

An alternative approach to prove the same lemma is to adapt the following lemma from Pasciak [23] (see [24] also). The collocation operator \mathbb{I}_N describes the unique operator that interpolates u to the equally spaced nodes of \mathbb{T}^2 , via the approximation space $S_N := \text{span} \{ e^{i \mathbf{k} \cdot \mathbf{x}} : |\mathbf{k}| \leq 2\pi N/L \}$. It can be compared to the inverse of the discrete Fourier transform. Our N below refers to the total number of nodal points (as is in the entirety of the thesis), which corresponds to N^2 in Pasciak's paper.

Lemma 19. Let \mathbb{I}_N denote the collocation operator on $u \in L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)$. Then there exists an absolute constant c_{15} such that

$$|u - \mathbb{I}_N u|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)} \le c_{15} \, \frac{|\mathbb{T}^2|}{N} |\Delta u|_{L^2(\mathbb{T}^2)}.$$
(5.1.18)

The lemma immediately implies that

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^2} \left(u(\boldsymbol{x}) - \mathbb{I}_N u(\boldsymbol{x}) \right)^2 \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} = |u - \mathbb{I}_N u|^2 \le c \, \frac{|\mathbb{T}^2|^2}{N^2} |\Delta u|^2.$$

Expanding the brackets and rearranging gives

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{T}^2} & \left(u^2(\boldsymbol{x}) + \left(\mathbb{I}_N u(\boldsymbol{x}) \right)^2 \right) \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} \le 2 \int_{\mathbb{T}^2} |u(\boldsymbol{x}) \mathbb{I}_N u(\boldsymbol{x})| \, \mathrm{d}\boldsymbol{x} + c \, \frac{|\mathbb{T}^2|^2}{N^2} |\Delta u|^2 \\ & \le 2|u| |\mathbb{I}_N u| + c \, \frac{|\mathbb{T}^2|^2}{N^2} |\Delta u|^2 \qquad \text{by H\"older} \\ & \le \frac{1}{2} |u|^2 + 2|\mathbb{I}_N u|^2 + c \, \frac{|\mathbb{T}^2|^2}{N^2} |\Delta u|^2 \qquad \text{by Young.} \end{split}$$

Removing the second term on the left hand side and rearranging again gives (see [23] for the last inequality)

$$|u|^2 \leq 4 \, |\mathbb{I}_N u|^2 + c \, \frac{|\mathbb{T}^2|^2}{N^2} |\Delta u|^2 \leq c \, |\mathbb{T}^2| \eta^2(u) + c \, \frac{|\mathbb{T}^2|^2}{N^2} |\Delta u|^2,$$

which is exactly (5.1.1) up to a constant. As in our proof, (5.1.2) can be easily derived from this.

5.2 Bounds on the number of determining nodes

As with our proof on the determining modes (Theorem 13), we consider different forms of the zonal forcing \bar{f} , as given in (3.3.1) to (3.3.3), and the consequences they have on the number of determining nodes.

Theorem 20 (Determining nodes on the periodic β -plane). Let $\delta \omega$ be the solution of (5.0.2) with $f \in H^2(\mathbb{T}^2)$. Then there exists a set of determining nodes $\mathcal{E} = \{\boldsymbol{x}^1, \cdots, \boldsymbol{x}^N\} \subset \mathbb{T}^2$, when (a) \bar{f} satisfies (3.3.1) and

$$N > c_{16}(\nu_0) \max\left\{\varepsilon^{1/2} M_0^{1/2}, (\kappa_f/\kappa_0)^{1/3} \mathcal{G}_0^{2/3}\right\}, \text{ or}$$
(5.2.1)

(b) \bar{f} satisfies (3.3.2) and

$$N > c_{17}(\nu_0, s) \max\left\{\varepsilon^{1/2} M_0^{1/2}, \mathcal{G}_0^{(4s+5)/(6s+5)}\right\} or$$
(5.2.2)

(c) \bar{f} satisfies (3.3.3) and

$$N > c_{18}(\nu_0) \max \left\{ \varepsilon^{1/2} M_0^{1/2}, \ F_{\gamma}^* (\nu_0^{-1} \mathcal{G}_0^{2/3})^{1/3} \mathcal{G}_0^{2/3} \right\},$$
(5.2.3)

for constants c_{16} , c_{17} , c_{18} , F_{γ}^* defined as in (5.2.27) below and sufficiently small ε .

The above-mentioned smallness requirements on ε are given in (5.2.18), (5.2.24) and (5.2.28). We have chosen to state them later and separately from the statement of the theorem for clarity; one could include them here in exchange for longer and more complicated-looking bounds on N.

We note that since we will use Lemma 18 in the proof that follows, the implicit assumption of the theorem is that N is the square of an integer.

Similarly to Theorem 13, (5.2.27) implies that $F^*_{\gamma}(u)$ scales as $\log u/(2\gamma)$ for large u, so that the second and larger (dominant) bound in (5.2.3) scales basically as $\mathcal{G}_0^{2/3} \log \mathcal{G}_0$.

We also note immediately that these bounds are qualitatively worse than the modes' equivalent given in Theorem 13, since one would expect N to scale as $(\kappa/\kappa_0)^2$ (this is apparent by comparing the dimensions of N and κ/κ_0), but our bounds on N are worse. Our speculation is that this is purely due to a technical and artificial issue such that we cannot (almost entirely) carry over the proof for the determining modes, rather than there being a fundamental qualitative difference between the modes and nodes.

Proof. We begin by multiplying (5.0.2) by $\delta \omega$ in L^2 :

$$(\partial_t \delta\omega, \delta\omega) + (\partial(\psi^{\sharp}, \delta\omega), \delta\omega) + (\partial(\delta\psi, \omega), \delta\omega) + \frac{\kappa_0}{\varepsilon} (\partial_x \delta\psi, \delta\omega) = \mu(\Delta\delta\omega, \delta\omega).$$
(5.2.4)

As in (3.4.5), the fourth term is 0:

$$\begin{split} \frac{\kappa_0}{\varepsilon} (\partial_x \delta \psi, \delta \omega) &= \frac{\kappa_0}{\varepsilon} \sum_{\boldsymbol{k}} \mathrm{i} k_1 \delta \psi_{\boldsymbol{k}} \overline{\delta \omega_{\boldsymbol{k}}} \\ &= \frac{\kappa_0}{\varepsilon} \sum_{\boldsymbol{k}} -\mathrm{i} k_1 |\boldsymbol{k}|^2 \delta \psi_{\boldsymbol{k}} \overline{\delta \psi_{\boldsymbol{k}}} = 0. \end{split}$$

Furthermore, the second term is also 0, due to (3.1.17). Thus (5.2.4) becomes

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}|\delta\omega|^2 + (\partial(\delta\psi,\omega),\delta\omega) = \mu(\Delta\delta\omega,\delta\omega), \qquad (5.2.5)$$

of which the right hand side becomes, as in (3.3.12),

$$\mu(\Delta\delta\omega,\delta\omega) = -\mu|\nabla\delta\omega|^2. \tag{5.2.6}$$

By splitting the vorticity into $\omega = \bar{\omega} + \tilde{\omega}$, the second term of (5.2.5) becomes

$$(\partial(\delta\psi,\omega),\delta\omega) = (\partial(\delta\psi,\bar{\omega}),\delta\omega) + (\partial(\delta\psi,\tilde{\omega}),\delta\omega).$$
(5.2.7)

Similarly to (3.4.10), we further split the zonal vorticity $\bar{\omega}$ into $\bar{\omega} = \bar{\omega}^{< f} + \bar{\omega}^{> f}$, where $\bar{\omega}^{< f} = \mathsf{P}_{\kappa_f} \bar{\omega}$ and $\bar{\omega}^{> f} = \bar{\omega} - \bar{\omega}^{< f}$, for some $\kappa_f \ge \kappa_0$ that we will fix later. Rearranging (5.2.5) thus gives

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}|\delta\omega|^2 + \mu|\nabla\delta\omega|^2 = -(\partial(\delta\psi,\tilde{\omega}),\delta\omega) - (\partial(\delta\psi,\bar{\omega}^{< f}),\delta\omega) - (\partial(\delta\psi,\bar{\omega}^{> f}),\delta\omega).$$
(5.2.8)

Now we choose \mathcal{E} to be the set of N equally spaced points over \mathbb{T}^2 (i.e. arranged in a square grid). We use (5.1.2) to bound the first term on the right hand side of (5.2.8):

$$\begin{aligned} |(\partial(\delta\psi,\tilde{\omega}),\delta\omega)| &\leq |\nabla\delta\psi|_{\infty} |\nabla\tilde{\omega}|_{2} |\delta\omega|_{2} & \text{by H\"older} \\ &\leq c\mu \frac{N}{L^{2}} |\nabla\delta\psi|_{\infty}^{2} + \frac{cL^{2}}{\mu N} |\nabla\tilde{\omega}|^{2} |\delta\omega|^{2} & \text{by Young} \\ &\leq c\mu \frac{N}{L^{2}} \Big[N\eta^{2} (\nabla\delta\psi) + \frac{L^{2}}{N} |\nabla\delta\omega|^{2} \Big] + \frac{cL^{2}}{\mu N} |\nabla\tilde{\omega}|^{2} |\delta\omega|^{2} & \text{by (5.1.2).} \end{aligned}$$

(5.2.10)

We then use (5.1.1) on the second term on the right hand side of (5.2.8):

$$\begin{split} |(\partial(\delta\psi,\bar{\omega}^{$$

We bound the last term of (5.2.8) as

$$\begin{split} |(\partial(\delta\psi,\bar{\omega}^{>f}),\delta\omega)| &\leq |\nabla\delta\psi|_{\infty}|\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}|_{2}|\delta\omega|_{2} \\ &\leq c\mu\frac{N}{L^{2}}|\nabla\delta\psi|_{\infty}^{2} + \frac{cL^{2}}{\mu N}|\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}|_{2}^{2}|\delta\omega|_{2}^{2} \qquad \text{by Young} \\ &\leq c\mu\frac{N}{L^{2}}\Big[N\eta^{2}(\nabla\delta\psi) + \frac{L^{2}}{N}|\nabla\delta\omega|^{2}\Big] + \frac{cL^{2}}{\mu N}|\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^{2}|\delta\omega|^{2} \qquad \text{by (5.1.2).} \end{split}$$

$$(5.2.11)$$

Finally, we also apply (5.1.2) to the second term on the left hand side of (5.2.8) and rearrange to obtain

$$|\delta\omega|^{2} \leq c \left(N\eta^{2}(\nabla\delta\psi) + \frac{L^{2}}{N}|\nabla\delta\omega|^{2} \right)$$

$$\Rightarrow c \mu \frac{N}{L^{2}}|\delta\omega|^{2} - c\mu \frac{N^{2}}{L^{2}}\eta^{2}(\nabla\delta\psi) \leq \mu |\nabla\delta\omega|^{2}.$$
(5.2.12)

Thus putting together (5.2.8) to (5.2.12) gives

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} |\delta\omega|^2 + |\delta\omega|^2 \left[c\mu \frac{N}{L^2} - \frac{cL^2}{\mu N} |\nabla\tilde{\omega}|^2 - \frac{cL^4}{\mu N^2} \kappa_0 \kappa_f |\nabla\omega|^2 - \frac{cL^2}{\mu N} |\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \right] \\
\leq c\mu \frac{N^2}{L^2} \, \eta^2 (\nabla\delta\psi).$$
(5.2.13)

We seek to apply Lemma 8 to $\xi = |\delta\omega|^2$, ρ being the bracket on the left hand side and σ the right hand side of (5.2.13). The hypothesis of the lemma on $\sigma = (c\mu N/L^2) \eta^2 (\nabla \delta \psi)$ is met because $\nabla \delta \psi(\boldsymbol{x}^i, t) \to 0$ as $t \to \infty$ for all i and $|\nabla \omega|$ is bounded due to (3.4.19), while that on ξ follows from the regularity of the Navier–Stokes equations.

The hypothesis on ρ would follow immediately if

$$\limsup_{t \to \infty} \int_t^{t+1} \left(\frac{L^2}{\mu N} |\nabla \tilde{\omega}|^2 + \frac{L^4}{\mu N^2} \kappa_0 \kappa_f |\nabla \omega|^2 + \frac{L^2}{\mu N} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \right) \mathrm{d}\tau < c \mu \frac{N}{L^2},$$

which is equivalent to

$$\limsup_{t \to \infty} \int_{t}^{t+1} \left(\frac{1}{\nu_0 N} |\nabla \tilde{\omega}|^2 + \frac{1}{\nu_0 N^2} \frac{\kappa_f}{\kappa_0} |\nabla \omega|^2 + \frac{1}{\nu_0 N} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \right) d\tau < c \,\nu_0 N, \quad (5.2.14)$$

where we recall $\nu_0 = \mu \kappa_0^2 = 4\pi^2 \mu/L^2$. Without any further assumptions, we would require that each of the three terms on the left hand side satisfies the inequality independently.

For the first term, we note that (3.2.9) implies

$$\int_{t}^{t+1} |\nabla \tilde{\omega}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\tau \le \varepsilon M_0 / \nu_0,$$

so (5.2.14) for the $|\nabla \tilde{\omega}|^2$ term would be satisfied for

$$N^2 > c \,\varepsilon M_0 / \nu_0^3. \tag{5.2.15}$$

For the second term, we recall from Chapter 3 that (3.4.19) implies

$$\int_t^{t+1} |\nabla \omega|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\tau \le c \,\nu_0 \mathcal{G}_0^2,$$

so the $|\nabla \omega|$ part of (5.2.14) is implied by

$$N > \frac{c}{\nu_0^{1/3}} \left(\frac{\kappa_f}{\kappa_0}\right)^{1/3} \mathcal{G}_0^{2/3}.$$
 (5.2.16)

For the inequality involving $|\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2$ in (5.2.14), we need to handle the cases separately according to the different forms of \bar{f} .

We consider first when \bar{f} satisfies (3.3.1). By (3.3.4),

$$\int_t^{t+1} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\tau \le c \,\varepsilon^2 M_0^2 / \nu_0^3,$$

so the $|\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|$ part of (5.2.14) holds if

$$N > c \,\varepsilon M_0 / \nu_0^{5/2}.\tag{5.2.17}$$

This bound is dominated by (5.2.15) when

$$\varepsilon M_0 \le c \,\nu_0^2. \tag{5.2.18}$$

Assuming this, (5.2.1) follows from (5.2.15) and (5.2.16).

For \bar{f} instead satisfying (3.3.2), we apply Lemma 9 to (3.3.5) to remark that

$$\int_{t}^{t+1} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\tau \le c \,\varepsilon^2 M_0^2 / \nu_0^3 + c \,c_{\zeta}(s) \,\nu_0 \,(\kappa_0 / \kappa_f)^{2s+1} \,\mathcal{G}_0^2 = I_1, \tag{5.2.19}$$

where $1/c_{\zeta}(s) = (2s+1)\zeta(2s+2)$. Therefore, the $|\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2$ part of (5.2.14) would be satisfied if $I_1 \leq c \nu_0^2 N^2$; analogously to what we did with (5.2.14), this in turn is implied by

$$N^2 > c \,(\varepsilon M_0)^2 / \nu_0^5, \qquad \text{and}$$
 (5.2.20)

$$N^{2} > \frac{c}{\nu_{0}} c_{\zeta}(s) (\kappa_{0}/\kappa_{f})^{2s+1} \mathcal{G}_{0}^{2}.$$
(5.2.21)

Since (5.2.16) and (5.2.21) must both hold, we equate these bounds (noting that (5.2.21) scales as N^2 instead of N) to find the optimal κ_f that will minimise the bounds on N:

$$c \frac{c_{\zeta}(s)}{\nu_0} \left(\frac{\kappa_0}{\kappa_f}\right)^{2s+1} \mathcal{G}_0^2 = \frac{c}{\nu_0^{2/3}} \left(\frac{\kappa_f}{\kappa_0}\right)^{2/3} \mathcal{G}_0^{4/3}$$
$$\iff (\kappa_f/\kappa_0)^{2s+5/3} = c c_{\zeta}(s) \nu_0^{-1} \mathcal{G}_0^{2/3}.$$
(5.2.22)

Thus fixing κ_f , both (5.2.16) and (5.2.21) now read

$$N > c \left(c_{\zeta}(s) \nu_0^{-1} \mathcal{G}_0^{4s+5} \right)^{1/(6s+5)}.$$
(5.2.23)

As with the case when \bar{f} satisfies (3.3.1), we compare (5.2.15) and (5.2.23) to find that the bound given in (5.2.15) dominates for

$$\varepsilon M_0 \le c \,\nu_0^{3-2/(6s+5)} (c_{\zeta}(s) \,\mathcal{G}_0^{4s+5})^{2/(6s+5)},$$
(5.2.24)

which we assume, thus giving (5.2.2).

Finally we consider \overline{f} satisfying (3.3.3). Applying Lemma 9 to (3.3.6) gives

$$\int_{t}^{t+1} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\tau \le c \, (\varepsilon M_0)^2 / \nu_0^3 + c \, \nu_0 \, \mathrm{e}^{2\gamma(1-\kappa_f/\kappa_0)} \, \mathcal{G}_0^2.$$

As before, the $|\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2$ part of (5.2.14) is satisfied when both of the following hold:

$$N^2 > c (\varepsilon M_0)^2 \nu_0^{-5},$$
 and (5.2.25)

$$N^2 > c \,\nu_0^{-1} \mathrm{e}^{2\gamma(1-\kappa_f/\kappa_0)} \,\mathcal{G}_0^2. \tag{5.2.26}$$

We equate the right hand side of (5.2.16) and (5.2.26) to obtain

$$\frac{c}{\nu_0} e^{2\gamma(1-\kappa_f/\kappa_0)} \mathcal{G}_0^2 = \frac{c}{\nu_0^{2/3}} \left(\frac{\kappa_f}{\kappa_0}\right)^{2/3} \mathcal{G}_0^{4/3}$$
$$\iff (\kappa_f/\kappa_0)^{2/3} e^{2\gamma(\kappa_f/\kappa_0-1)} = c_\gamma^* \nu_0^{-1} \mathcal{G}_0^{2/3},$$

which we invert to find

$$\kappa_f/\kappa_0 = F_{\gamma}^*(\nu_0^{-1}\mathcal{G}_0^{2/3}),$$
 (5.2.27)

where $(F_{\gamma}^*)^{-1}(y) := y^{2/3} e^{2\gamma(y-1)} / c_{\gamma}^*$.

We compare (5.2.15) and (5.2.16) to determine that the bound given by (5.2.15)dominates when we assume

$$\varepsilon M_0 \le c \left(\frac{\kappa_f}{\kappa_0}\right)^{1/3} \nu_0^{8/3} \mathcal{G}_0^{2/3}.$$
(5.2.28)

This gives (5.2.3).

Chapter 6

Determining nodes on the sphere

In this chapter, we state and prove our theorem concerning the number of determining nodes on the rotating sphere. One could argue that this is the most "applicable" result of this thesis, in the sense that it is based on a rotating sphere (which can be used to approximate the behaviour of the earth's atmosphere or ocean currents, for example), and requires knowledge of the relevant function at physical points, rather than its harmonics, as was with the case of modes.

In order to prove our theorem, we need a spherical analogue of Lemma 18, which requires us to choose how we allocate the nodes. We do this by triangulating the sphere, the manner of which is described in Section 6.1. The bulk of the proof of the auxiliary lemma is in Sections 6.2.2 and 6.2.3.

We begin by recalling the necessary definitions and results. From Chapter 4, we recall that the vorticity form of the Navier–Stokes equations on the sphere is given by

$$\partial_t \omega + \partial(\psi, \omega) + \frac{2}{\varepsilon} \partial_\phi \psi = \mu \Delta \omega + f.$$
 (6.0.1)

Then for ω , ω^{\sharp} satisfying (6.0.1) with the same forcing and different initial conditions, $\delta\omega = \omega - \omega^{\sharp}$ satisfies

$$\partial_t \delta \omega + \partial(\psi^{\sharp}, \delta \omega) + \partial(\delta \psi, \omega) + \frac{2}{\varepsilon} \partial_{\phi} \delta \psi = \mu \Delta \delta \omega.$$
 (6.0.2)

The zonal and non-zonal components of the vorticity are given by

$$\begin{split} \bar{\omega}(\theta,t) &:= \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \omega(\theta,\phi,t) \, \mathrm{d}\phi, \qquad \text{and} \\ \tilde{\omega}(\theta,\phi,t) &:= \omega(\theta,\phi,t) - \bar{\omega}(\theta,t). \end{split}$$

We also recall the idea of determining nodes from Chapter 5 and adapt it to the sphere. The set $\mathcal{E} = \{ \boldsymbol{x}^1, \cdots, \boldsymbol{x}^N \} \subset S^2$ is said to be a set of determining nodes if

 $\lim_{t \to \infty} \delta \boldsymbol{v}(\boldsymbol{x}^i, t) = 0 \text{ for all } i \in \{1, \cdots, N\} \text{ implies } \lim_{t \to \infty} |\delta \omega(t)|_{L^2} = 0.$

6.1 Triangulation of the sphere

The implicit assumption on Lemma 18 was that the nodes were placed at equal spacings within the domain. Since we evidently cannot divide S^2 into squares the same way as in the planar case, we will need to allocate the nodes in a different manner for our spherical analogue.

Our approach is based on the icosahedral triangulation of the sphere, as follows. At iteration 0, we place $N_0 = 12$ nodes at the vertices of an inscribed regular icosahedron, and project the edges to the corresponding geodesic segments on the sphere (this is understood in what follows). The sphere is thus divided into $F_0 = 20$ equal (spherical equilateral) triangular faces. At each successive iteration, we put a new node in the middle of each edge, splitting the edge into two new edges, and connect the three new vertices on each face by new edges. The number of faces at iteration n is thus $F_n = 20 \cdot 4^n$, the number of edges is $E_n = 3F_n/2$ (since each face has three edges, each of which is shared by two faces) and by Euler's formula, the number of nodes is $N_n = 2 - F_n + E_n = 2 + 10 \cdot 4^n$.

We note that unlike the planar case, this approach implies that the faces formed by the placement of the nodes will have different sizes, for n > 0. In particular, the original $N_0 = 12$ nodes will always be part of exactly five neighbouring faces, whereas all other nodes will form part of six faces.



Figure 6.1: Subdivisions of a triangle at iteration n (not to scale). Shaded subtriangles are equilateral.

The triangulation also has the following property:

Lemma 21. Any triangle Δ in the icosahedral triangulation, at any level, has corner angles that satisfy

$$53^{\circ} \le \rho_0, \rho_1, \rho_2 \le 73^{\circ}.$$
 (6.1.1)

Geometric considerations and numerical computation suggest that the sharp bounds are 72°, which is the angle of the triangles in the icosahedron, and 54°. We seek instead to show (6.1.1) in order to keep the proof simple; these could be improved to 54^{-} and 72^{+} with some extra work but minimal conceptual difficulty. We defer the proof to the end of this chapter.

6.2 Collocation lemma

We now state the analogue of Lemma 18 for the sphere. We will use similar notation as we did in the proof of Lemma 18, in order to highlight the similarities and differences.

Lemma 22. Let $u \in H^2(S^2)$. Define

$$\eta(u) := \max_{1 \le i \le N} |u(\boldsymbol{x}^i)|,$$

where $\mathbf{x}^i \in S^2$, $i \in \{1, \dots, N\}$, are the vertices of the icosahedral triangulation of S^2 , as described above. Then

$$|u|_{L^{2}(S^{2})}^{2} \leq c_{19} \bigg(|S^{2}| \eta^{2}(u) + \frac{|S^{2}|^{2}}{N^{2}} |\Delta u|_{L^{2}(S^{2})}^{2} \bigg), \qquad (6.2.1)$$

$$|\nabla u|_{L^2(S^2)}^2, |u|_{L^{\infty}(S^2)}^2 \le c_{19} \left(N\eta^2(u) + \frac{|S^2|}{N} |\Delta u|_{L^2(S^2)}^2 \right), \tag{6.2.2}$$

where c_{19} is an absolute constant.

We note that we have chosen to leave $|S^2|$ as it is, rather than replace with $|S^2| = 4\pi$, to show how these inequalities relate to Lemma 18 and to emphasize the (length)² dimension. The N here is the number of nodes N_n in the icosahedral triangulation, i.e. it takes values of $N_n = 2 + 10 \cdot 4^n$.

The proof of Lemma 22 is split into parts as follows. In Section 6.2.1, we compute bounds on "one-dimensional" norms (i.e. with one variable fixed) of an arbitrary function $v \in H^2(\Delta_*)$. Here, Δ_* is an arbitrary spherical triangle with the constraints that its (corner) angles satisfy Lemma 21, and that its sides are no larger than those of the n = 0 triangles (i.e. no larger than $a_0 = \pi/2 - \tan^{-1}(1/2) = 1.10714871779\cdots$). We then use these to compute an estimate for $|u|_{L^2(\Delta_*)}$ in Section 6.2.2, followed by bounds over the whole of S^2 in Section 6.2.3. We conclude in Section 6.4 by proving Lemma 21.

6.2.1 Bounds with one variable fixed

We begin by proving an intermediate result, bounding the norms of a function on Δ_* that is fixed in one variable. We first choose our coordinates such that Δ_* lies in the northern hemisphere with one of its edges along the equator $\theta = \pi/2$ and one of its nodes at $(\theta, \phi) = (\pi/2, 0)$. We denote by $\mathbf{c} = (\theta_c, \phi_c)$ the centroid of Δ_* and define R as the intersection of Δ_* and the spherical sector $\{(\theta, \phi) \in S^2 : \theta \leq \theta_c\}$. We define h as the height of Δ_* (i.e. the geodesic distance between the top node of Δ_* and the equator), and the (left and right) longitudes where the bottom edge of R intersects Δ_* by ϕ_l and ϕ_r .

Using the spherical metric, we define the one-variable norms of v over a line of constant θ or ϕ as follows:

$$|v(\cdot,\phi')|^2_{L^2(\theta_0,\theta_1)} := \int_{\theta_0}^{\theta_1} |v(\theta,\phi')|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\theta, \qquad (6.2.3)$$

$$|v(\theta', \cdot)|^{2}_{L^{2}(\phi_{0}, \phi_{1})} := \int_{\phi_{0}}^{\phi_{1}} |v(\theta', \phi)|^{2} \sin \theta' \,\mathrm{d}\phi.$$
(6.2.4)

However, in this chapter we only apply (6.2.4) at the equator, such that we only concern ourselves with norms of the form:

$$|v(\pi/2,\cdot)|^2_{L^2(\phi_0,\phi_1)} = \int_{\phi_0}^{\phi_1} |v(\pi/2,\phi)|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\phi.$$
(6.2.5)

With these assumptions, we state the following lemma, which gives an analogue of (5.1.7) and (5.1.9) for the sphere.

Lemma 23. Let Δ_* be a triangle satisfying (6.1.1), and suppose that the values of $v \in H^2(\Delta_*)$ at all corners are given. Then, for any $(\theta_p, \phi_p) \in R$, one has

$$|v(\cdot,\phi_p)|^2_{L^2(\theta_p,\pi/2)} \le \frac{2}{|\phi_p|\sin\theta_p}|v|^2_{L^2(\Omega_p)} + \frac{|\phi_p|}{\sin\theta_p}|\partial_{\phi}v|^2_{L^2(\Omega_p)},$$
(6.2.6)

$$|v(\pi/2, \cdot)|^{2}_{L^{2}(0,\phi_{p})} \leq \frac{2}{\cos\theta_{p}} |v|^{2}_{L^{2}(\Omega_{p})} + \frac{\cos\theta_{p}}{\sin^{2}\theta_{p}} |\partial_{\theta}v|^{2}_{L^{2}(\Omega_{p})},$$
(6.2.7)

where $\Omega_p := [\theta_p, \pi/2] \times [0, \phi_p]$ and $L^2(\Omega_p)$ is defined using the spherical metric.



Figure 6.2: Illustration of R and Ω_p for some Δ_* .

Proof. We begin by integrating v from $(\pi/2, 0)$ to $\mathbf{P} = (\theta_p, \phi_p) \in \mathbb{R}$. By the fundamental theorem of calculus,

$$v^{2}(\theta,\phi_{p}) = v^{2}(\theta,\phi) + \int_{\phi}^{\phi_{p}} \partial_{\phi} v^{2}(\theta,\phi') \,\mathrm{d}\phi', \qquad (6.2.8)$$

where $(\theta, \phi) \in \Omega_p$. We integrate this with respect to θ and ϕ over Ω_p , using the spherical metric (i.e. $dA = \sin \theta \ d\theta \ d\phi$):

$$\int_{\theta_p}^{\pi/2} \int_0^{\phi_p} v^2(\theta, \phi_p) \sin \theta \, \mathrm{d}\phi \, \mathrm{d}\theta = |v|_{L^2(\Omega_p)}^2 + \int_{\theta_p}^{\pi/2} \int_0^{\phi_p} \int_\phi^{\phi_p} \partial_\phi v^2(\theta, \phi') \, \mathrm{d}\phi' \sin \theta \, \mathrm{d}\phi \, \mathrm{d}\theta.$$
(6.2.9)

Recalling the "fixed- ϕ " norm defined in (6.2.4), we replace $\sin \theta$ by $\sin \theta_p$ to bound the left hand side of (6.2.9) from below by

$$\int_{\theta_p}^{\pi/2} \int_0^{\phi_p} v^2(\theta, \phi_p) \sin \theta \, \mathrm{d}\phi \, \mathrm{d}\theta = |\phi_p| \int_{\theta_p}^{\pi/2} v^2(\theta, \phi_p) \sin \theta \, \mathrm{d}\theta$$
$$\geq |\phi_p| \int_{\theta_p}^{\pi/2} v^2(\theta, \phi_p) \sin \theta_p \, \mathrm{d}\theta = |\phi_p| \sin \theta_p |v(\cdot, \phi_p)|^2_{L^2(\theta_p, \pi/2)}, \tag{6.2.10}$$

where the absolute value of ϕ_p has been taken to emphasize that we mean the length $(\phi_p - 0)$, rather than the longitude itself. Using the spherical metric again, the right hand side of (6.2.9) is bounded by

We then apply (6.2.10) and (6.2.11) to (6.2.9) to obtain

$$|v(\cdot,\phi_p)|^2_{L^2(\theta_p,\pi/2)} \le \frac{2}{|\phi_p|\sin\theta_p} |v|^2_{L^2(\Omega_p)} + \frac{|\phi_p|}{\sin\theta_p} |\partial_\phi v|^2_{L^2(\Omega_p)}, \tag{6.2.12}$$

which is (6.2.6).

In the planar case, we could obtain the *y*-direction analogue of the bound in the *x*-direction by symmetry, however we cannot do this on the sphere, due to the non-equivalence between θ and ϕ and the triangular shape of the domain. We therefore explicitly follow the steps below.

Similarly to (6.2.8), the fundamental theorem of calculus implies that

$$v^{2}(\pi/2,\phi) = v^{2}(\theta,\phi) + \int_{\theta}^{\pi/2} \partial_{\theta} v^{2}(\theta',\phi) \,\mathrm{d}\theta', \qquad (6.2.13)$$

where $(\theta, \phi) \in \Omega_p$. Integrating this with respect to θ and ϕ over Ω_p gives

$$\int_{\theta_p}^{\pi/2} \int_0^{\phi_p} v^2(\pi/2,\phi) \sin\theta \,\mathrm{d}\phi \,\mathrm{d}\theta = |v|_{L^2(\Omega_p)}^2 + \int_{\theta_p}^{\pi/2} \int_0^{\phi_p} \int_{\theta}^{\pi/2} \partial_\theta v^2(\theta',\phi) \,\mathrm{d}\theta' \sin\theta \,\mathrm{d}\phi \,\mathrm{d}\theta.$$
(6.2.14)

The left hand side of this is equal to

$$\int_{\theta_p}^{\pi/2} \int_0^{\phi_p} v^2(\pi/2, \theta) \sin \theta \, \mathrm{d}\phi \, \mathrm{d}\theta = \int_{\theta_p}^{\pi/2} \sin \theta \int_0^{\phi_p} v^2(\pi/2, \phi) \sin(\pi/2) \, \mathrm{d}\phi \, \mathrm{d}\theta$$
$$= \left[-\cos \theta \right]_{\theta=\theta_p}^{\theta=\pi/2} \int_0^{\phi_p} v^2(\pi/2, \phi) \sin(\pi/2) \, \mathrm{d}\phi = \cos \theta_p \, |v(\pi/2, \cdot)|_{L^2(0,\phi_p)}^2.$$
(6.2.15)

The right hand side of (6.2.14) is bounded by

$$\begin{split} |v|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{p})}^{2} + \int_{\theta_{p}}^{\pi/2} \int_{0}^{\phi_{p}} \int_{\theta}^{\pi/2} \partial_{\theta} v^{2}(\theta', \phi) \, \mathrm{d}\theta' \sin \theta \, \mathrm{d}\phi \, \mathrm{d}\theta \\ &\leq |v|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{p})}^{2} + 2 \int_{\theta_{p}}^{\pi/2} \int_{0}^{\phi_{p}} \int_{\theta}^{\pi/2} |v \, \partial_{\theta} v|(\theta', \phi) \, \mathrm{d}\theta' \sin \theta \, \mathrm{d}\phi \, \mathrm{d}\theta \\ &\leq |v|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{p})}^{2} + 2 \int_{\theta_{p}}^{\pi/2} \int_{0}^{\phi_{p}} \int_{\theta_{p}}^{\pi/2} |v \, \partial_{\theta} v|(\theta', \phi) \, \frac{\sin \theta'}{\sin \theta'} \, \mathrm{d}\theta' \, \mathrm{d}\phi \sin \theta \, \mathrm{d}\theta \\ &\leq |v|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{p})}^{2} + \frac{2}{\sin \theta_{p}} \int_{\theta_{p}}^{\pi/2} \int_{0}^{\phi_{p}} \int_{\theta_{p}}^{\pi/2} |v \, \partial_{\theta} v|(\theta', \phi) \sin \theta' \, \mathrm{d}\theta' \, \mathrm{d}\phi \sin \theta \, \mathrm{d}\theta \\ &= |v|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{p})}^{2} + \frac{2}{\sin \theta_{p}} \left[-\cos \theta \right]_{\theta=\theta_{p}}^{\theta=\pi/2} \int_{\theta_{p}}^{\pi/2} \int_{0}^{\phi_{p}} |v \, \partial_{\theta} v|(\theta', \phi) \sin \theta' \, \mathrm{d}\theta' \, \mathrm{d}\phi \\ &\leq |v|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{p})}^{2} + 2 \, \frac{\cos \theta_{p}}{\sin \theta_{p}} \, |v|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{p})} |\partial_{\theta} v|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{p})} \qquad \text{by Hölder} \\ &\leq 2|v|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{p})}^{2} + \frac{\cos^{2} \theta_{p}}{\sin^{2} \theta_{p}} \, |\partial_{\theta} v|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{p})}^{2} \end{split}$$

(6.2.16)

Applying (6.2.15) and (6.2.16) to (6.2.14) thus gives (6.2.7):

$$|v(\pi/2, \cdot)|_{L^{2}(0,\phi_{p})}^{2} \leq \frac{2}{\cos \theta_{p}} |v|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{p})}^{2} + \frac{\cos \theta_{p}}{\sin^{2} \theta_{p}} |\partial_{\theta} v|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{p})}^{2}.$$
 (6.2.17)

Using this lemma, we bound $|u|_{L^2(\Delta_*)}$ in the following section.

6.2.2 Bounds over a triangle

The main part of the proof of Lemma 22 is split over this section and Section 6.2.3. We return to our function $u \in H^2(S^2)$ and derive bounds over Δ_* , which depends on values of u outside of Δ_* .

Proof of Lemma 22: We begin by integrating u from $(\pi/2, 0)$ to $(\theta, \phi) \in R \subset \Delta_*$. By the triangle inequality, we have

$$u(\theta,\phi) - u(\pi/2,0) \le |u(\theta,\phi) - u(\pi/2,\phi)| + |u(\pi/2,\phi) - u(\pi/2,0)|,$$

which implies that

$$u^{2}(\theta,\phi) \leq 3u^{2}(\pi/2,0) + 3|u(\theta,\phi) - u(\pi/2,\phi)|^{2} + 3|u(\pi/2,\phi) - u(\pi/2,0)|^{2}.$$
(6.2.18)

The second term on the right hand side of this is bounded by

$$|u(\theta,\phi) - u(\pi/2,\phi)|^{2} = \left| \int_{\theta}^{\pi/2} \partial_{\theta} u(\theta',\phi) \, \mathrm{d}\theta' \right|^{2} \leq |\partial_{\theta} u(\cdot,\phi)|^{2}_{L^{1}(\theta,\pi/2)}$$

$$\leq |1|^{2}_{L^{2}(\theta,\pi/2)} |\partial_{\theta} u(\cdot,\phi)|^{2}_{L^{2}(\theta,\pi/2)} \qquad \text{by H\"older}$$

$$= (\pi/2 - \theta) |\partial_{\theta} u(\cdot,\phi)|^{2}_{L^{2}(\theta,\pi/2)} \leq |h| |\partial_{\theta} u(\cdot,\phi)|^{2}_{L^{2}(\theta,\pi/2)}$$

$$\leq |h| |\partial_{\theta} u(\cdot,\phi)|^{2}_{L^{2}(\pi/2 - h,\pi/2)}. \qquad (6.2.19)$$

We apply (6.2.6) to $v = \partial_{\theta} u$, θ_p replaced by our $\theta \in [\pi/2 - h, \theta_c]$, ϕ_p being our $\phi \in [\phi_l, \phi_r]$ and $\Omega_p = [\theta, \pi/2] \times [0, \phi]$ to bound this further by

$$\begin{aligned} |u(\theta,\phi) - u(\pi/2,\phi)|^{2} &\leq |h| |\partial_{\theta} u(\cdot,\phi)|_{L^{2}(\pi/2-h,\pi/2)}^{2} \\ &\leq |h| \left(\frac{2}{|\phi|\sin\theta} |\partial_{\theta} u|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{q})}^{2} + \frac{|\phi|}{\sin\theta} |\partial_{\theta\phi}^{2} u|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{q})}^{2}\right) \\ &\leq |h| \left(\frac{2}{|\phi_{l}|\sin(\pi/2-h)} |\partial_{\theta} u|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{q})}^{2} + \frac{|\phi_{r}|}{\sin(\pi/2-h)} |\partial_{\theta\phi}^{2} u|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{q})}^{2}\right), \quad (6.2.20) \end{aligned}$$

where $\Omega_q := [\pi/2 - h, \pi/2] \times [0, \phi_r]$, and the last line follows by observing that $|\phi|^{-1} \leq |\phi_l|^{-1}, 1/\sin\theta \leq 1/\sin(\pi/2 - h)$ and $|\phi| \leq |\phi_r|$.

Similarly, the third term on the right hand side of (6.2.18) can be bounded by using



Figure 6.3: Illustration of Ω_q .

(6.2.7) on $v = \partial_{\phi} u$:

where the last line follows from noting that $1/\cos\theta \le 1/\cos\theta_c$, $\cos\theta \le \cos(\pi/2 - h)$ and $1/\sin^2\theta \le 1/\sin^2(\pi/2 - h)$. Thus by using (6.2.20) and (6.2.21), (6.2.18) becomes

$$\begin{aligned} u^{2}(\theta,\phi) &\leq 3u^{2}(\pi/2,0) + 3|u(\theta,\phi) - u(\pi/2,\phi)|^{2} + 3|u(\pi/2,\phi) - u(\pi/2,0)|^{2} \\ &\leq 3u^{2}(\pi/2,0) + \frac{6|h|}{|\phi_{l}|\sin(\pi/2-h)} |\partial_{\theta}u|^{2}_{L^{2}(\Omega_{q})} + 3\frac{|h||\phi_{r}|}{\sin(\pi/2-h)} |\partial_{\theta\phi}^{2}u|^{2}_{L^{2}(\Omega_{q})} \\ &\quad + \frac{6|\phi_{r}|}{\cos\theta_{c}} |\partial_{\phi}u|^{2}_{L^{2}(\Omega_{q})} + 3\frac{|\phi_{r}|\cos(\pi/2-h)|}{\sin^{2}(\pi/2-h)} |\partial_{\theta\phi}^{2}u|^{2}_{L^{2}(\Omega_{q})} \\ &\leq 3u^{2}(\pi/2,0) + 6\Big(\frac{|h|}{|\phi_{l}|\sin(\pi/2-h)} + \frac{|\phi_{r}|}{\cos\theta_{c}}\Big)|\nabla u|^{2}_{L^{2}(\Omega_{q})} \\ &\quad + 3\Big(\frac{|h||\phi_{r}|}{\sin(\pi/2-h)} + \frac{|\phi_{r}|\cos(\pi/2-h)|}{\sin^{2}(\pi/2-h)}\Big)|\partial_{\theta\phi}^{2}u|^{2}_{L^{2}(\Omega_{q})}. \end{aligned}$$
(6.2.22)

We integrate this over R to obtain

$$|u|_{L^{2}(R)}^{2} \leq 3|R|u^{2}(\pi/2,0) + 6|R| \left(\frac{|h|}{|\phi_{l}|\sin(\pi/2-h)} + \frac{|\phi_{r}|}{\cos\theta_{c}}\right) |\nabla u|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{q})}^{2} + 3|R| \left(\frac{|h||\phi_{r}|}{\sin(\pi/2-h)} + \frac{|\phi_{r}|\cos(\pi/2-h)}{\sin^{2}(\pi/2-h)}\right) |\partial_{\theta\phi}^{2}u|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{q})}^{2}.$$
(6.2.23)

Recalling the periodic case (5.1.15), in order to bound $|u|_{L^2(S^2)}$ we would like to "rotate" R twice so that the union of the three Rs corresponding to the three nodes will, by definition, cover Δ_* . We denote by R' and R'' the two other regions defined analogously to R, corresponding to the different choice of node of Δ_* being at $(\pi/2, 0)$, with $\Omega_{q'}$ and $\Omega_{q''}$ also defined similarly. Taking the sum of (6.2.23) corresponding to each node gives us a bound on u over Δ_* , keeping in mind that $\Omega_q \cup \Omega_{q'} \cup \Omega_{q''}$ is not contained within Δ_* :

$$\begin{split} |u|_{L^{2}(\Delta_{*})}^{2} &\leq |u|_{L^{2}(R)}^{2} + |u|_{L^{2}(R')}^{2} + |u|_{L^{2}(R'')}^{2} \\ &\leq 9R_{\max} \, \eta^{2}(u) + 6R_{\max} \Big(\frac{|h_{*}|}{|\phi_{l_{*}}|\sin(\pi/2 - h_{*})} + \frac{|\phi_{r_{*}}|}{\cos\theta_{c_{*}}} \Big) \\ &\quad \cdot \Big(|\nabla u|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{q})}^{2} + |\nabla u|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{q'})}^{2} + |\nabla u|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{q''})}^{2} \Big) \\ &\quad + 3R_{\max} \Big(\frac{|h_{*}||\phi_{r_{*}}|}{\sin(\pi/2 - h_{*})} + \frac{|\phi_{r_{*}}|\cos(\pi/2 - h_{*})}{\sin^{2}(\pi/2 - h_{*})} \Big) \\ &\quad \cdot \Big(|\partial_{\theta\phi}^{2}u|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{q})}^{2} + |\partial_{\theta\phi}^{2}u|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{q'})}^{2} + |\partial_{\theta\phi}^{2}u|_{L^{2}(\Omega_{q''})}^{2} \Big), \end{split}$$

where $R_{\max} := \max\{|R|, |R'|, |R''|\}$. The * subscript denotes the (same) choice of node such that the right hand side is maximal (i.e. $h_*, \phi_{l*}, \phi_{r*}$ and θ_{c*} individually may not necessarily be the largest of their corresponding parameters).

Now that we have bounds on u over Δ_* , we return to our triangulation of the sphere. We denote by Δ_i , $i \in \{1, \dots, N = N_n\}$, the triangles covering the sphere; they can be compared to Q_i in the periodic case. For fixed $\boldsymbol{x} \in S^2$, we choose our Δ_* to be the Δ_i containing \boldsymbol{x} . Then Ω_q is covered by the union of at most 6 other Δ_i , i.e. $\Omega_q \subseteq \bigcup_{i=1}^6 \Delta_i$ (via a possible relabelling of the indices). We "rotate" R twice (i.e. define R' and R'' as before) and take the sums of their corresponding forms of



Figure 6.4: Ω_q and its "rotations" $\Omega_{q'}$, $\Omega_{q''}$, which are defined via the choice of corner node.

(6.2.23) to cover Δ_i :

$$|u|_{L^{2}(\Delta_{i})}^{2} \leq 9R_{\max}\eta^{2}(u) + 6R_{\max}\left(\frac{|h_{i'}|}{|\phi_{li'}|\sin(\pi/2 - h_{i'})} + \frac{|\phi_{ri'}|}{\cos\theta_{ci'}}\right)|\nabla u|_{L^{2}(\bigcup_{k=1}^{18}\Delta_{b(k)})}^{2} + 3R_{\max}\left(\frac{|h_{i'}||\phi_{ri'}|}{\sin(\pi/2 - h_{i'})} + \frac{|\phi_{ri'}|\cos(\pi/2 - h_{i'})}{\sin^{2}(\pi/2 - h_{i'})}\right)|\partial_{\theta\phi}^{2}u|_{L^{2}(\bigcup_{k=1}^{18}\Delta_{b(k)})}^{2},$$

$$(6.2.24)$$

where the i' subscript denotes the choice of node of Δ_i to integrate from, such that the whole right hand side is maximal. We thus have a bound on u over each Δ_i . In the next section, we sum (6.2.24) over S^2 to obtain our desired bounds of (6.2.1) and (6.2.2).

6.2.3 Bounds over S^2

Now that we have a bound on u over each Δ_i , we take their sum to obtain a bound over S^2 . Summing (6.2.24) over i gives

$$\begin{split} |u|_{L^{2}(S^{2})}^{2} &= |u|_{L^{2}(\cup_{i=1}^{N}\Delta_{i})}^{2} \\ &\leq 9|S^{2}|\eta^{2}(u) + 6 \cdot 18 \max_{i} \Big\{ |\Delta_{i}| \Big(\frac{|h_{i'}|}{|\phi_{li'}|\sin(\pi/2 - h_{i'})} + \frac{|\phi_{ri'}|}{\cos\theta_{ci'}} \Big) \Big\} |\nabla u|_{L^{2}(S^{2})}^{2} \\ &+ 3 \cdot 18 \max_{i} \Big\{ |\Delta_{i}| \Big(\frac{|h_{i'}||\phi_{ri'}|}{\sin(\pi/2 - h_{i'})} + \frac{|\phi_{ri'}|\cos(\pi/2 - h_{i'})}{\sin^{2}(\pi/2 - h_{i'})} \Big) \Big\} |\partial_{\theta\phi}^{2} u|_{L^{2}(S^{2})}^{2} \\ &\leq 9|S^{2}|\eta^{2}(u) + 108|\Delta_{\max}| \Big(\frac{|h_{M}|}{|\phi_{lM}|\sin(\pi/2 - h_{M})} + \frac{|\phi_{rM}|}{\cos\theta_{cM}} \Big) |u|_{L^{2}(S^{2})} |\Delta u|_{L^{2}(S^{2})} \end{split}$$

$$+54|\Delta_{\max}|\left(\frac{|h_M||\phi_{rM}|}{\sin(\pi/2-h_M)} + \frac{|\phi_{rM}|\cos(\pi/2-h_M)}{\sin^2(\pi/2-h_M)}\right)|\partial^2_{\theta\phi}u|^2_{L^2(S^2)},\quad(6.2.25)$$

where $|\Delta_{\max}|$ is the area of the largest triangle, the M = M(n) subscript denotes the choice of both triangle and node such that the right hand side is maximal, and the second line follows from applying (4.1.1) to the second term on the right hand side. From here on, all norms are over the whole of S^2 . By applying (4.1.12) to the last term, (6.2.25) becomes

$$\begin{split} |u|^2 &\leq 9|S^2|\eta^2(u) + 108|\Delta_{\max}| \bigg(\frac{|h_M|}{|\phi_{lM}|\sin(\pi/2 - h_M)} + \frac{|\phi_{rM}|}{\cos\theta_{cM}}\bigg)|u||\Delta u| \\ &+ 54|\Delta_{\max}|\bigg(\frac{|h_M||\phi_{rM}|}{\sin(\pi/2 - h_M)} + \frac{|\phi_{rM}|\cos(\pi/2 - h_M)}{\sin^2(\pi/2 - h_M)}\bigg)|\Delta u|^2. \end{split}$$

Applying Young's inequality to the second term on the right hand side gives

$$\begin{split} |u|^2 &\leq 9|S^2|\eta^2(u) + \frac{1}{2}|u|^2 \\ &+ 1458|\Delta_{\max}|^2 \Big(\frac{|h_M|}{|\phi_{lM}|\sin(\pi/2 - h_M)} + \frac{|\phi_{rM}|}{\cos(\pi/2 - h_M)}\Big)^2 |\Delta u|^2 \\ &+ 54|\Delta_{\max}| \Big(\frac{|h_M||\phi_{rM}|}{\sin(\pi/2 - h_M)} + \frac{|\phi_{rM}|\cos(\pi/2 - h_M)}{\sin^2(\pi/2 - h_M)}\Big) |\Delta u|^2. \end{split}$$

Rearranging this, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} |u|^{2} &\leq 18|S^{2}|\eta^{2}(u) + \left[2916\left(\frac{|h_{M}|}{|\phi_{lM}|\sin(\pi/2 - h_{M})} + \frac{|\phi_{rM}|}{\cos\theta_{cM}}\right)^{2} + 108c'_{M}\right]|\Delta_{\max}|^{2}|\Delta u|^{2} \\ &\leq 18|S^{2}|\eta^{2}(u) + c_{M}^{2}\frac{|S^{2}|^{2}}{N^{2}}\left[2916\left(\frac{|h_{M}|}{|\phi_{lM}|\sin(\pi/2 - h_{M})} + \frac{|\phi_{rM}|}{\cos\theta_{cM}}\right)^{2} + 108c'_{M}\right]|\Delta u|^{2} \end{aligned}$$

$$(6.2.26)$$

which is (6.2.1), where

$$\begin{split} c'_M &:= \frac{|h_M| |\phi_{rM}|}{\sin(\pi/2 - h_M)} + \frac{|\phi_{rM}| \cos(\pi/2 - h_M)}{\sin^2(\pi/2 - h_M)} \qquad \text{ and } \\ c_M &:= |\Delta_{\max}| \, N/|S^2|, \end{split}$$

i.e. c_M is the ratio between the largest and average triangle areas. Clearly c'_M is decreasing in n, thus it is bounded by its value at n = 0. Using (6.4.25) and (6.4.26) below and explicitly computing all triangles of generations 0 to 4, we found that the worst value of $|h_M|/(|\phi_{lM}|\sin(\pi/2 - h_M))$ is in fact attained at generation 0, and that of $|\phi_{rM}|/\cos\theta_{cM}$ is approached in the limit of large generation.

Applying Young's inequality to (6.2.1) will give the first part of (6.2.2):

$$|\nabla u|_{L^2}^2 = -(u, \Delta u) \le |u\Delta u|_{L^1} \le |u|_{L^2} |\Delta u|_{L^2}$$
 by Hölder

$$\leq \frac{N}{2|S^2|}|u|^2 + \frac{|S^2|}{2N}|\Delta u|^2$$
 by Young

$$\leq c \frac{N}{2|S^2|} \left(|S^2| \eta^2(u) + \frac{|S^2|^2}{N^2} |\Delta u|^2 \right) + \frac{|S^2|}{2N} |\Delta u|^2 \qquad \text{by (6.2.1)}$$
$$= c \left(N \eta^2(u) + \frac{|S^2|}{N} |\Delta u|^2 \right).$$

Applying Agmon (2.2.6) and following essentially identical computations gives the second part of (6.2.2):

$$|u|_{\infty}^{2} \leq c |u|_{L^{2}} |\Delta u|_{L^{2}}$$
$$\leq \cdots \leq c \left(N \eta^{2}(u) + \frac{|S^{2}|}{N} |\Delta u|^{2} \right).$$

To finish the proof, we prove Lemma 21 in Section 6.4, which immediately implies that the right hand side of (6.2.26) can be bounded independently of the number of iterations n.

6.3 Bounds on the number of determining nodes

We now state and prove our main result. As with our proof on the modes, we consider different forms of the zonal forcing \bar{f} , as given in (4.3.1) to (4.3.3), and the consequences they have on the number of nodes.

Theorem 24 (Determining nodes on the sphere). Let $\delta \omega$ be the solution of (6.0.2) with $f \in H^2(S^2)$. Then there exists a set of determining nodes $\mathcal{E} = \{ \mathbf{x}^1, \cdots, \mathbf{x}^N \} \subset S^2$ when

(a) \bar{f} satisfies (4.3.1) and

$$N > c_{20}(\nu_0) \max\left\{\varepsilon^{1/2} M_0^{1/2}, (\kappa_f/\kappa_0)^{1/3} \mathcal{G}_0^{2/3}\right\}, or$$
(6.3.1)

(b) \overline{f} satisfies (4.3.2) and

$$N > c_{21}(\nu_0, s) \max\left\{\varepsilon^{1/2} M_0^{1/2}, \mathcal{G}_0^{(4s+5)/(6s+5)}\right\} or$$
(6.3.2)

(c) \bar{f} satisfies (4.3.3) and

$$N > c_{22}(\nu_0) \max\left\{\varepsilon^{1/2} M_0^{1/2}, F_{\gamma'}^*(\nu_0^{-1} \mathcal{G}_0^{2/3})^{1/3} \mathcal{G}_0^{2/3}\right\},$$
(6.3.3)

for constants c_{20} , c_{21} , c_{22} , $F^*_{\gamma'}$ defined as in (6.3.27) below and sufficiently small ε .

The above-mentioned smallness requirements on ε are given in (6.3.17), (6.3.23) and (6.3.28). We have chosen to state them later and separately from the statement of the theorem for clarity and simplicity; one could include them here in exchange for longer and more complicated bounds on N.

Proof. The proof is essentially identical to that of the planar case, but using the spherical estimates we have derived in place of their planar analogues. We begin by multiplying (6.0.2) by $\delta\omega$ in L^2 :

$$(\partial_t \delta\omega, \delta\omega) + (\partial(\psi^{\sharp}, \delta\omega), \delta\omega) + (\partial(\delta\psi, \omega), \delta\omega) + \frac{2}{\varepsilon}(\partial_{\phi}\delta\psi, \delta\omega) = \mu(\Delta\delta\omega, \delta\omega).$$
(6.3.4)

As in (4.4.5), the fourth term is 0 by the antisymmetric property of $\partial_{\phi} \Delta^{-1}$:

$$\frac{2}{\varepsilon}(\partial_{\phi}\delta\psi,\delta\omega) = \frac{2}{\varepsilon}(\partial_{\phi}\delta\psi,\Delta\delta\psi) = -\frac{2}{\varepsilon}\sum_{l=0}^{\infty}\sum_{m=-l}^{l}\operatorname{im} l(l+1)\,\delta\psi_{lm}\overline{\delta\psi_{lm}} = 0.$$

The second term of (6.3.4) is also 0, due to (4.1.4). Thus (6.3.4) becomes

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}|\delta\omega|^2 + (\partial(\delta\psi,\omega),\delta\omega) = \mu(\Delta\delta\omega,\delta\omega) = -\mu|\nabla\delta\omega|^2.$$
(6.3.5)

By splitting the vorticity into $\omega = \bar{\omega} + \tilde{\omega}$, we expand the second term of (6.3.5) as

$$(\partial(\delta\psi,\omega),\delta\omega) = (\partial(\delta\psi,\bar{\omega}),\delta\omega) + (\partial(\delta\psi,\tilde{\omega}),\delta\omega).$$
(6.3.6)

We further split the zonal vorticity $\bar{\omega}$ into $\bar{\omega} = \bar{\omega}^{< f} + \bar{\omega}^{> f}$, where we recall $\bar{\omega}^{< f} = \mathsf{P}_{\kappa_f} \bar{\omega}$ and $\bar{\omega}^{> f} = \bar{\omega} - \bar{\omega}^{< f}$, for some $\kappa_f \ge \kappa_0$ that we fix later. We thus rearrange (6.3.5):

$$\frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}|\delta\omega|^2 + \mu|\nabla\delta\omega|^2 = -(\partial(\delta\psi,\tilde{\omega}),\delta\omega) - (\partial(\delta\psi,\bar{\omega}^{< f}),\delta\omega) - (\partial(\delta\psi,\bar{\omega}^{> f}),\delta\omega).$$
(6.3.7)

As mentioned earlier, we choose \mathcal{E} to be the set of N vertices of the icosahedral triangulation of S^2 . We then apply (6.2.2) to bound the first term on the right hand side of (6.3.7):

$$|(\partial(\delta\psi,\tilde{\omega}),\delta\omega)| \le |\nabla\delta\psi|_{\infty} |\nabla\tilde{\omega}|_2 |\delta\omega|_2 \qquad \qquad \text{by H\"{o}lder}$$

$$\leq c \frac{\mu N}{|S^2|} |\nabla \delta \psi|_{\infty}^2 + c \frac{|S^2|}{\mu N} |\nabla \tilde{\omega}|^2 |\delta \omega|^2 \qquad \text{by Young}$$

$$\leq c \frac{\mu N}{|S^2|} \Big[N \eta^2 (\nabla \delta \psi) + \frac{|S^2|}{N} |\nabla \delta \omega|^2 \Big] + c \frac{|S^2|}{\mu N} |\nabla \tilde{\omega}|^2 |\delta \omega|^2 \quad \text{by (6.2.2)}.$$
(6.3.8)

Next, we apply (6.2.1) on the second term on the right hand side of (6.3.7):

$$\begin{split} |(\partial(\delta\psi,\bar{\omega}^{< f}),\delta\omega)| &\leq |\nabla\delta\psi|_2 |\nabla\bar{\omega}^{< f}|_{\infty} |\delta\omega|_2 \\ &\leq c \,\kappa_0^{1/2} |\nabla\delta\psi| |\nabla\bar{\omega}^{< f}|^{1/2} ||\Delta\bar{\omega}^{< f}|^{1/2} |\delta\omega| \qquad \qquad \text{by Agmon} \end{split}$$

$$\leq c \left(\kappa_0 \kappa_f\right)^{1/2} |\nabla \omega| |\nabla \delta \psi| |\delta \omega| \qquad \qquad \text{by } (4.2.14)$$

$$\leq c \frac{\mu N^2}{|S^2|^2} |\nabla \delta \psi|^2 + c \frac{|S^2|^2}{\mu N^2} \kappa_0 \kappa_f |\nabla \omega|^2 |\delta \omega|^2 \qquad \text{by Young}$$

$$\leq c \frac{\mu N^2}{|S^2|^2} \Big[|S^2| \eta^2 (\nabla \delta \psi) + \frac{|S^2|^2}{N^2} |\nabla \delta \omega|^2 \Big] + c \frac{|S^2|^2}{\mu N^2} \kappa_0 \kappa_f |\nabla \omega|^2 |\delta \omega|^2 \quad \text{by (6.2.1)}.$$

We bound the last term of (6.3.7) as

$$\begin{aligned} |(\partial(\delta\psi,\bar{\omega}^{>f}),\delta\omega)| &\leq |\nabla\delta\psi|_{\infty}|\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}|_{2}|\delta\omega|_{2} \\ &\leq c\frac{\mu N}{|S^{2}|}|\nabla\delta\psi|_{\infty}^{2} + c\frac{|S^{2}|}{\mu N}|\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^{2}|\delta\omega|^{2} \qquad \text{by Young} \\ &\leq c\frac{\mu N}{|S^{2}|}\Big[N\eta^{2}(\nabla\delta\psi) + \frac{|S^{2}|}{N}|\nabla\delta\omega|^{2}\Big] + c\frac{|S^{2}|}{\mu N}|\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^{2}|\delta\omega|^{2} \qquad \text{by (6.2.2).} \end{aligned}$$

$$(6.3.10)$$

Finally, we apply (6.2.2) to the second term on the left hand side of (6.3.7) and rearrange to obtain

$$|\delta\omega|^{2} \leq c \left(N\eta^{2}(\nabla\delta\psi) + \frac{|S^{2}|}{N} |\nabla\delta\omega|^{2} \right)$$

$$\iff c \frac{\mu N}{|S^{2}|} |\delta\omega|^{2} - c \frac{\mu N^{2}}{|S^{2}|} \eta^{2}(\nabla\delta\psi) \leq \mu |\nabla\delta\omega|^{2}.$$
(6.3.11)

Thus putting together (6.3.7) to (6.3.11) gives

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} |\delta\omega|^2 + |\delta\omega|^2 \left[c \, \frac{\mu N}{|S^2|} - c \, \frac{|S^2|}{\mu N} |\nabla\tilde{\omega}|^2 - c \, \frac{|S^2|^2}{\mu N^2} \, \kappa_0 \kappa_f |\nabla\omega|^2 - c \, \frac{|S^2|}{\mu N} |\nabla\bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \right] \\
\leq c \, \frac{\mu N^2}{|S^2|} \, \eta^2 (\nabla\delta\psi).$$
(6.3.12)

We seek to apply Lemma 8 to $\xi = |\delta\omega|^2$, ρ being the bracket on the left hand side and σ the right hand side of (6.3.12). The hypothesis of the lemma on $\sigma = (c\mu N^2/|S^2|) \eta^2(\nabla \delta \psi)$ is met because $\nabla \delta \psi(\boldsymbol{x}^i, t) \to 0$ as $t \to \infty$ for all *i* (by construction) and $|\nabla\omega|$ is bounded due to (4.4.20), while that on ξ follows from the regularity of the Navier–Stokes equations.

The hypothesis on ρ would follow immediately if

$$\limsup_{t \to \infty} \int_t^{t+1} \left(\frac{|S^2|}{\mu N} |\nabla \tilde{\omega}|^2 + \frac{|S^2|^2}{\mu N^2} \kappa_0 \kappa_f |\nabla \omega|^2 + \frac{|S^2|}{\mu N} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \right) \mathrm{d}\tau < c \frac{\mu N}{|S^2|},$$

which is equivalent to

$$\limsup_{t \to \infty} \int_{t}^{t+1} \left(\frac{1}{\nu_0 N} |\nabla \tilde{\omega}|^2 + \frac{1}{\nu_0 N} \frac{\kappa_f}{\kappa_0} |\nabla \omega|^2 + \frac{1}{\nu_0 N} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \right) d\tau < c \,\nu_0 N, \quad (6.3.13)$$

where we recall $\nu_0 = \mu \kappa_0^2$. In turn, this follows when each of the three terms on the left hand side satisfies the inequality independently.

For the first term, we recall (3.2.9), which implies that

$$\int_{t}^{t+1} |\nabla \tilde{\omega}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\tau \le \varepsilon M_0 / \nu_0,$$

so (6.3.13) for the $|\nabla \tilde{\omega}|^2$ term would be satisfied for

$$N^2 > c \,\varepsilon M_0 / \nu_0^3. \tag{6.3.14}$$

For the second term on the left hand side of (6.3.13), we recall that (4.4.20) implies

$$\int_t^{t+1} |\nabla \omega|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\tau \le c \,\nu_0 \,\mathcal{G}_0^2$$

so the $|\nabla \omega|$ part of (6.3.13) is implied by

$$N > \frac{c}{\nu_0^{1/3}} \left(\frac{\kappa_f}{\kappa_0}\right)^{1/3} \mathcal{G}_0^{2/3}.$$
 (6.3.15)

For the inequality involving the $|\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2$ term in (6.3.13), we need to handle the cases separately according to the different forms of \bar{f} .

First we consider when \bar{f} satisfies (4.3.1). By (4.3.5),

$$\int_t^{t+1} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \,\mathrm{d}\tau \le c \,\varepsilon^2 M_0^2 / \nu_0^3,$$

so the $|\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|$ part of (6.3.13) holds if

$$N > c \,\varepsilon M_0 / \nu_0^{5/2}.$$
 (6.3.16)

This bound is dominated by (6.3.14) when

$$\varepsilon M_0 \le c \,\nu_0^2. \tag{6.3.17}$$

Upon assuming this, (6.3.1) follows from (6.3.14) and (6.3.15).

For \bar{f} instead satisfying (4.3.2), we apply Lemma 9 to (3.3.5) to observe that

$$\int_{t}^{t+1} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\tau \le c \,\varepsilon^2 M_0^2 / \nu_0^3 + c \, c_{\zeta}(s) \,\nu_0 \,(\kappa_0 / \kappa_f)^{2s+1} \,\mathcal{G}_0^2 = I_1, \tag{6.3.18}$$

where $1/c_{\zeta}(s) = (2s+1)\zeta(2s+2)$. Thus the $|\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2$ part of (6.3.13) would be satisfied if $I_1 \leq c \nu_0^2 N^2$; analogously to what we did with (6.3.13), this in turn is implied by

$$N^2 > c \, (\varepsilon M_0)^2 / \nu_0^5, \tag{6.3.19}$$

$$N^{2} > \frac{c}{\nu_{0}} c_{\zeta}(s) (\kappa_{0}/\kappa_{f})^{2s+1} \mathcal{G}_{0}^{2}.$$
(6.3.20)

Since (6.3.15) and (6.3.20) must both hold, we equate these bounds to find the value of κ_f that minimises the bounds on N:

$$c \frac{c_{\zeta}(s)}{\nu_0} \left(\frac{\kappa_0}{\kappa_f}\right)^{2s+1} \mathcal{G}_0^2 = \frac{c}{\nu_0^{2/3}} \left(\frac{\kappa_f}{\kappa_0}\right)^{2/3} \mathcal{G}_0^{4/3}$$
$$\iff (\kappa_f/\kappa_0)^{2s+5/3} = c c_{\zeta}(s) \nu_0^{-1} \mathcal{G}_0^{2/3}.$$
(6.3.21)

Thus fixing κ_f , both (6.3.15) and (6.3.20) now become

$$N > c \left(c_{\zeta}(s) \nu_0^{-1} \mathcal{G}_0^{4s+5} \right)^{1/(6s+5)}.$$
(6.3.22)

As before, we compare (6.3.14) and (6.3.22) to observe that the bound given in (6.3.14) dominates for

$$\varepsilon M_0 \le c \,\nu_0^{3-2/(6s+5)} (c_{\zeta}(s) \,\mathcal{G}_0^{4s+5})^{2/(6s+5)},$$
(6.3.23)

which we assume, giving (6.3.2).

Finally, we consider \bar{f} satisfying (4.3.3). By applying Lemma 9 to (4.3.7), we note that

$$\int_{t}^{t+1} |\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2 \, \mathrm{d}\tau \le c \, (\varepsilon M_0)^2 / \nu_0^3 + c \, \nu_0 \, \mathrm{e}^{2\gamma(1-\kappa_f/\kappa_0)} \, \mathcal{G}_0^2.$$

The $|\nabla \bar{\omega}^{>f}|^2$ part of (6.3.13) is satisfied when both of the following are satisfied:

$$N^2 > c \, (\varepsilon M_0)^2 / \nu_0^5,$$
 (6.3.24)

$$N^{2} > \frac{c}{\nu_{0}} e^{2\gamma(1-\kappa_{f}/\kappa_{0})} \mathcal{G}_{0}^{2}.$$
 (6.3.25)

In order to obtain the optimal κ_f that minimises our bound on N, we equate the right hand side of (6.3.15) and (6.3.25), which leads to

$$\frac{c}{\nu_0} e^{2\gamma(1-\kappa_f/\kappa_0)} \mathcal{G}_0^2 = \frac{c}{\nu_0^{2/3}} \left(\frac{\kappa_f}{\kappa_0}\right)^{2/3} \mathcal{G}_0^{4/3}$$
$$\iff (\kappa_f/\kappa_0)^{2/3} e^{2\gamma(\kappa_f/\kappa_0-1)} = c_{\gamma'}^* \nu_0^{-1} \mathcal{G}_0^{2/3}.$$
(6.3.26)

We invert this, which gives

$$\kappa_f / \kappa_0 = F_{\gamma'}^* (\nu_0^{-1} \mathcal{G}_0^{2/3}),$$
 (6.3.27)

where $(F_{\gamma'}^*)^{-1}(y) := y^{2/3} e^{2\gamma(y-1)} / c_{\gamma'}^*$.

We compare (6.3.14) and (6.3.15) to conclude that the bound given by (6.3.14) dominates when we assume

$$\varepsilon M_0 \le c \left(\frac{\kappa_f}{\kappa_0}\right)^{1/3} \nu_0^{8/3} \mathcal{G}_0^{2/3}. \tag{6.3.28}$$

This gives (6.3.3).

6.4 Proof of Lemma 21

Proof of Lemma 21: Our methodology is as follows. We begin with the n = 5 triangulation and fix one arbitrary "ancestor" triangle $\Delta := \Delta^{(5)}$, and consider all its "descendants". To reduce clutter, we denote the sides of Δ by a, b and c (the latter does not denote a generic constant, for this proof only), with corresponding angles α, β and γ . Direct numerical computation shows that

$$0.928 \cdots \frac{|\Delta^{(0)}|}{4^5} < |\Delta^{(5)}| < 1.206 \cdots \frac{|\Delta^{(0)}|}{4^5}$$
 and (6.4.1)

$$1.000 \cdots \frac{a^{(0)}}{2^5} < a, b, c < 1.195 \cdots \frac{a^{(0)}}{2^5}, \tag{6.4.2}$$

where $\Delta^{(0)}$ denotes the original n = 0 triangle with sides $a^{(0)}$. Since $|\Delta| < 10^{-3}$ is already very small, we will prove that any level n descendant $\Delta^{(n)}$ with sides $a_{(j)}^{(n)}$ satisfies

$$|\Delta^{(n)}| \simeq 4^{5-n} |\Delta|,$$
 (6.4.3)

$$a_{(j)}^{(n)} \simeq 2^{5-n} a_{(j)},$$
 (6.4.4)

to a very good approximation, to be made precise below.

We consider a level 6 descendant of Δ with corner angle γ and adjacent sides a/2and b/2. We denote the inner side by c_{\dagger} .



Figure 6.5: Illustration to show relationship between Δ and $\Delta^{(6)}$.

We start by considering the areas of Δ and $\Delta^{(6)}$, which are given by

$$\tan(|\Delta|/2) = \frac{\tan(a/2)\tan(b/2)\sin\gamma}{1 + \tan(a/2)\tan(b/2)\cos\gamma},$$
(6.4.5)

$$\tan(|\Delta^{(6)}|/2) = \frac{\tan(a/4)\tan(b/4)\sin\gamma}{1+\tan(a/4)\tan(b/4)\cos\gamma},$$
(6.4.6)

and seek to prove that $|\Delta^{(6)}| \simeq |\Delta|/4$.

We note that, for n = 5,

 $a > b/2, \quad b > a/2, \quad \text{and}$ (6.4.7)

$$\sin\gamma > 2/3. \tag{6.4.8}$$

It is readily apparent below that these hold for all subsequent iterations.

Using Taylor's theorem for \tan , \tan^{-1} and \sin , we write (6.4.5) and (6.4.6) as

$$|\Delta| = \frac{ab}{2}\sin\gamma + \frac{3}{5}(ab\sin\gamma)^2\varphi(\varrho), \qquad (6.4.9)$$

$$|\Delta^{(6)}| = \frac{ab}{8}\sin\gamma + \frac{1}{30} (ab\sin\gamma)^2 \varphi(\varrho), \qquad (6.4.10)$$

where the sides a, b and c satisfy (6.4.7) and (6.4.8) and φ denotes an arbitrary function, which may change from one use to the next, such that $|\varphi(\varrho)| \leq 1$. Since $|\Delta^{(6)}|$ is very closely approximated by $|\Delta|/4$, we compare these to obtain

$$\begin{aligned} |\Delta^{(6)}| &= \frac{|\Delta|}{4} + \frac{3}{20} \left(ab\sin\gamma\right)^2 \varphi(\varrho) = \frac{|\Delta|}{4} + \frac{3}{5} |\Delta|^2 \varphi(\varrho) \\ &= \frac{|\Delta|}{4} \left(1 + 2.4 \left|\Delta\right| \varphi(\varrho)\right). \end{aligned}$$
(6.4.11)

Now we consider the inner side c_{\dagger} of $\Delta^{(6)}$. We recall the cosine rule:

$$\cos c = \cos a \cos b + \sin a \sin b \cos \gamma. \tag{6.4.12}$$

Similarly to our approach on the estimates of the areas, we use Taylor's theorem on cos to approximate c_{\dagger} by c/2. Applying (6.4.12) to $\Delta^{(6)}$ gives

$$\begin{aligned} \cos c_{\dagger} &= \cos(a/2)\cos(b/2) + \sin(a/2)\sin(b/2)\cos\gamma \\ &= \left(1 - \frac{1}{2}(a/2)^2 + \frac{1}{4!}(a/2)^4\varphi(\varrho)\right) \left(1 - \frac{1}{2}(b/2)^2 + \frac{1}{4!}(b/2)^4\varphi(\varrho)\right) \end{aligned}$$

$$+ \left(a/2 + \frac{1}{6} (a/2)^3 \varphi(\varrho) \right) \left(b/2 + \frac{1}{6} (b/2)^3 \varphi(\varrho) \right) \cos \gamma$$

= $1 - \frac{1}{2} \left((a/2)^2 + (b/2)^2 - \frac{1}{2} ab \cos \gamma \right) + 12 \left(\frac{1}{8} ab \sin \gamma \right)^2 \varphi(\varrho), \qquad (6.4.13)$

where we have used the assumptions of (6.4.7) and (6.4.8) to simplify the expression. We expand the left hand side of (6.4.13) as

$$\cos c_{\dagger} = 1 - \frac{1}{2} c_{\dagger}^2 + \frac{1}{4!} c_{\dagger}^4 \varphi(\varrho).$$
 (6.4.14)

Equating (6.4.13) and (6.4.14) thus gives

$$c_{\dagger}^{2} + \frac{1}{12} c_{\dagger}^{4} \varphi(\varrho) = (a/2)^{2} + (b/2)^{2} - \frac{ab}{2} \cos \gamma + 24 \left(\frac{1}{8} ab \sin \gamma\right)^{2} \varphi(\varrho)$$
$$= (c/2)^{2} + 24 |\Delta^{(6)}|^{2} \varphi(\varrho), \qquad (6.4.15)$$

where we have used the planar cosine rule and the fact that $|\Delta^{(6)}| \ge (ab \sin \gamma)/8$ (being the area of the planar triangle with the same a, b and γ) for the second line. This expression clearly has 4 real roots in c_{\dagger} ; discarding the 2 negative roots, we consider the remaining 2 possible solutions. Denoting by g the right hand side of (6.4.15), the roots of (6.4.15) are approximately at

$$c_{\dagger}^2 \approx g \text{ or } \frac{-1 + \sqrt{1 - (g/3)\varphi(\varrho)}}{\varphi(\varrho)/6},$$
(6.4.16)

since $c_{\dagger} \ll 1$. The second possible solution of c_{\dagger}^2 is, however, incompatible with $c_{\dagger} > 0$, so the only feasible solution is that $c_{\dagger} \approx \sqrt{g}$.

Returning to (6.4.15), rearranging the expression gives

$$c_{\dagger}^{2} \left(1 + \frac{12}{5} |\Delta^{(6)}|^{2} \varphi(\varrho) \right) = (c/2)^{2} \left(1 + \frac{1}{10} c_{\dagger}^{2} \varphi(\varrho) \right) + 24 |\Delta^{(6)}|^{2} \varphi(\varrho)$$

$$= (c/2)^{2} \left(1 + \frac{3}{10} |\Delta| \varphi(\varrho) \right) + 24 \cdot 2 |\Delta^{(6)}| (c/2)^{2} \varphi(\varrho)$$

$$= (c/2)^{2} \left(1 + \frac{6}{5} |\Delta^{(6)}| \varphi(\varrho) \right) + 48 |\Delta^{(6)}| (c/2)^{2} \varphi(\varrho)$$

(6.4.17)

by assuming $c_{\dagger} > a/4, b/4$ and $a, b > c_{\dagger}$. Rearranging this further results in

$$c_{\dagger} = \frac{c}{2} \left(1 + 50 |\Delta^{(6)}| \varphi(\varrho) \right)^{1/2}.$$
 (6.4.18)

Thus c_{\dagger} is well approximated by c/2.

Obviously, analogous expressions to (6.4.11) and (6.4.18) apply to the two other corner descendants. Temporarily denoting the corner descendants by $\Delta_{\alpha}^{(6)}$, $\Delta_{\beta}^{(6)}$, $\Delta_{\gamma}^{(6)}$ and the central descendant by $\Delta_{\zeta}^{(6)}$, we have

$$|\Delta_{\zeta}^{(6)}| = |\Delta| - |\Delta_{\alpha}^{(6)}| - |\Delta_{\beta}^{(6)}| - |\Delta_{\gamma}^{(6)}|.$$
(6.4.19)

Thus we have also

$$|\Delta_{\zeta}^{(6)}| = \frac{|\Delta|}{4} \left(1 + 2.4|\Delta|\varphi(\varrho)\right), \tag{6.4.20}$$

and bounds analogous to (6.4.18) also hold for the sides of $\Delta_{\zeta}^{(6)}$. Thus (6.4.11) and (6.4.18) hold for all four descendants of Δ . We also note that

$$1 + 2.4|\Delta|\varphi(\varrho) < \frac{4}{3}.$$
(6.4.21)

By induction, we have

$$\begin{aligned} |\Delta^{(n)}| &= \frac{|\Delta^{(n-1)}|}{4} \Big(1 + 2.4 |\Delta^{(n-1)}| \varphi(\varrho) \Big) \\ &= \frac{|\Delta|}{4^{n-5}} \Big(1 + 2.4 |\Delta^{(n-1)}| \varphi(\varrho) \Big) \cdots \Big(1 + 2.4 |\Delta| \varphi(\varrho) \Big) \\ &\leq \frac{|\Delta|}{3^{n-5}}. \end{aligned}$$
(6.4.23)

We shall make use of both these bounds below. Similarly, the sides of $\Delta^{(n)}$ satisfy, with the obvious notation,

$$a^{(n)} = \frac{a}{2^{n-5}} \left(1 + 50 |\Delta^{(n)}| \varphi(\varrho) \right)^{1/2} \cdots \left(1 + 50 |\Delta^{(6)}| \varphi(\varrho) \right)^{1/2},$$

$$b^{(n)} = \frac{b}{2^{n-5}} \left(1 + 50 |\Delta^{(n)}| \varphi(\varrho) \right)^{1/2} \cdots \left(1 + 50 |\Delta^{(6)}| \varphi(\varrho) \right)^{1/2},$$

$$c^{(n)} = \frac{c}{2^{n-5}} \left(1 + 50 |\Delta^{(n)}| \varphi(\varrho) \right)^{1/2} \cdots \left(1 + 50 |\Delta^{(6)}| \varphi(\varrho) \right)^{1/2}.$$
(6.4.24)

As for the products on the right hand side, we have the upper bound

$$\left(1+50|\Delta^{(n)}|\varphi(\varrho)\right)^{1/2}\cdots\left(1+50|\Delta^{(6)}|\varphi(\varrho)\right)^{1/2} \leq \exp\left(25\sum_{j=6}^{n}|\Delta^{(j)}|\right) \leq \exp\left(12.5|\Delta|\right),$$
(6.4.25)
where for the last step we have used (6.4.23). Using the fact that $e^{-2x} < 1 - x$ for |x| < 0.5, we find the lower bound

$$\left(1+50|\Delta^{(n)}|\varphi(\varrho)\right)^{1/2}\cdots\left(1+50|\Delta^{(6)}|\varphi(\varrho)\right)^{1/2} \\ \ge \exp\left(-50\sum_{j=6}^{n}|\Delta^{(j)}|\right) \ge \exp\left(-25|\Delta|\right).$$
 (6.4.26)

We recall that $|\Delta| \leq 10^{-3}$. This concludes the proof of Lemma 21.

Bibliography

- [1] N. Miyajima and D. Wirosoetisno, 'Navier-stokes equations on the β-plane: Determining modes and nodes', *Physica D*, in press, doi:10.1016/j.physd.2018.08.005.
- [2] J. C. Robinson, Infinite-dimensional dynamical systems, ser. Cambridge Texts in Applied Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2001, pp. xviii+461, An introduction to dissipative parabolic PDEs and the theory of global attractors.
- [3] C. L. Fefferman, 'Existence and smoothness of the Navier-Stokes equation', in *The millennium prize problems*, Clay Mathematics Institute, Cambridge, MA, 2006, pp. 57–67.
- [4] O. A. Ladyzhenskaya, The mathematical theory of viscous incompressible flow, ser. Second English edition, revised and enlarged. Translated from the Russian by Richard A. Silverman and John Chu. Mathematics and its Applications, Vol. 2. Gordon and Breach, Science Publishers, New York-London-Paris, 1969, pp. xviii+224.
- [5] G. K. Vallis, Atmospheric and oceanic fluid dynamics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2006.
- [6] M. E. Maltrud and G. K. Vallis, 'Energy spectra and coherent structures in forced two-dimensional and beta-plane turbulence', *Journal of Fluid Mechanics*, vol. 228, pp. 321–342, 1991.

- [7] M. A. H. Al-Jaboori and D. Wirosoetisno, 'Navier-Stokes equations on the β-plane', Discrete and Continuous Dynamical Systems Series B, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 687–701, 2011.
- [8] D. Wirosoetisno, 'Navier-Stokes equations on a rapidly rotating sphere', Discrete and Continuous Dynamical Systems. Series B. A Journal Bridging Mathematics and Sciences, vol. 20, no. 4, pp. 1251–1259, 2015.
- [9] C. Foiaş and G. Prodi, 'Sur le comportement global des solutions non-stationnaires des équations de Navier-Stokes en dimension 2', *Rendiconti* del Seminario Matematico della Università di Padova, vol. 39, pp. 1–34, 1967.
- [10] P. Constantin, C. Foiaş and R. Temam, 'On the dimension of the attractors in two-dimensional turbulence', *Physica D*, vol. 30, no. 3, pp. 284–296, 1988.
- [11] V. X. Liu, 'A sharp lower bound for the Hausdorff dimension of the global attractors of the 2D Navier-Stokes equations', *Communications in Mathematical Physics*, vol. 158, no. 2, pp. 327–339, 1993.
- [12] D. A. Jones and E. S. Titi, 'Upper bounds on the number of determining modes, nodes, and volume elements for the Navier-Stokes equations', *Indiana* University Mathematics Journal, vol. 42, no. 3, pp. 875–887, 1993.
- [13] C. Foiaş, O. P. Manley, R. Temam and Y. M. Trève, 'Asymptotic analysis of the Navier-Stokes equations', *Physica D*, vol. 9, no. 1-2, pp. 157–188, 1983.
- Y. M. Trève and O. P. Manley, 'Energy conserving Galerkin approximations for 2-D hydrodynamic and MHD Bénard convection', *Physica D*, vol. 4, no. 3, pp. 319–342, 1981/82.
- [15] C. Foiaş and R. Temam, 'Determination of the solutions of the Navier-Stokes equations by a set of nodal values', *Mathematics of Computation*, vol. 43, no. 167, pp. 117–133, 1984.
- [16] P. K. Friz and J. C. Robinson, 'Parametrising the attractor of the two-dimensional Navier-Stokes equations with a finite number of nodal values', *Physica D*, vol. 148, no. 3-4, pp. 201–220, 2001.

- [17] L. E. Payne and H. F. Weinberger, 'An optimal Poincaré inequality for convex domains', Archive for Rational Mechanics and Analysis, vol. 5, pp. 286–292, 1960.
- [18] D. A. Jones and E. S. Titi, 'Determining finite volume elements for the 2D Navier-Stokes equations', *Phys. D*, vol. 60, no. 1-4, pp. 165–174, 1992, Experimental mathematics: computational issues in nonlinear science (Los Alamos, NM, 1991).
- [19] T. Frankel, *The geometry of physics*, Second. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2004, pp. xxvi+694, An introduction.
- [20] R. Temam, Navier-Stokes equations and nonlinear functional analysis, ser. CBMS-NSF Regional Conference Series in Applied Mathematics. Society for Industrial and Applied Mathematics (SIAM), Philadelphia, 1983, vol. 41.
- [21] NIST DIGITAL LIBRARY OF MATHEMATICAL FUNCTIONS, http://dlmf.nist.gov/, Release 1.0.18 of 2018-03-27, F. W. J. Olver, A. B.
 Olde Daalhuis, D. W. Lozier, B. I. Schneider, R. F. Boisvert, C. W. Clark, B. R. Miller and B. V. Saunders, eds., http://dlmf.nist.gov/.
- [22] L. C. Evans, Partial differential equations, ser. Graduate Studies in Mathematics. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1998, vol. 19, pp. xviii+662.
- [23] J. E. Pasciak, 'Spectral and pseudospectral methods for advection equations', Mathematics of Computation, vol. 35, no. 152, pp. 1081–1092, 1980.
- [24] C. Canuto, M. Y. Hussaini, A. Quarteroni and T. A. Zang, Spectral methods, ser. Scientific Computation. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2006, pp. xxii+563, Fundamentals in single domains.
- [25] M. Lesieur, Turbulence in fluids, 4th ed., ser. Fluid Mechanics and its Applications. Springer Netherlands, 2008, vol. 84.

- [26] C. R. Doering and J. D. Gibbon, Applied analysis of the Navier-Stokes equations, ser. Cambridge Texts in Applied Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1995, pp. xiv+217.
- [27] L. A. Masaltsev, 'Incidence theorems in spaces of constant curvature', Ukrain. Geom. Sb., no. 35, pp. 67–74, 163, 1992.
- [28] R. A. Adams, Sobolev spaces. Academic Press [A subsidiary of Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, Publishers], New York-London, 1975, Pure and Applied Mathematics, Vol. 65.
- [29] C. Canuto and A. Quarteroni, 'Approximation results for orthogonal polynomials in Sobolev spaces', *Mathematics of Computation*, vol. 38, no. 157, pp. 67–86, 1982.
- [30] M. Marion and R. Temam, 'Navier-Stokes equations: Theory and approximation', in, ser. Handbook of Numerical Analysis Vol VI, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1998, pp. 503–688.
- [31] A. A. Ilyin and E. S. Titi, 'Sharp estimates for the number of degrees of freedom for the damped-driven 2-D Navier-Stokes equations', *Journal of Nonlinear Science*, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 233–253, 2006.
- [32] D. A. Jones and E. S. Titi, 'On the number of determining nodes for the 2D Navier-Stokes equations', *Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications*, vol. 168, no. 1, pp. 72–88, 1992.
- [33] V. X. Liu, 'Instability for the Navier-Stokes equations on the 2-dimensional torus and a lower bound for the Hausdorff dimension of their global attractors', *Communications in Mathematical Physics*, vol. 147, no. 2, pp. 217–230, 1992.
- [34] G. K. Batchelor, An introduction to fluid dynamics, ser. Cambridge Mathematical Library. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1999.

- [35] G. K. Vallis and M. E. Maltrud, 'Generation of mean flows and jets on a beta plane and over topography', *Journal of Physical Oceanography*, vol. 23, no. 7, pp. 1346–1362, 1993.
- [36] A. Shnirelman, 'On the nonuniqueness of weak solution of the Euler equation', *Communications on Pure and Applied Mathematics*, vol. 50, no. 12, pp. 1261–1286, 1997.
- [37] M. Y. Hussaini, D. A. Kopriva and A. T. Patera, 'Spectral collocation methods', Applied Numerical Mathematics. An IMACS Journal, vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 177–208, 1989.
- C. Canuto, M. Y. Hussaini, A. Quarteroni and T. A. Zang, Spectral methods in fluid dynamics, ser. Springer Series in Computational Physics.
 Springer-Verlag, New York, 1988, pp. xiv+557.
- [39] P. K. Newton, The N-vortex problem, ser. Applied Mathematical Sciences. Springer-Verlag, New York, 2001, vol. 145, pp. xviii+415, Analytical techniques.
- [40] D. R. Durran, Numerical methods for fluid dynamics, Second, ser. Texts in Applied Mathematics. Springer, New York, 2010, vol. 32, pp. xvi+516.
- [41] E. M. Stein and R. Shakarchi, *Functional analysis*, ser. Princeton Lectures in Analysis. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 2011, vol. 4, pp. xviii+423, Introduction to further topics in analysis.
- [42] M. P. do Carmo, Differential geometry of curves and surfaces. Prentice-Hall, Inc., Englewood Cliffs, N.J., 1976, pp. viii+503, Translated from the Portuguese.
- [43] M. W. Hirsch, S. Smale and R. L. Devaney, Differential equations, dynamical systems, and an introduction to chaos, Second, ser. Pure and Applied Mathematics (Amsterdam). Elsevier/Academic Press, Amsterdam, 2004, vol. 60, pp. xiv+417.

- [44] A. N. Carvalho, J. A. Langa and J. C. Robinson, Attractors for infinite-dimensional non-autonomous dynamical systems, ser. Applied Mathematical Sciences. Springer, New York, 2013, vol. 182, pp. xxxvi+409.
- [45] C. Foiaş, O. Manley, R. Rosa and R. Temam, Navier-Stokes equations and turbulence, ser. Encyclopedia of Mathematics and its Applications. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2001, vol. 83, pp. xiv+347.
- [46] R. Temam, Navier-Stokes equations, Third, ser. Studies in Mathematics and its Applications. North-Holland Publishing Co., Amsterdam, 1984, vol. 2, pp. xii+526, Theory and numerical analysis, With an appendix by F. Thomasset.
- [47] J. C. Robinson, Dimensions, embeddings, and attractors, ser. Cambridge Tracts in Mathematics. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2011, vol. 186, pp. xii+205.
- [48] I. Todhunter, Spherical trigonometry. Cornell University Library, 1886, pp. x+158.
- [49] P. Osborne, *The mercator projections*. Zenodo, 2013.